# Corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor 1 in the prefrontal cortex conveys acute stress-induced executive dysfunction

Dissertation der Fakultät für Biologie der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München





vorgelegt von Andrés Uribe Mariño

01.07.2015

- 1. Gutachter: PD Dr. Mathias V. Schmidt
- 2. Gutachter: Prof. Dr. Hans Straka

Oral dissertation performed on the 09.12.2015

Science has gone a long way toward helping man to free himself from the burden of hard labor; yet, science itself is not a liberator. It creates means, not goals. It is up to men to utilize those means to achieve reasonable goals.

Albert Einstein, 1940

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	ABSTRACT	1
II.	INTRODUCTION	2
II.1.	Challenges in Modern Society	2
II.2.	The Prefrontal Cortex	4
II.3.	The prefrontal cortex under stress	14
II.4.	The stress response and the Hypothalamus Pituitary Adrenal Axis	19
II.5.	The corticotropin-release hormone system	23
II.6.	CRHR1-mediated signaling pathways	28
II.7.	Aim	31
III.	MATERIALS AND METHODS	32
III.1.	Animals	32
III.2.	Experimental Design	32
III.3.	Acute Social Defeat Stress Paradigm	38
III.4.	Behavioral tests	39
III.5.	Intra-PFC microinjections	42
III.6.	Analytics	44
III.7.	Clarity	46
III.8.	Antibodies	46
III.9.	Statistics	47
IV.	RESULTS	48
IV.1.	Experiment 1: Effects of acute stress in PFC-mediated cognition	48
IV.2.	Experiment 2: Visualization of the CRH- and CRHR1-containing neural circuits withit the PFC networks	n 50
IV.3.	Experiment 3: Effects of acute stress on CRHR1 mRNA expression in the PFC	51
IV.4.	Experiment 4: Effects of intra-PFC CRHR1 deletion on the acute stress-induced executive dysfunction	53
IV.5.	Experiment 5: Effects of intra-PFC CRH microinjections in PFC-mediated cognition	56
IV.6.	Experiment 6: Effects of CRHR1 blockade on the intra-PFC CRH-induced executive dysfunction	59
IV.7.	Experiment 7: Effects of acute stress in the activity of protein kinase A	62
IV.8.	Experiment 8: Effects of intra-PFC CRH microinjections in the activity of protein kinase A	63

IV.9.	Experiment 9: Effects of PKA blockade on the intra-PFC CRH-induced executive dysfunction.	66
V.	DISCUSSION	69
V.1.	Acute stress disrupts PFC-mediated cognition	69
V.2.	Acute stress-induced PFC dysfunction is mediated by the CRHR1	73
V.3.	Intra-PFC CRH administration mimics acute stress-induced PFC dysfunction	78
V.4.	Acute stress and CRH activate protein kinase A signaling in the PFC	82
V.5.	CRH-induced PFC dysfunction is mediated by PKA	86
VI.	SUMMARY	91
VII.	REFERENCES	93
VIII.	ABBREVIATIONS	117
IX.	TABLE OF FIGURES	119
X.	ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	121
XI.	CURRICULUM VITAE	124

# I. ABSTRACT

The prefrontal cortex (PFC) constitutes a brain region essential for the appropriate functioning of high order cognitive processes, also known as executive functions, which are required for the successful performance of our everyday activities and our adaption to dynamic environments. Furthermore, stress has been shown to affect the function and structure of the PFC. Among numerous candidates corticotropin releasing hormone (CRH), through the activation of CRH receptor 1 (CRHR1), is one of the main effector systems by which stress unchains deleterious effects upon different brain regions. However, the contributions of this system to the effects of stress in the PFC are still unclear. In the present thesis, I was able to establish the effects of acute stress in two PFCmediated functions: Temporal order memory and reversal learning. Also, I determined the spatial distribution and differential expression of CRH- and CRHR1-containing neurons along the PFC. Additionally, I showed that acute stress induces increases in CRHR1 mRNA in the PFC, and that intra-PFC CRHR1 deletion abolishes the acute stress-induced executive dysfunction. Moreover, intra-PFC CRH microinjections mimic the effects of acute stress in temporal order memory and reversal learning in a CRHR1-dependent manner. In addition both, acute stress and intra-PFC CRH microinjections, activate the protein kinase A (PKA) signaling pathway leading to the phosphorylation of the transcription factor CREB. Finally, PKA blockade reverses the intra-PFC CRH-induced executive dysfunction. Taken together, these results suggest a molecular mechanism that links acute stress to executive dysfunction via CRHR1 activation. Thus, such findings open new intervention strategies for the development of novel therapeutic targets, which could prevent the deleterious effects of stress upon the execution of complex cognitive functions.

# II. INTRODUCTION

#### **II.1.** Challenges in Modern Society

Throughout evolution, constant changes in environmental conditions triggered a set of adaptive processes which favored the development of different systems, eventually leading to increases in the complexity of already existing structures. In this context, the emergence of the central nervous system allowed organisms to execute complex reaction patterns in response to different sets of stimuli (Harris and Zahavi, 2013; Mashour and Alkire, 2013). As a result, interactions between individuals and their surrounding environment also became more intricate, placing a new set of demands that further guided biological fitness. Thus, the implementation of diverse strategies to permit individuals a successful adaptation to specific situations became a necessity (Albantakis et al., 2014).

Along this line, several physiological and structural modifications within the central nervous system improved behavioral adaptation through increases in cognitive performance. Thus, such conditions gave rise to a diverse set of skills and functions that significantly increased the behavioral repertoire and facilitated challenge coping. Consequently, animals gained the capacity to quickly process higher amounts of information in a complex fashion to accurately deliver specific responses in a context-dependent manner (Mattei, 2014; Whishaw and Karl, 2014). Among this wide cluster of abilities, many cognitive processes have been highlighted as key elements mediating behavioral efficiency. On one hand, the dynamic scenarios faced by different organisms soon placed a great demand on the faculty to change behavior according to previous experience (Jablonka et al., 2012). Such type of behavioral plasticity could only be possible by the nervous system's capacity to be modified by experience, a capacity based on the competency to encode, store and retrieve relevant information. In other words, memory processes proved to be very useful tools to accurately deal with environmental contingencies essential for survival (Van et al., 2013).

Naturally, to successfully create reliable representations of past events within the central nervous system, it is first necessary to possess a strong ability to focus and select salient stimuli. As a matter of fact, attentional processes constitute the basis upon which memory takes place. Without a solid capacity to properly select, focus and direct attention towards biologically significant information, no memory trace can be formed (Smith et al., 2014).

Hence, the appropriate management of attentional resources by the central nervous system played also a key role in behavioral adaptation (Traub and Elepfandt, 1990).

Certainly, in order for such cognitive functions to be executed properly, an adequate structural and physiological substrate should be present. In fact, different brain regions have been shown to be responsible for such processes. Several lines of evidence have already demonstrated the essential role played by the hippocampal formation and its projections in diverse memory processes, ranging from encoding of information to its storage and retrieval (Deadwyler et al., 2014; Stollery and Christian, 2014). In addition, other reports in the literature have established the involvement of thalamic networks, brainstem monoaminergic nuclei and prosencephalic areas in the accurate allocation, distribution and execution of attentional resources (Deadwyler et al., 2014; Mohanty et al., 2008; Tsanov and OMara, 2014). Thus, intricate interactions between environmental factors, neurophysiology and neuroanatomy give rise to a diverse spectrum of functions that effectively determine adaptive processes in dynamic scenarios.

As cognitive performance improved and the brain's structure allowed for such complex processes to take place, organisms significantly modified their interaction patterns and added further layers of complexity to our already demanding environment. As a result, cultural evolution surpassed biological evolution and a new set of problems and needs aroused, placing additional pressures upon our biological systems. In fact, modern society constitutes a highly dynamic and challenging context, characterized by the increasing application of sophisticated technologies that place a great and growing demand on the rapid and accurate processing of multimodal sensory information. Such information streams clearly exceed the brain's performance capabilities and represent a major challenge for successful adaptation (Adey, 1997). Naturally, failure to respond properly can have relevant consequences. Basically, in order to effectively cope, one must be able to efficiently attend several stimuli simultaneously, while performing diverse tasks that also depend on the accurate anticipation of future consequences and events. As a result, an information overload takes place with a subsequent decrease in cognitive performance that eventually affects our routine activities in everyday life (Tanaka et al., 2012).

Society is by definition social, and thus social interactions constitute a key element that determines effective adaptation. However, the social relations that currently pervade our civilization are far from simple. In fact, in order to succeed and eventually achieve integration into society, optimal discrimination and anticipation of the hierarchies dominating each social context are essential (Gibson et al., 2014). Additionally, the upcoming socioeconomic changes in living conditions, working hours and shift working have led to a series of relevant consequences including emotional dysregulation, instability, anxiety and confusion. Moreover, such conditions increase vulnerability to mood and anxiety disorders (Motomura and Mishima, 2014). In other words, modern society is characterized by a rapid pace of life, high demands, increased efficiency and competitiveness in a global economy. Together, such constrains induce a significant lack of rest, recovery and restitution which represent major risks for both mental and physical health (Lundberg, 2005). Furthermore, several alterations in socioeconomic standards have also led to relevant alterations in working conditions that strongly impact health. Thus, high quantitative job demands combined with low social support, decreased job control, low job satisfaction and increases in job strain, resulting in a lack of balance between job demands and job control eventually induce deleterious effects on health status, leading for example to hypertension (Rosenthal and Alter, 2012).

As expected, several lines of evidence have established the effects of such challenging and overwhelming socioeconomic burden in the physical and mental health of vulnerable populations, leading to the development of physiological and psychiatric disorders that strongly impact quality of life (Harb et al., 2014; Meyrer et al., 2009). However, the majority of persons seem to remain resilient to the emergence of these conditions. Nonetheless, evidence suggesting an impact on overall cognitive performance in normal population is increasing (Friedler et al., 2014). Therefore, it is highly possible that sporadic exposure to highly demanding scenarios bring a cluster of cognitive alterations with a measurable impact in everyday life.

#### II.2. The Prefrontal Cortex

The neuroanatomical features, functional properties, and physiological characteristics of specific brain areas support discrete cognitive processes that allowed organisms to properly cope with their surroundings. Under diverse and dynamic circumstances, a great demand is placed on neural circuits responsible for the organization of broad physiological responses and complex behaviors. Thus, a structure capable of integrating different sensory modalities and accessing the information already processed by different areas certainly increases behavioral efficacy, adding further layers of complexity to the already existing behavioral repertoire. In this context, the prefrontal cortex (PFC) is a privileged brain

region, providing multimodal integration and synthesizing actual information and past experience into a coherent framework (Kolb et al., 2012). Basically, it is one of the last cortical regions to develop both phylogenetically and ontogenetically, and reaches maximum development in the human brain, constituting almost 30% of the total cerebral mantle (Riga et al., 2014).

#### II.2.1. Anatomy

Many of the intricate cognitive functions that characterize the PFC are strongly supported by its unique anatomical traits and complex connectivity patterns. Hence, in order to fully understand PFC-mediated cognitive performance, it is first necessary to elucidate its neuroanatomical properties. In humans, the frontal lobe lies anterior to the central sulcus and can be divided into two major parts, a caudal part containing the motor cortex and a rostral part comprising the PFC. The PFC is located at the anterior end of the cerebral hemispheres and extends till the frontal pole (Jeon, 2014). On the medial surface, the PFC lies anterior to the medial component of the motor cortex as well as the rostral portion of the cingulate gyrus. The primate PFC is usually divided on broad anatomical regions. Its major subdivisions encompass the ventrolateral, dorsolateral, medial and orbitofrontal cortices. A few landmarks help to accurately segregate the aforementioned areas. For instance, the principal sulcus, located on the lateral surface of the hemispheres, separates the ventrolateral from the dorsolateral PFC (Spencer et al., 2014). In addition, as its name suggests, the medial PFC is located on the medial surface of the hemispheres. Finally, the orbitofrontal PFC lies in the anterior cranial fossa above the bony orbit, establishing the basal, or ventral, surface of the frontal lobes (Dobrossy et al., 2014) (Figure 1). Concerning its cytoarchitecture, a large portion of the PFC has been classified as granular cortex and contains six well defined layers, including a prominent external granular layer II and internal granular layer IV (Tremblay et al., 2014).

#### II.2.2. Connectivity

Besides the structural and cytoarchitectural properties of the PFC, it is also relevant to highlight its connectivity patterns with a constellation of cortical association areas. In fact, the PFC is well known for establishing widespread cortico-cortical networks with distal parts of the cerebral cortex, particularly uni and multi-modal association areas (Figure 2). Whereas unimodal association cortex integrates sensory information pertaining to one sensory modality, multimodal association cortex synthesizes highly processed information whose source can be traced back to multiple sensory modalities (Helie et al., 2014). The

PFC is linked to association cortices of the parietal, temporal and occipital lobes. In this regard, several anatomical and behavioral studies have shown long association pathways reciprocally linking the posterior parietal cortex with the PFC, responsible for the appropriate execution of visually guided movements. Therefore, the dorsolateral PFC has been suggested to process information concerning where an object is in space (Tse et al., 2014). It is also known that both, the inferior parietal and ventrolateral temporal project to the ventrolateral PFC. Such circuits provide data regarding form and object recognition. Hence, the ventral pathway seems to constitute a processing stream that addresses what an object represents in the extrapersonal environment (Ketz et al., 2015). In addition to these long association circuits, there are also short association networks that interlock the different subdivisions of the PFC with one another in an organized fashion (Yang et al., 2014). These broad set of interconnections between the PFC and different regions along the neuraxis give rise to a cluster of higher order cognitive functions. They include working memory, motor planning, development and implementation of long-term strategies, decision making and problem solving among others, thus playing an essential role in behavioral organization and modulation (Bourguignon, 2014; Pistillo et al., 2015).



#### Figure 1. PFC anatomy.

Schematic diagram depicting the major anatomical sub-divisions in the frontal lobes, encompassing the PFC. Boundaries and Brodmann areas (BA) are only approximate. Arrows indicate anatomical directions of anterior/rostral (front) versus posterior/caudal (back) and dorsal (up) versus ventral (down) (Badre, 2008; Pistillo et al., 2015).

In addition to the neuroanatomical connections that support the cognitive functions subserved by the PFC, it has also been established that the PFC possesses strong structural interactions with the limbic lobe, arising from the cingulate, orbitofrontal, temporopolar, perihinal, entorhinal, posterior parahippocampal and insular cortices (Wolff et al., 2014). Most of these pathways project mainly to the posterior orbitofrontal and medial prefrontal regions and many of them have been shown to be reciprocal. As well, robust projections from the basolateral and accessory basal nuclei of the amygdala to the posterior orbitofrontal and medial PFC have been described (Herry and Johansen, 2014). The amygdala constitutes a convergent recipient of several cortical inputs from different association areas, including both the auditory and visual cortex. Consequently, it is likely that amygdalar outputs towards the PFC help to shape information related to the interplay between the internal and external environments of the organism (Cassaday et al., 2014).



#### Cortical Input and Output Pathways

#### Figure 2. PFC Connectivity

Schematic diagram depicting the different pathways that connect the PFC with several cortical regions. Modified from Paskari, 2007.

#### II.2.3. Function

Considering the conglomerate set of afferents received by the PFC together with the abundant number of bidirectional interactions shared with several brain areas, the PFC holds a strong potential to mediate highly complex cognitive functions. As a matter of fact, various lines of evidence have shown that the PFC is responsible for accurately planning future behavior and anticipating possible consequences, thus executing responses in a goal directed fashion. In other words, the PFC is involved in the temporal organization of behavior, supporting cognitive functions necessary to arrange behavior in time and context, allowing the organism to generate behavioral strategies to enhance environmental adaptation (Puig et al., 2014). Such role extends to all domains of voluntary action, including skeletal movement, ocular motility, speech and even logical reasoning (Sebastian et al., 2014). Basically, a great demand is placed on PFC networks once the individual is required to assemble temporally extended sequences of deliberate action, particularly when the action to be performed is new and surrounded by high levels of uncertainty. This is achieved through a temporally retrospective function of short-term memory combined with a prospective function of preparatory set for action. These two processes allow the PFC to continuously reconcile past and future events during the course of behavioral execution, keeping action in logical order and on target (Goldman-Rakic, 1994) (Figure 3).

In addition, several studies have also characterized the role played by the PFC, particularly the orbitomedial region, in the inhibitory control of interference. In other words, the PFC is also responsible for the correct suppression of extraneous (sensory) or internal distractors. This kind of control normally improves and facilitates the attentional processes of the organism to relevant inputs and to the pursuit of goals (Weinberger et al., 1994). When this function fails, the subject becomes excessively distractible, incapable of suppressing the interference from trivial, irrelevant, or inappropriate stimuli from the internal or external milieu. Then, behavior is easily diverted from its original goal and tasks are not carried out to completion. Furthermore, such distractibility is usually accompanied by motor disinhibition, giving rise to a syndrome that resembles the one exhibited by children with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (Tsutsui-Kimura et al., 2014).

Based on this, it is only natural that lesions or disruptions of the PFC have a strong impact on quality of life and the ability to properly cope with environmental challenges. For instance, it is known that PFC damage can lead to deficits in sustained and selective attentional processes. Thus, aside from general disinterest, patients with PFC injury show difficulties in directing attention to particularly relevant information in the external setting (Arnsten, 2009). This is expressed through shortened attentional spans with problems to concentrate and maintain attention on any given item of information. Consequently, this deficit in the temporal continuity of the focus of attention gives rise to troubles in short-term memory and preparatory set, weakening the capacity to retain new information for prospective use in the absence of environmental stimulation, also called working memory (Funahashi et al., 1989).



#### Figure 3 PFC function.

Schematic diagram depicting the different cognitive functions exerted by the PFC together with the corresponding neuroanatomical connections supporting such processes. The dorsolateral PFC (DLPFC) has extensive connections with sensory and motor cortices and is key for regulating attention, thought and action. The right inferior PFC (rIPFC) seems to be specialized for inhibiting inappropriate motor responses. By contrast, the ventromedial PFC (VMPFC) has extensive connections with subcortical structures (such as the amygdala, the nucleus accumbens and the hypothalamus) that generate emotional responses and habits and is thus able to regulate emotional responses. Finally, the dorsomedial PFC (DMPFC) has been associated with error monitoring and reality testing. These PFC regions extensively interconnect to regulate higher-order decision making and to plan and organize for the future (Arnsten, 2009).

#### **II.2.4. PFC Dysfunction**

Perhaps one of the key hallmarks that characterize PFC dysfunction is a difficulty to properly plan behavior. Therefore, individuals are no longer capable of planning any novel structures of action in an organized fashion, keep them in mind and execute them. Despite the fact that such impairment permeates all action domains, it is more evident at the highest level of speech, behavior and rational thinking (Vadovicova, 2014). Hence, patients with PFC damage cannot plan a new discourse and perform it, anticipate substantial movements or departures from daily routines and elaborate novel trends of thought leading them to logical conclusion. Basically, the planning deficit exhibited by these patients constitutes an alteration in the representation and preparation for future action (Verschure et al., 2014). Additionally, PFC disruption also causes speech disorders attributable to a malfunction of temporal integration, characterized also by an impoverishment of verbal expression, spontaneous speech and verbal fluency. Basically, speech disorders arising from PFC lesions can be ascribed to impairments in the capability of synthesizing verbal expression in the temporal dimension, which depends on the interplay between memory and the preparatory set for action. Furthermore, PFC dysfunction can also have a strong impact on behavior, leading to a temporal concreteness in which behavior remains anchored to the "here and now". In other words, behavior seems deprived of perspective either back or forward in time, driven by routine and devoid of creativity (Ries et al., 2014).

Besides impairments in interference control, PFC damage can as well lead to a general disinhibition of motor activity, thought and impulses. The resulting hypermotility gives the appearance of an excessive drive, accompanied by difficulties to stop ongoing behavior or concentrate on particular items. These subjects seem to be driven by an incessant need to act in a hazardous and purposeless fashion. Furthermore, this behavioral profile interferes with sleep, logical thinking and basic drives (Donnelly et al., 2014). Thus, patients tend to exhibit hyperfagia and hypersexuality, disregarding common good judgement. Not surprisingly, these symptoms together with the euphoria that usually accompanies this syndrome can be easily mistaken for mania (Sebastian et al., 2014). Summarizing, the cognitive control and supervisory action carried out by the PFC have given rise to the term "executive system", which performs a continuous management of cognition and behavior. In addition, the different cognitive and behavioral operations implemented by this system are now regarded as "executive functions" and play a key role in the dynamic adaptation demanded by modern society (Bagshaw et al., 2014).

#### II.2.5. PFC and psychiatric disorders

Given the relevance of executive functions to successfully cope with the diverse challenges faced in our everyday life, several studies have pointed towards a robust involvement of the PFC networks in the etiology of different psychiatric disorders that strongly impact quality of life. In this regard, one of the core symptoms that characterize schizophrenia is a failure in the proper temporal integration of thought. Such deficits are commonly evidenced by the constant blocking and looseness of associations. Thus, functional neuroimaging approaches have shown abnormally low levels of frontal metabolism in schizophrenic patients, particularly when faced with neuropsychological tasks that demand PFC activation (Opris and Casanova, 2014). On the other hand, there are certain conditions in which a hyperfunction of the orbitomedial PFC can give rise to an excessive inhibitory control of cognition and behavior. In these cases, attention is abnormally riveted to specific contents of thought or behavioral patterns, which become overpowering and end up implacably controlling the patient's mind and behavior. This is what is usually referred to as obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD). In fact, imaging studies have shown orbitomedial PFC hypermetabolism in OCD patients (Nakamae et al., 2014). Additionally, it has been shown that cerebral gray matter reductions in specific regions, particularly the ventromedial PFC, can act as a crucial pathobiological marker for Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (Kuhn and Gallinat, 2013). Furthermore, several lines of evidence point to a strong role of the PFC in affective disorders such as depression. Hence, decreased functional activity in specific subregions of the PFC seem to give rise to cognitive alterations such as ruminative thoughts, biased attention, biased processing and biased memory for negative stimuli, which eventually lead to the emergence of depressive symptoms (Disner et al., 2011).

#### II.2.6. Animal studies

Besides human studies, several lines of evidence have also pointed out the anatomical, physiological, neurochemical and functional properties of the PFC in other species. As a result, a cross-species functional and anatomical homology for this brain region has been suggested (Holmes and Wellman, 2009). Initial definitions of the PFC were very restrictive, using the target of the cortical projections from the dorsomedial thalamic nucleus as single defining criteria to identify the PFC. Accordingly, the general statement concerning the PFC was that it was exclusively present in primate species. However, as previously shown, single criteria do not seem to be sufficient to define this complex structure. Therefore, additional anatomical and functional properties must be taken into consideration to

properly recognize the PFC in non-primate species. Certainly, the rodent PFC is not as differentiated as it is in primates. However, anatomical dorsolateral-like features have been established in frontal cortical area 2 and anterior cingulate (AC) regions of the rodent brain, particularly concerning PFC–basal ganglia–thalamocortical circuits together with the reception of amygdalar inputs. Furthermore, similarly to macaque PFC, the rodent PFC also receives multimodal cortico-cortical projections from motor, somatosensory, visual, auditory, gustatory and limbic cortices (Van Eden et al., 1992). Also, both species exhibit a robust cholinergic innervation arising from the basal forebrain nuclei together with reciprocal connections between the medial PFC (mPFC), locus coeruleus, medial and dorsal raphe nuclei. Summarizing, in the rodent, functions of the dorsolateral and ventromedial PFC are thought to be integrated in the phylogenetically ancient mPFC (Uylings et al., 2003; Vertes, 2002). Thus, the mPFC in the rodent encompasses a large area of the forebrain, anterior to the genu of the corpus callosum and extending rostrally until the olfactory bulbs. It is comprised of the AC, prelimbic (PL) and infralimbic (IL) regions (Holmes and Wellman, 2009).

Concerning the functional aspects of the rodent PFC, it is important to consider that each species has a unique behavioral repertoire that allows it to survive in a specific environmental niche. Hence, it is highly likely that neocortical organization uniquely reflects patterns of behavioral adaptation pertaining to a particular species. Thus, care should be taken in making direct comparisons with the primate PFC. Nonetheless, certain traits and capacities remain common and are actually shared by all mammals. For instance, they must be able to detect and interpret sensory information, relate it to past experience and act appropriately. Therefore, they must be able to use sensory information to properly guide behavior on line, for example in the visuosomotor control of movements in space or the identification of food items using visual, tactile and olfactory information. Consequently, in rodents, there also seems to be a type of master control system responsible for selecting behavior and generating behavior according to past experience (Kolb and Whishaw, 1983). Accordingly, executive functions measurable in rodents include working memory, cognitive flexibility, sustained attention, temporal order memory and inhibitory response control (Holmes and Wellman, 2009).

Moreover, lesional approaches have evidenced similarities between PFC-related performance in rodents and primates. For instance, damage to the mPFC produces severe deficits in acquisition and retention of working memory tasks (Broersen et al., 1995; DeCoteau et al., 1997; Kolb et al., 1974; Wikmark et al., 1973) . Additionally, impairments have also been demonstrated in various types of attentional tasks (Muir et al., 1996). Likewise, disruptions in properly executing and ordering motor sequences such as nest building, food hoarding or latch opening have been established after mPFC injury in rodents (Kolb et al., 1974; Kolb and Whishaw, 1983). Also, deficits in the generation of new behavioral rules together with an inability to inhibit previous predominant responses have been observed after unilateral dorsomedial PFC lesions in mice. Such perseverative pattern exhibits striking similarities with the effects of PFC lesions shown in monkeys and humans, suggesting once more the relevance of PFC networks in different mammalian species (de Bruin et al., 1994).

Perhaps one of the most studied paradigms in rodents concerning PFC disruption refers to fear extinction. On this particular experimental approach, both ventromedial and dorsomedial PFC regions seem to play different roles concerning the emotional regulation of behavior. Thus, whereas dorsomedial lesions induce deficits in the expression of a conditioned fear response, ventromedial damage impairs the proper inhibition of a previously learned fear response after extinction training. These findings strongly posit the emotional regulation exerted by the rodent PFC, indicating once more its resemblance with the functional properties of the human PFC. Furthermore, the role exerted by the rodent PFC on the temporal organization of behavior has been elegantly demonstrated employing a disconnection analysis between the mPFC and the perirhinal cortex, a region involved in memory coding and consolidation. Hence, using unilateral and bilateral lesions of either one or both structures, it was established that the mPFC is essential for the accurate discrimination of the temporal order in which past events take place, also called temporal order memory (Barker et al., 2007). Naturally, such process is fundamental for the correct organization of behavior in time and space. Once more, such results evidence the parallel existing between the rodent and human PFC, underlining its relevance for the proper execution of structured responses, leading to increases in the efficacy of adaptive processes. In general, it seems that whereas the rodent PL region is involved in attentional, working memory and response selection functions, the AC is involved in generating rules associated with behavioral organization and motor sequencing. Taken together, such data indicates a strong convergence of class-common features across mammals.

## II.3. The prefrontal cortex under stress

Given the fundamental involvement of the PFC in the dynamic interactions between the individual and its environment, it is only natural that this region also responds to external events by undergoing physiological and structural modifications. Indeed, it has been established that particular circumstances can actually shape many of its anatomical features and induce significant alterations in its basic functions. Thus, despite the fact that the PFC networks can accurately guide behavior according to past experience, it has also been shown that this prosencephalic structure can be very sensitive to adverse events that threaten the ability of the organism to adapt and cope, also called stressors (Kolb et al., 2012). Basically, such situations evoke a set of physiological reactions that through the activation of specific endocrine responses affect the whole individual and alter the function of several systems within the body, including the PFC (Popoli et al., 2012a). In other words, several lines of evidence have indicated that the neuromodulatory changes that characterize the stress response can rapidly disrupt PFC network connections and markedly impair PFC processes.

#### II.3.1. Structure

On a structural level, daily sessions of 3 hours of restraint stress over a period of 3 weeks induce dendritic remodeling in the apical branches, with dramatic reductions in branch number and length in terminal branches distal to the soma within the PFC of rodents (Cook and Wellman, 2004). In addition, this stress-induced debranching of apical dendrites is associated with a significant decrease in the density of dendritic spines (Michelsen et al., 2007; Radley et al., 2008). Further studies have actually determined that such stress-induced anatomical alterations can also be achieved by administering milder stress protocols, characterized by a single stress episode, suggesting that the PFC possess a higher sensitivity to stress, compared to other regions (Brown et al., 2005; Izquierdo et al., 2006). Moreover, one 30-min bout of elevated platform stress is able to impair a long form of long-term potentiation in the PL (Maroun and Richter-Levin, 2003). Taken together, these findings indicate an exquisite morphological and physiological susceptibility of mPFC neurons to stress.

#### II.3.2. Neurotransmission

On the other hand, there is also clear evidence showing robust effects of stress on the activity of different neurochemical candidates that eventually modify PFC physiology.

Among many neurotransmitter and neuromodulatory systems affected by stress within the brain, increases in glutamatergic neurotransmission seem to have a particularly strong impact on PFC function. Glutamate constitutes the main excitatory neurotransmitter in the brain and is synthesized *de novo* from glucose in astrocytes (Popoli et al., 2012b). Once synthetized, it is stored in presynaptic vesicles within neurons and its exocytotic vesicular release is tightly regulated through the so-called SNARE complex, formed by the interaction of two synaptic membrane proteins and a vesicular protein. After neuronal excitation, this cluster of proteins mediates the fusion of the synaptic vesicles with the presynaptic membrane, leading to glutamate release (Lang and Jahn, 2008). After release, glutamate regulates post-synaptic activity through the stimulation of metabotropic receptors and the ionotropic glutamate receptors AMPA and NMDA, among others (Sudhof and Rothman, 2009).

Several lines of evidence have determined significant increases in glutamate release in the PFC after different types of acute stressors, including tail pinch, forced swim or restraint stress (Reznikov et al., 2007; Venero and Borrell, 1999). Similarly, other studies have also demonstrated stress-induced effects on depolarization-evoked glutamate release in the PFC, suggesting relevant changes on the excitatory activity of the PFC networks after stress (Musazzi et al., 2010). At the level of the presynaptic machinery, increases in the number of SNARE complexes bound to the presynaptic membrane have been observed after stress induced by a footshock. Together with such effects on presynaptic glutamate release, additional reports have also shown a delayed and sustained impact of acute stress on postsynaptic glutamate receptor-mediated responses in the PFC (Yuen and Yan, 2009). Thus, electrophysiological approaches have shown increases in NMDA and AMPAmediated synaptic currents in PFC pyramidal neurons after acute stress, caused by an enhanced surface expression of receptors and their different subunits at the postsynaptic plasma membrane. This suggests that acute stress can lead to an increased delivery of glutamate receptors from intracellular or extrasynaptic surface pools to the synaptic membrane in the PFC. Additionally, acute stress also seems to impair synaptic plasticity in PFC circuits, modifying the efficacy of glutamate transmission. For instance, it is known that acute stress can inhibit long-term potentiation (a measure of increased efficiency in glutamatergic transmission) in the amygdala-PFC and hippocampus-PFC pathways (Rocher et al., 2004; Yuen and Yan, 2009).

Besides the glutamatergic system, several studies have also established relevant effects of acute stress in other neurotransmitter systems within the PFC. For instance, it is known that acute stress exposure can induce important increases in dopamine and noradrenaline release in the PFC (Finlay et al., 1995; Roth et al., 1988). On one hand, the noradrenergic modulation of PFC activity seems to be under a very delicate balance, where too much or too few neurotransmitter can have drastic effects on the functionality of the PFC networks. Furthermore, such regulation also depends on the specific stimulation of different kinds of receptors. Thus, whereas  $\alpha_{2A}$  receptors optimize PFC-mediated cognition,  $\alpha_1$  and  $\beta_1$  receptors have an opposite effect (Arnsten and Goldman-Rakic, 1985; Ramos et al., 2005). Thus, acute stress-induced increases in noradrenaline release would lead to the activation of the lower affinity  $\alpha_1$  and  $\beta_1$  receptors, thus giving rise to PFC dysfunction. Consequently, stress-evoked cognitive alterations can be prevented by the intra-PFC microinfusion of  $\alpha_1$  antagonists (Birnbaum et al., 1999). Similarly, studies performed in humans have found that  $\beta$  receptor antagonists can abolish the stress-evoked impairment in cognitive flexibility (Alexander et al., 2007).

Concerning dopamine, it has been established that very mild stressors are able to evoke significant increments in dopaminergic neurotransmission in the PFC, suggesting a very low threshold for the stress-induced, dopamine-mediated effects on PFC functions (Deutch and Roth, 1990). In addition, this stress-evoked enhancement in dopamine efflux within PFC networks seems to depend on the local activation of glucocorticoid receptors in the PFC. Moreover, this effect on dopaminergic neurotransmission caused by the glucocorticoids released during a stress response has also a strong functional impact, leading to impairments in working memory (Butts et al., 2011a). Dopamine exerts its modulatory action over PFC activity mainly through the stimulation of D1 receptors (Arnsten and Goldman-Rakic, 1990; Sawaguchi and Goldman-Rakic, 1991). Particularly, the stress-evoked PFC dysfunction has been rescued using pharmacological approaches based on the administration of D1 antagonists (Murphy et al., 1996). In addition, the D2 receptor also seems to be partly responsible for the effects of acute stress on the PFC. For example, it is known that excessive D2 receptor stimulation impairs PFC-mediated cognition in humans and animals (Druzin et al., 2000; Gibbs and D'Esposito, 2005).

#### II.3.3. Intracellular effects

Once the activity of the aforementioned neurotransmitter systems is increased after stress, higher amounts of these neurochemical candidates become available and are released into the synaptic cleft. As a consequence, the corresponding receptors are further stimulated and their effects are also enhanced. Besides modifying the electrophysiological activity of the cell, neurotransmitter receptors also activate a series of intracellular cascades that eventually have an effect on cell function through the modulation of genetic transcription and other cellular processes. Therefore, it is expected that the stress-induced alterations on neurotransmission ultimately lead to important changes on intracellular signaling within the PFC. In fact, different signaling pathways have been regarded as key candidates mediating the aforementioned effects of acute stress in the PFC. In this regard, it has been observed that a single episode of restraint stress causes an increase in the expression of Ar (activityregulated cytoskeletal-associated protein), an immediate early gene that has a key role in activity-dependent synaptic modification (Messaoudi et al., 2007). Also, it has been suggested that the stress-induced,  $\alpha_1$ -mediated, effects on PFC-dependent cognition are exerted through the phosphatidylinositol-protein kinase C (PKC) pathway. Consequently, intra-PFC infusion of PKC inhibitors reverses the effects of stress and  $\alpha_1$  agonists in working memory (Runyan et al., 2005). Conversely, stress-evoked deficits in working memory can be mimicked by the intra-PFC microinjection of PKC activators. At the cellular level, the suppression of PFC neuronal firing induced by the stimulation of  $\alpha_1$ receptors can be reversed by the iontophoresis of a PKC inhibitor (Birnbaum et al., 2004).

Additionally, signaling through cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) also seems to regulate the stress-induced, catecholamine-mediated, PFC disruption. As a matter of fact, the cAMP intracellular signaling cascade has been shown to exert a highly powerful impact on working memory network activity and cognitive function. Once cAMP is increased within the cell, it can activate several signaling pathways leading to a diversity of effects. One of the key targets stimulated via cAMP is the hyperpolarization-activated cyclic nucleotide-gated cation channel (HCN), and these are located on both the dendritic shafts and dendritic spines of PFC pyramidal cells. In line with this, intra-PFC HCN1 knockdown improves working memory performance (Wang et al., 2007). Accordingly, uncontrollable stress leads to excessive production of cAMP together with a concurrent impairment in PFC-dependent cognition. Such deficits can actually be rescued by blocking either cAMP or HCN channels in the PFC, or mimicked by the administration of cAMP analogues. (Taylor et al., 1999; Vijayraghavan et al., 2007).

#### **II.3.4.** Functional consequences

Concerning the functional effects of acute stress-induced PFC disruption, early observations began after the Second World War, where highly skilled pilots during peacetime often crashed their planes during the stress of battle, owing to mental errors (Arnsten, 2009). In fact, initial studies were able to show that stress exposure impaired performance of tasks that required complex and flexible thinking (Hartley and Adams, 1974). Actually, loss of PFC-mediated self-control during stress exposure can help to explain the relapse of a number of maladaptive behaviors such as drug addiction, smoking, drinking alcohol and overeating (Li and Sinha, 2008). In order to fully elucidate the effects of acute stress on PFC-dependent cognition, several animal models have been employed. In this regard, it has been established that an uncontrollable stressor induces deficits in selective attention that lead to impaired performance on a Y-maze task (Minor et al., 1984). Another study demonstrated that mild acute stress impairs the accuracy to respond, and produces a perseverative pattern, in a working memory task, mimicking the effects of PFC lesions and suggesting a stress-induced PFC dysfunction (Di Pietro et al., 2004). Conversely, performance on control tasks with similar motor and motivational demands, that do not depend on the PFC, were not altered by this stressor. Similarly, rats exposed to acute stressors also exhibited alterations in a spatial delayed alternation task, which requires the PFC. Besides these PFC-mediated cognitive processes, other executive functions are also affected by stress. Thus, different stress protocols have given rise to deficits in spatial reversal learning that also correlate with significant decreases in mPFC volume (Enthoven et al., 2008; Hill et al., 2005). Similar findings have also been obtained using an attentional set-shifting paradigm, where 2 weeks of unpredictable stress impaired reversal learning and extra-dimensional set-shifting (Bondi et al., 2008). Along these lines, stress has also been shown to alter the ability to flexibly alter behavior through the inhibition of a predominant learned response, also called fear extinction. Such effects were observed together with a significant retraction of apical dendrites in the IL, suggesting the involvement of PFC networks. Basically, extinction deficits are regarded as a form of "emotional perseveration", somehow akin to the cognitive perseveration caused by PFC lesions (Izquierdo et al., 2006). In a similar fashion, a single bout of elevated platform stress leads to fear extinction deficits accompanied by shifts in plasticity in the IL-amygdala pathway (Akirav and Maroun, 2007; Maroun, 2006).

Summarizing, stress in its diverse presentations seems to have a clearly strong impact on the morphological, physiological and functional properties of the PFC. As previously stated, such alterations seem to take place via classical neurotransmitter systems. However, it has become evident that glucocortidoids released during stress constitute direct mediators of these alterations. Nonetheless, the role played by other stress-related systems in PFC dysfunction still remains unexplored. In fact, as already mentioned, this prosencenphalic region appears to be particularly sensitive to the effects of stress, being affected by mild and even acute exposures to stressful situations. This acquires special relevance due to the fact that nowadays, many individuals routinely experience high levels of social, environmental and work-related stressors on an everyday basis (Duman and Aghajanian, 2012). Thus, it is highly probable that such conditions can lead to important reductions in dendrite complexity and synaptic density within the PFC, giving rise to an executive dysfunction that strongly impacts quality of life. However, in order to fully understand the mechanisms through which stress can alter PFC-dependent cognition, it is first necessary to elucidate the different components and steps that characterize the stress response.

# II.4. The stress response and the Hypothalamus Pituitary Adrenal Axis

The stress response emerged in order to provide the required metabolic realignment essential for survival when facing challenges, thus increasing biological fitness and promoting adaptive processes. As a result, animals became suited to deal with sudden external changes, being able to modify their entire physiology to respond more efficiently to those challenges (Duman and Aghajanian, 2012; Panagiotakopoulos and Neigh, 2014). In general terms, stress can be defined as any threat, real or perceived, to homeostasis or survival. Naturally, the fast coordination and execution of extensive physiological adjustments in response to environmental threats must start at the central nervous system, where all the sensory information is conveyed and integrated. In fact, the so called stress response does not refer to a single reaction, but to a cluster of physiological alterations that affect different body systems and occur in a harmonized and systematic pattern (de Kloet et al., 2005). Hence, upon sensory integration, information must be directed at specific regulatory centers in the brain that allow the rapid initiation of a physiological cascade in an organized fashion (Panagiotakopoulos and Neigh, 2014). Actually, this set of reactions is

not carried out by a single system but by two different neurobiological circuits that together orchestrate this wide set of responses: the Hypothalamus-Pituitary-Adrenal (HPA) and the sympathetic-adrenal-medullary (SAM) axes (Myers et al., 2014). Essentially, this physiological response to stressors takes place in two temporally distinct waves. Initially, an immediate 'wave' is triggered within seconds by the SAM, giving rise to a fast increase in the levels of circulating catecholamines, thus preparing the organism for a physical emergency. Posteriorly, a slower endocrine 'wave' is coordinated by the HPA axis, resulting in the release of glucocorticoids (GC) (mainly cortisol in humans and corticosterone in rodents), allowing the long-lasting adaptations to stressors (Braquehais et al., 2012).

Given the key role played by the HPA axis in the coordination of the stress response, it is highly relevant to fully understand its anatomy. This system consists of a complex consecutive arrangement of structures, which are regulated in a reciprocal way by forward and feedback mechanisms. The hypothalamus is part of the diencephalon. It is limited anteriorly by the optic chiasm and the lamina terminalis. Posteriorly, it is demarcated by an imaginary plane defined by the posterior mammillary bodies ventrally and posterior commissure dorsally (de Kloet et al., 2005). Caudally, the hypothalamus merges with the midbrain periaqueductal gray and tegmental reticular formation. The dorsal limit of the hypothalamus is determined by the horizontal level of the hypothalamic sulcus on the medial wall of the third ventricle. Laterally, it is limited by the internal capsule and the basis of the cerebral peduncles (Smith and Vale, 2006). The activation of the stress response takes place either as a consequence or in anticipation of a challenge. On one hand, anticipatory reactions demand the organism to reference previous experiences and predict the need for energy mobilization. Basically, the hypothalamus acts as an integrator, receiving converging inputs from virtually every sensory and autonomic system related to the internal and external environment of the organism. Such process is mediated by multisynaptic forebrain projections to the neuroendocrine cells in the medial parvocellular paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of the hypothalamus, which respond rapidly to this convergent information by modifying the activity of its projections to the median eminence (Holsboer and Ising, 2010).

The median eminence, or infundibulum, gives rise to the pituitary stalk at the base of the hypothalamus, in the floor of the third ventricle. This structure constitutes the main site where the hypothalamic neuroendocrine cells release their secretions to the primary plexus of the hypophysial portal system in order to regulate the adenohypohysis or anterior

pituitary (Hillhouse and Grammatopoulos, 2006). The anterior pituitary, like the hypothalamus, is an endocrine gland, releasing its hormones into the circulatory system, where they will act remotely at receptors in target organs of the body. The pituitary gland lies close to the medial basal hypothalamus, to which it is connected by the pituitary stalk (Del and Besedovsky, 2000). In most vertebrates it is divided into three lobes: the anterior or adenohypohysis, the posterior or neurohypophysis and the intermediate lobe. The anterior pituitary contains neurosecretory cells responsible for the synthesis of adenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH). These corticotropes constitute approximately 20% of the anterior pituitary cells and play a fundamental role in the initiation of the stress response (Bale and Vale, 2004).

It is known that the hypothalamic neurons produce neuropeptides that regulate the function of the adenohypophysis, triggering the stress response in threatening circumstances. The main factor secreted under stress stimulates the release of anterior pituitary hormones and is therefore referred to as a releasing factor. Particularly, this hormone is known as the corticotropin releasing hormone (CRH) or corticotropin releasing factor (CRF) (Korosi and Baram, 2008). This hypophysiotropic hormone is synthesized in neuronal cell bodies of the PVN, transported in dense core vesicles to nerve endings in the stalk median eminence, stored in axonal endings, released into the interstitial space upon stimulation in contiguity with the primary portal capillary plexus, and distributed to the anterior pituitary by means of the portal circulation (Steckler and Holsboer, 1999).

Once CRH is released and reaches the anterior pituitary, it binds to CRHR1 receptors. Furthermore, CRHR1 activation eventually stimulates the synthesis of the large precursor molecule proopiomelanocortin (POMC), which is then cleaved into ACTH and secreted into the systemic circulation. Thus, the hypothalamic CRH neurosecretory neurons constitute the main regulators of HPA activation, coordinating the stress response, facilitating homeostatic maintenance and promoting behavioral adaptation to environmental challenges (Bonfiglio et al., 2011). Finally, ACTH reaches the adrenal cortex and stimulates the release of glucocorticoids (GC) (Herman et al., 2012).

After GC are synthetized and released, they cause a global redistribution of energy, increasing fuel availability in order to enhance survival in the face of real or perceived threats. When secreted, GC bind to high affinity mineralocorticoid receptors (MR) or lower affinity glucocorticoid receptors (GR), which act as ligand-gated transcription factors to

positively or negatively regulate gene expression (Roozendaal et al., 2009). Hence, once bound to their ligand, GC receptors translocate into the nucleus where they bind to specific sites on the promoter region of the responsive gene. Basically, GC are key elements in the regulation of glycogen utilization and storage, playing an essential role during the alarm reaction that characterizes the stress response by promoting a highly catabolic profile. Given the energetic demands placed upon an individual under stress, GC are able to induce lipolysis, glycogenolysis and proteolysis, leading to important increases in the levels of free fatty acids, glucose and aminoacids as readily available fuels for the body. In other words, the goal is to prepare the organism for intense physical activity through the mobilization of energy resources and the improvement of the cardiovascular tone (Barsegyan et al., 2010). This is achieved through a series of physiological processes. On one hand, glucose metabolism is altered by breaking down protein into glucose and making the nutrients stored in muscles to become available, thus providing energy ready to be used during strong physical activity. In addition, GC actively modulate the cardiovascular system, giving rise to elevations in heart rate, blood pressure and blood flow to the muscles. Also, GC suppress immunological function and decrease the inflammatory response, involving alterations in T-cell and B-cell function as well as in interlukin release (Griffin et al., 2014).

Naturally, although the short-term effects of GC are beneficial for the organism, pronounced and long lasting GC-induced changes in metabolic function can bring deleterious consequences. These include increased blood pressure, muscle tissue damage, steroid diabetes, infertility and inhibition of growth among others. Thus, in order to prevent such adverse effects, GC actions are tightly controlled by stringent negative feedback systems that modulate GC synthesis and secretion (Herman et al., 2012). Hence, after successfully coping with the stressor, the physiological profile is brought back to its resting state by binding of GC and CRH to different receptors in different brain regions (Wasserman et al., 2010). A key structure mediating this HPA axis regulation is the hippocampus, where GC receptors are expressed in pyramidal cells and dentate granule cells. In this regard, it has been shown that direct stimulation of this area can depress GC levels in rodents. Furthermore, hippocampal lesions blunt the HPA axis response to psychosocial stressors (Dranovsky and Leonardo, 2012). In addition, another important target to achieve robust modulation of the HPA axis response is the hypothalamus, where GC also exert strong regulatory effects by directly inhibiting CRH release and subsequent pituitary ACTH secretion (Pompili et al., 2010). Thus, GC negative feedback can take place directly on the hypothalamic cells driving the HPA axis.

Taken together, the different structures and peptides that comprise the HPA axis constitute key elements mediating the broad physiological, behavioral and functional alterations evoked by stress. Thus, any attempt to further elucidate the neurochemical candidates and molecular players responsible for the stress-induced cognitive dysfunctions must necessarily refer to its components. As previously mentioned, the CRH system is an essential element driving the activity of the HPA axis and thus plays a key role in the fast initiation of the stress response. Therefore, it has been considered as a prospective candidate mediating the myriad of cognitive and physiological effects caused by both, acute and chronic stress. Actually, alterations of the CRH system are implicated in different stress-related psychiatric disorders, mainly anxiety and depression (de Kloet et al., 2005; Holsboer and Ising, 2010). For this reason, it is fundamental to take a closer look at its different features in order to fully understand its physiology and its potential to become a therapeutic target to treat stress-related deficits.

#### II.5. The corticotropin-release hormone system

The CRH system comprises different ligands and receptor subtypes. In mammals, the main ligands are represented by CRH and Urocortins (UCN). Although they share about 45% sequence homology and bind to the same receptor family, they possess different affinities for the different receptor subtypes (Steckler and Holsboer, 1999). UCN is highly expressed in the Edinger- Westphal nucleus (Bonfiglio et al., 2011; Kozicz et al., 2011; Steckler and Holsboer, 1999). In rodents, there is a small overlap between CRH and UCN expression, giving support to the notion that both neuropeptides serve different functions. For example, previous studies have shown that, in contrast to CRH, UCN plays little or no role in the regulation and release of ACTH from the pituitary gland (Steckler and Holsboer, 1999).

#### II.5.1. CRH Expression

The CRH constitutes a 41-amino acid peptide hormone synthetized by the hypophysiotropic neurons of the PVN. The axons of these cells run laterally and caudally and terminate in the caudal zone of the medial eminence, where they release CRH into the portal vasculature of the anterior pituitary in order to initiate the stress response. In addition, cell clusters within the lateral, ventral and dorsal subdivisions of the PVN also synthetize CRH and project to preganglionic neurons of the medulla and spinal cord and

play a key role in the control of autonomic stress responses (Kovacs, 2013). Thus, hypothalamic CRH drives both basal and stress-induced HPA axis activation. However, the PVN does not constitute the only source of CRH in the brain. In fact, it has been shown that CRH is widely distributed across the central nervous system and the periphery, acting as both, neurotransmitter and neuromodulator (Merchenthaler, 1984; Palkovits et al., 1985). Among them, other CRH sources include the central nucleus of the amygdala (CeA) and the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis (BNST), which together comprise what is known as the extended amygdala. In addition, there are also CRH synthetizing neuron populations in the lateral hypothalamus, PFC, cingulate cortex, hippocampus, Barrington's nucleus, parabrachial complex and nucleus of the solitary tract. Besides its role in the stress response, these CRH-containing neuronal populations have also been implicated in the regulation of arousal, executive functions, reward, fear, anxiety, depression, sleep-wake cycles, growth, reproduction, cardiovascular, metabolic and gastrointestinal functions. Therefore, abnormalities in extra-HPA axis CRH homeostasis have been associated with prevalent neuropsychiatric conditions including anxiety disorders, depression and Alzheimer disease, among others (Gallagher et al., 2008). Thus, whereas hypophyseotropic CRH drives the neuroendocrine stress cascade, extrahypothalamic CRH modulates the physiological and behavioral alterations necessary to prepare the organism for fight or flight, inhibiting as well vegetative and reproductive functions (Kovacs, 2013). In addition, it has been shown that during stress, central CRH also stimulates the locus coeruleus (LC), elevating noradrenaline and increasing arousal (Berridge and Waterhouse, 2003). Actually, intra-LC CRH microinjections mimic different sympathetic, behavioral and immune responses to stressors (Kubota et al., 2012).

#### II.5.2. CRH Regulation

Concerning the regulation of CRH transcription within the aforementioned circuits, it is known that it can be tightly modulated in a site-, stress- and GC-dependent manner. For instance, it has been established that acute stress challenges lead to significant increases in CRH mRNA and peptide levels in hypothalamic and extra-hypothalamic regions (Kovacs and Sawchenko, 1996) together with significant reductions in the olfactory bulb (Imaki et al., 1991). Along this line, different studies have also demonstrated immediate robust increases in CRH release from the PVN, with a concomitant depletion of neuropeptide stores at the axon terminals, following acute stress exposure (Plotsky, 1985). Basically, once a situation is perceived as potentially aversive, stress-related afferents activate different signal transduction pathways in the PVN neurosecretory cells that converge upon the regulatory region of the CRH gene in order to initiate CRH transcription. In this regard, it has been shown that changes in PVN CRH mRNA levels depend on the integrity of ascending catecholaminergic (noradrenergic) projections originating in the brain stem (Pacak et al., 1996). In fact, stress-induced effects on CRH synthesis can be mimicked by intra-PVN norepinephrine microinjections (Cole and Sawchenko, 2002; Itoi et al., 1999). However, this process seems to be far from simple and to require the recruitment of specific coactivators such as the transducer of Regulated CREB activity and the interactions with several trans-acting factors like the inducible cAMP early repressor (Martin et al., 2012; Watts et al., 2011). Interestingly, whereas glutamatergic neurotransmission doesn't seem to play a role in the regulation of CRH transcription, interference with the GABAergic inputs to the PVN increase CRH expression in this structure (Cole and Sawchenko, 2002).

Besides the PVN, stress also induces CRH upregulation in several extrahypothalamic regions, including limbic areas such as CeA, BNST and Barrington's nucleus (Hsu et al., 1998; Makino et al., 1999), which seem to be independent of brainstem ascending catecholaminergic afferents (Pacak et al., 1996). Furthermore, several lines of evidence document the role of corticosterone in the regulation of the amygdalar CRH expression (Schulkin et al., 1998; Watts, 2005). Given such findings, it has been proposed that CeA CRH may play a key role in the modulation of HPA axis activity under stress. Actually, lentiviral-induced CRH overexpression in the CeA evokes increases in CRH and Arginin Vasopressin (AVP) expression in the PVN and impairs GC negative feedback on ACTH secretion (Keen-Rhinehart et al., 2009). In addition, different stress paradigms and CRH administration similarly increase CRH expression in several cortical and limbic areas such as PFC, cingulate cortex and hippocampus (Givalois et al., 2000).

Once stress triggers the activity of the HPA axis through the synthesis and release of CRH, it is also fundamental to be able to effectively constrain this physiological cascade in order to avoid the many deleterious effects of long-term GC exposure. A key mechanism subserving this regulatory action relies on the negative feedback mediated by GCs in the hypophysiotropic CRH expressing neurons within the PVN, through a putative negative GC response element located on the CRH gene. Thus, these CRH-expressing PVN neurons have been shown to be particularly sensitive to GCs (Bali et al., 2008; Kovacs et al., 2000). In fact, it has been shown that the targeted disruption of GR signaling within the PVN results in the upregulation of CRH mRNA levels (Jeanneteau et al., 2012a).

Additionally, GCs also affect the half-life of the CRH transcripts. For instance, it is known that adrenalectomy decreases the rate of CRH mRNA degradation and corticosterone replacement diminishes the half-life of CRH mRNA in the rat PVN (Ma et al., 2001).

#### **II.5.3. CRH Receptors**

Once released, CRH induces all of its physiological and cellular effects through the activation of different receptors. Mainly, CRH acts on two different kinds of G-protein coupled receptors (GPCR): CRHR1 and CRHR2, both exhibiting a 70% sequence homology and also possessing molecular splice variants (Perrin and Vale, 1999), including CRHR1 $\alpha$ , CRHR1 $\beta$  and CRHR $_{c.n}$  for CRHR1. On the other hand, CRHR2 has three different isoforms, CRHR2 $\alpha$ , CRHR2 $\beta$  and CRHR2 $\gamma$ , the last one being only described in humans (Bonfiglio et al., 2011). Both receptor subtypes also differ in the affinities expressed by their ligands and display distinct pharmacological profiles (Dautzenberg and Hauger, 2002; Fekete and Zorrilla, 2007). Both CRHRs constitute  $\alpha$ -helical GPCR with 7-transmembrane domains, possessing an N-terminal end on the extracellular side and a C-terminus facing the cytoplasm of the cell. On the extracellular side, they possess a binding domain for CRH. On the intracellular side, they express a guanyl-nucleotide exchange factor (GEF) protein that is activated upon the binding of their ligand to the extracellular binding domain (Bonfiglio et al., 2011; Steckler and Holsboer, 1999).

Despite the fact that initially it was believed that CRHR1 expression was exclusively restricted to the HPA axis, several lines of evidence have demonstrated that in fact they are widely expressed across the neuroaxis. CRHR1 immunoreactivity has been shown in cholinergic, dopaminergic and noradrenergic neurons of the murine basal forebrain and brainstem nuclei (Sauvage and Steckler, 2001). More specifically, CRHR1 is highly expressed in the anterior pituitary, neocortical areas, basolateral and medial nuclei of the amygdala, hypothalamic nuclei, cerebellar purkinje cells, lateral dorsal tegmentum, pedunculopontine tegmental nucleus and PFC. On the other hand, CRHR2 distribution exhibits a more discrete pattern, comprising the lateral septum, ventromedial hypothalamus and cortical nucleus of the amygdala (Bonfiglio et al., 2011). Foremost, it has been suggested that each CRHR exerts a synapse specific depression or facilitation of excitatory transmission. For instance, at the basolateral amygdala-central amygdala synapse, activation of postsynaptic CRHR1 results in a net depression of evoked glutamatergic neurotransmission despite weak pre, and postsynaptic, facilitatory actions mediated by CRHR2 stimulation (Liu et al., 2004).

The differences in CRHRs expression have given rise to the idea that both receptor types subserve different functions in stress-related processes. In fact, several animal studies have suggested that the behavioral and hormonal effects of CRH can be ascribed to CRHR1-mediated actions (Smith et al., 1998; Timpl et al., 1998). Also, CRHR1 has been identified as the main mediator of the stress-induced neuroendocrine, physiological and behavioral CRH actions (Holsboer, 1999). Consequently, CRHR1-null mice exhibit reduced anxiety-related behavior and impaired basal and stress-induced HPA axis response. Furthermore, limbic CRHR1 has been proposed to be strongly involved in the feedback regulation of the HPA axis (Muller et al., 2003). In addition, it is known that during acute stress, CRH is rapidly released in the synapses, facilitating hippocampal functions through increases in synaptic plasticity and long-term potentiation (LTP) via postsynaptic CRHR1s (Chen et al., 2004). Similarly, CRHR1 is responsible for the CRH-induced effects in noradrenergic neurotransmission and arousal (Jedema and Grace, 2004). Moreover, specific CRHR1 deletion in limbic structures gives rise to hypersensitivity to stress and decreases in anxiety-like behavior (Refojo et al., 2011a).

In agreement with the findings already mentioned, CRH overexpression targeted to different brain regions has been shown to induce HPA axis abnormalities, increases in rapid-eye movement (REM) sleep, anxiogenesis, increased acustic startle and passive stress coping behavior (Flandreau et al., 2012; Groenink et al., 2002; Kimura et al., 2010; Kolber et al., 2010). Furthermore, silencing CRH expression in the CeA of adult mice decreases stress-induced anxiety-like behaviors and gives rise to increases in basal corticosterone (CORT) levels (Regev et al., 2012).

As already mentioned, CRHR1 constitutes the main effector candidate through which CRH initiates the stress response and induces many of its actions. Thus, it is essential to fully understand the molecular pathways activated by the stimulation of this receptor, in order to further identify potential mechanisms responsible for the behavioral alterations evoked by environmental stressors. Such knowledge will surely draw attention towards prospective therapeutic targets that eventually will aid in the alleviation of different stressrelated disorders.

#### II.6. CRHR1-mediated signaling pathways

CRHR1 displays a wide distribution pattern across the neuraxis. Accordingly, several lines of evidence have established that CRHR1 can activate different signaling pathways in a region-specific and activity-dependent manner. CRHR1 exhibits a number of diverse splicing variants (a, b, c-n) that also contribute to region-specific differences in receptorsignaling properties. However, CRHR1 $\alpha$  seems to be the predominantly expressed and functional form in rodents and humans. In most systems, ligand-activated CRHR1 signals through  $G\alpha$  coupling, leading to the stimulation of adenylyl cyclase. This is followed by increases in the generation of the second messenger cyclic Adenosine Monophosphate (cAMP) from Adenosine Triphosphate (ATP), which in turn activates protein kinase A (PKA). PKA comprises a functional tetramer composed by two catalytic subunits (PKA-C) and two regulatory subunits (PKA-R). These PKA-R regulate the activity of the PKA-C and are also responsible for binding specific A kinase-anchoring proteins (AKAPs). By limiting PKAs to certain cellular compartments, these AKAPs are key elements mediating specific subcellular compartmental signaling. For instance, dynamic conditions can lead to changes in the localization of AKAPs, thus affecting the localization and activation of the PKA (Taylor et al., 2005; Taylor et al., 2012). In its inactive state, the four components are linked together. However, once cAMP is produced by adenylyl cyclase after Ga stimulation, cAMP binds to the PKA-Rs, inducing a conformational change and thus releasing the PKA-Cs. These PKA-Cs are then translocated to the nucleus, where they phosphorylate candidates downstream of cytosolic and nuclear targets, such as the cAMP responsive element binding protein (CREB), consequently affecting genetic transcription (Figure 4). Particularly in the pituitary, a crosstalk between this pathway and PKC (via activation of the V1b subtype vasopressin receptor) seems to be responsible for the increases in ACTH synthesis and release observed during stress (Bonfiglio et al., 2011).



#### Figure 4. PKA signaling pathway

Once the ligand CRH binds to the CRHR1 receptor, it induces an exchange between Guanosine Diphosphate (GDP) and Guanosine Trisphosphate (GTP), which leads to the translocation of the G $\alpha$  subunit and the activation of Adenylyl Cyclase (AC). Posteriorly, AC catalyzes the conversion of Adenosine Triphosphate (ATP) into 3"-5" cyclic Adenosine Monophosphate (cAMP), which binds to the regulatory subunit of Protein Kinase A (PKA-R) and induces the release of its catalytic subunit (PKA-C) and its translocation to the nucleus. Consequently, it phosphorylates the transcription factor cAMP Response Element Binding Protein (CREB), promoting genetic transcription.

The PKA-dependent signaling pathways have been shown to play a fundamental role in diverse memory functions, including working, short-term and long-term memory (Kobori et al., 2015a). In addition, it has also been demonstrated to regulate different neurophysiological processes, such as LTP, and thus has a key role in neuronal plasticity (Marsden, 2013). Furthermore, PKA signaling is linked to age-related cognitive alterations, particularly concerning working memory (Ramos et al., 2003).

Besides the classical Gs activation leading to adenylyl cyclase stimulation, different reports in the literature have shown that CRHR1 is also linked to other intracellular signaling pathways, being able also to interact with  $G_q$ ,  $G_i$ ,  $G_o$ ,  $G_{i1/2}$  and  $G_z$  proteins in order to transmit signals to diverse effectors in an agonist and cell-specific manner (Dautzenberg and Hauger, 2002; Grammatopoulos et al., 2001). Thus, CRHR1 can modulate several signaling pathways and kinases besides PKA, including PKB, PKC, mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPK) and intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentrations in a tissue-specific and concentration-dependent manner (Grammatopoulos and Chrousos, 2002). The activation of MAPKs cascades by CRHR1 involves the participation of different signaling mediators (Brar et al., 2004). For instance, mechanisms including heterotrimeric G-Proteins, small Gproteins of the Ras family and G-protein-independent activation via B-arrestin-mediated receptor desensitization have been described, depending on the system analyzed. Furthermore, UCNI, another CRHR1 endogenous agonist, has been shown to couple CRHR1 to Gq/phospholipase C/IP3/PKC pathways. In other words, CRHR1 may actually activate diverse mechanisms in the same cellular context, exhibiting different spatiotemporal characteristics of MAPK activation (Arzt and Holsboer, 2006; Lefkowitz and Shenoy, 2005).

In the pituitary, studies on CRH-induced signaling, via the activation of CRHR1, have delineated the different MAPK signal transduction pathways activated, downstream of cAMP/PKA, that eventually lead to the modulation of transcription factors that regulate POMC expression (Timpl et al., 1998). Thus, using AtT-20 corticotrophs, CRH was shown to activate the transcription factors CREB, c-fos and the orphan receptor Nur77 through PKA (Hauger et al., 2006). Basically, PKA triggers mainly two transduction pathways: one calcium-independent and another dependent on calcium influx through voltage-dependent calcium channels located at the plasma membrane, which involve calmodulin kinase II. In addition, the extracellular signal regulated kinase 1/2 (ERK1/2) is also activated by CRH via CRHR1 in corticotrophs, involving the activity of small G-protein Rap1, the B-Raf kinase. ERK1/2 regulates the induction and activity of the target transcription factors that control POMC transcription in the pituitary (Kovalovsky et al., 2002).

However, CRHR1-mediated signal transduction seems to depend also on cellular context. For instance, it is known that cell lines resembling noradrenergic locus coeruleus neurons activate ERK1/2 via CRHR1 and cAMP/PKA (Cibelli et al., 2001). On the other hand, HEK293 cells expressing CRHR1 trigger cAMP through the activation of G $\alpha$ s without activating ERK1/2 (Grammatopoulos et al., 2000). Foremost, increases in ERK2 phosphorylation within the PFC have been observed after acute restraint stress (Meller et al., 2003). Interestingly, cAMP has been shown to have stimulatory and inhibitory effects on ERK1/2 activation depending on cellular context. Furthermore, additional studies have demonstrated that CRHR1-dependent activation of ERK1/2 phosphorylates numerous proteins along the limbic system, playing also a key role in memory, learning, and neuroplasticity (Refojo et al., 2005; Thomas and Huganir, 2004). Surprisingly, CRH-

mediated ERK1/2 activation displays high region specificity, as different hippocampal and amygdalar areas exhibit differential activation patterns upon CRH administration (Refojo et al., 2005). Taken together, these findings suggest that CRH activates, via the same receptor, diverse pathways in different cell types depending as well on the intracellular context (Arzt and Holsboer, 2006). However, information concerning CRHR1-dependent signaling on the PFC is still lacking.

## II.7. Aim

The main aim of the present thesis was to establish the role played by the CRH-CRHR1 system in the acute stress-induced executive dysfunction via PKA. In order to achieve this goal, the project was subsequently subdivided into different specific aims:

- 1. Determine the impact of acute stress in PFC-mediated cognition.
- 2. Identify the role played by the CRHR1 on the impact of acute stress in PFCmediated cognition.
- 3. Establish the effects of the intra-PFC CRH microinjection in PFC-mediated cognition.
- 4. Determine the effects of acute stress and intra-PFC CRH microinjection in PKA activity.
- 5. Identify the role of PKA on the impact of the intra-PFC CRH microinjection in PFC-mediated cognition.
#### **III. MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### **III.1.** Animals

The present experiments were performed using 12 weeks old male C57Bl6 mice, purchased from Charles River (Charles River Laboratories, France). In addition, mice expressing conditional CRHR1 alleles (CRHR1<sup>hex/hex</sup>) with 12 weeks of age were used to study the effects of CRHR1 deletion on the acute stress-induced PFC-dysfunction. As well, CRFcre x Ai9 x R1GFP mice were used to determine the expression of CRH and CRHR1 within PFC networks. Furthermore, CD1 mice were employed as aggressors during the acute social defeat paradigm. All rodents were single housed in polycarbonate cages (21 x 15 x 14cm), using standard bedding and nesting material, under a 12 hour light-dark cycle (lights on at 7am) with constant temperature ( $23 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C) and humidity ( $55 \pm 5\%$ ). Animals had free access to standard mouse chow (Altromin 1324, Altromin GmbH, Germany) and tap water. All experimental procedures were carried out in the animal facility of the Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry in Munich, Germany, in accordance with the European Communities Council Directive 2010/63/EU. All efforts were made to minimize animal suffering during the experiments. The protocols were approved by the committee for the Care and Use of Laboratory animals of the Government of Upper Bavaria, Germany.

#### **III.2.** Experimental Design

#### III.2.1. Experiment 1: Effects of acute stress in PFC-mediated cognition

#### III.2.1.1. Effects of acute stress in temporal order memory

To identify the effects of acute stress in temporal order memory, 23 C57Bl6 mice were employed. Once the animals arrived at the animal facility of the Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry, they remained undisturbed for 7 days in order to allow them to familiarize with the new environment. After this period, they were submitted to the habituation phase of the temporal order memory test, described in detail in the section III.4.1. After this, they were submitted to a single episode of acute social defeat stress (n=12), described in detail in the section III.3, or to control conditions (n=11). Basically, the mice were placed in the homecage of a CD1 resident for a period of 5 minutes, during which they engaged in agonistic confrontations. After this, the experimental animals were returned to their respective homecages and 5.5 hours later were submitted to the temporal order memory test. On sample phase I, animals were placed in the experimental apparatus containing two identical objects for 10 minutes. After 1 hour, they underwent the sample phase II, in which they were again placed in the same environment with two identical copies of a different object for 10 minutes. 1 hour later, the test phase took place by placing the rodents in the same context, containing one copy of the object used in sample phase I (Old object) and one copy of the object used in sample phase II (Recent object). The animals were allowed to explore both objects for 10 minutes and the time spent exploring each object was scored by an observer.

#### III.2.1.2. Effects of acute stress in reversal learning

The aim of this study was to establish the effects of acute stress in reversal learning. To accomplish this, 20 C57Bl6 mice were used. After their arrival at the animal facility of the Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry, the animals were single-housed and remained undisturbed in their homecage for a period of 7 days, in order to allow them to familiarize with the new housing conditions. Then, they were submitted to the reversal learning test as described in the section III.4.2. During the  $3^{rd}$  day, animals were submitted to a single episode of social defeat stress (n=11) or to control conditions (n=9), and 6 hours later underwent the reversal session. The number of mistakes made before the first correct response, together with the total trials to reach criteria were scored by the experimenter.

### III.2.2. Experiment 2: Visualization of the CRH- and CRHR1-containing neural circuits within the PFC networks

Aiming to visualize the CRH- and CRHR1-containing neural populations potentially responsible for the acute stress-induced PFC dysfunction, PFC tissue of a CRFcre x Ai9 x R1GFP mouse was submitted to the clarity protocol as described in detail in the section III.7. Briefly, the mouse was intracardially perfused and the PFC was extracted and incubated in Hydrogel solution. After 3 days, it was submitted to a clearing process and then to an immunofluorescence protocol against GFP. Posteriorly, sample overview and single cell images were acquired using LaVision Light Sheet software and an Olympus Confocal microscope respectively.

### III.2.3. Experiment 3: Effects of acute stress on CRHR1 mRNA expression in the PFC

In order to determine the role of acute stress in CRHR1 mRNA expression within the PFC, a total of 24 C57Bl6 mice were employed. Animals were submitted to a single episode of acute social defeat stress (n=12) or to control conditions (n=12), and 8 hours later were sacrificed. Their brains were extracted and frozen at -80°C. Posteriorly, coronal sections of these brains, containing the mPFC, were submitted to an *In Situ* Hybridization protocol to detect CRHR1 mRNA levels (See III.6.1).

### III.2.4. Experiment 4: Effects of intra-PFC CRHR1 deletion on the acute stressinduced executive dysfunction

### III.2.4.1. Effects of intra-PFC CRHR1 deletion on the impact of acute stress in temporal order memory

The goal of this experiment was to study the involvement of the intra-PFC CRHR1 on the impairment in temporal order memory caused by acute stress. With this purpose, 37 CRHR1<sup>hec/hec</sup> mice were submitted to stereotaxic surgery (described in detail in the section III.5.1) and received intra-PFC microinjections of an Adeno Associated Virus (AAV) containing either Cre or empty expression cassettes. After surgery, they remained in the animal facility for 30 days in order to allow a full expression of the transferred gene, leading to a CRHR1-CKO (Cre)(n=20) or -WT (Empty)(n=17) exclusively in the PFC. At the beginning, animals underwent the habituation phase of the temporal order memory. On the 7<sup>th</sup> day, rodents were subdivided in 4 groups and submitted to either control conditions (PFC CRHR1-CKO, n=10; WT, n=8), or to an acute social defeat (PFC CRHR1-CKO, n=10; WT, n=9), and 5.5 hours later underwent the temporal order memory test.

### III.2.4.2. Effects of intra-PFC CRHR1 deletion on the impact of acute stress in reversal learning

To further delineate the role played by the intra-PFC CRHR1 in the acute stress-induced deficits in PFC-mediated cognition, the mice used in the previous experiment were also employed to assess the effects of the intra-PFC CRHR1 deletion on the impact of acute stress in reversal learning. Once finished the temporal order memory test, the animals were left undisturbed for one week to allow them to recover from the experimental sessions.

Posteriorly, on the following 2 days, they were submitted to the training and retention sessions of the reversal learning test. Based on their performance, 4 animals had to be discarded for not reaching criteria in less than 30 trials. On the  $3^{rd}$  day, they were again subdivided in the same groups as before: control WT (n=7), control PFC CRHR1-CKO (n=9), stressed WT (n=7) and stressed PFC CRHR1-CKO (n=10), and submitted to either acute social defeat stress, or control conditions accordingly. After 6 hours, all rodents underwent the reversal session of the test. In order to confirm the successful deletion of the CRHR1, all animals were sacrificed after the experiment. Their brains were extracted and kept at -80°C. Coronal sections of these brains containing the PFC were then submitted to a CRHR1 autoradiography (See III.6.2 for more details) and the amount of CRHR1 binding was calculated for each group of animals.

### III.2.5. Experiment 5: Effects of intra-PFC CRH microinjections in PFC-mediated cognition

#### III.2.5.1. Effects of intra-PFC CRH microinjections in temporal order memory

This study was performed with the aim of establishing the effects of intra-PFC CRH microinjections in temporal order memory. To achieve this goal, 20 C57Bl6 mice were submitted to stereotaxic surgery and a guide cannula was implanted in the PFC. After the surgery, the animals were allowed to recover from the procedure during 1 week. Concluded this period, they underwent the habituation protocol for 7 days. The last day, rodents received intra-PFC microinjections of either ACSF (Vehicle, n=10) or CRH (0.6mM)(n=10), and 5.5 hours later were submitted to the temporal order memory test. Once finished the experimental procedure, the mice were sacrificed and their brains were extracted and frozen at -80°C. Coronal sections of these animals were then stained with cresyl violet to confirm the microinjection sites. Animals with microinjection points outside the PFC were discarded from the study.

#### III.2.5.2. Effects of intra-PFC CRH microinjections in reversal learning

In order to elucidate the effects of intra-PFC CRH microinjections in reversal learning, 21 C57Bl6 mice were submitted to stereotaxic surgery and a guide cannula was implanted in the PFC. The animals were left undisturbed for 1 week and posteriorly underwent the training and retention sessions of the reversal learning test. On the  $3^{rd}$  day, they received intra-PFC micronjections of either ACSF (n=10) or CRH (0.6mM)(n=11), and 6 hours

later were submitted to the reversal phase of the reversal learning test. After the experimental procedure, the mice were sacrificed and their brains were extracted and frozen at -80°C. Coronal sections of these animals were then stained with cresyl violet to confirm the microinjection sites. Animals with microinjection points outside the PFC were discarded from the study.

### III.2.6. Experiment 6: Effects of CRHR1 blockade on the intra-PFC CRH-induced executive dysfunction

### III.2.6.1. Effects of CRHR1 blockade on the intra-PFC CRH-induced deficits in temporal order memory

The goal of the present experiment was to determine the effects of the CRHR1 blockade on the impact of intra-PFC CRH in temporal order memory. With this aim, 35 C57Bl6 mice were submitted to stereotaxic surgery and a guide cannula was implanted in the PFC. The animals were allowed to recover from the procedure for 1 week and afterwards underwent the habituation phase of the temporal order memory test. Posteriorly, they received intra-PFC microinjections of ACSF (n=9), the CRHR antagonist Astressin  $(1\mu M)(n=8)$ , CRH (0.1  $\mu$ M)(n=10) or a combination of Astressin + CRH (n=8), and 5.5 hours later were submitted to the temporal order memory test.

### III.2.6.2. Effects of CRHR1 blockade on the intra-PFC CRH-induced deficits in reversal learning

To further explore the role of the CRHR1 in the CRH-induced deficits on PFC-mediated cognition, 33 C57Bl6 mice with a cannula implanted in the PFC were employed. They were submitted to the training and retention sessions of the reversal learning test and on the 3<sup>rd</sup> day received intra-PFC microinjections of ACSF (n=8), the CRHR antagonist Astressin  $(1\mu M)(n=8)$ , CRH (n=9) or a combination of Astressin + CRH  $(0.1 \mu M)(n=8)$ , and 6 hours later underwent the reversal phase of the test. Once finished the experimental procedure, the mice were sacrificed and their brains were extracted and frozen at -80°C. Coronal sections of these animals were then stained with cresyl violet to confirm the microinjection sites. Animals with microinjection points outside the PFC were discarded from the study.

#### III.2.7. Experiment 7: Effects of acute stress in the activity of protein kinase A

This study was made with the aim of establishing the effects of acute stress on the activity of the protein kinase A. To achieve this, 16 C57Bl6 mice were submitted to a single episode of acute social defeat stress or control conditions and 15 minutes later were sacrificed. The PFC was dissected and further processed in order to perform a Co-immunoprecipitation to detect PKA-R binding to PKA-C and PKA-C binding to CREB (For details see III.6.4). In addition, samples of these lysates were subsequently submitted to a western blot protocol to analyze pCREB levels.

### III.2.8. Experiment 8: Effects of intra-PFC CRH microinjections in the activity of protein kinase A

In order to determine the effects of intra-PFC CRH in the activity of PKA, 13 C57Bl6 mice were used. They were submitted to stereotaxic surgery and a guide cannula was implanted in the PFC. The animals were allowed to recover from the surgery for 1 week. Afterwards, they received intra-PFC microinjections of ACSF (n=6) or CRH (n=7), and 15 minutes later were sacrificed. Their PFC was dissected and further processed in order to perform a Co-immunoprecipitation to detect PKA-R binding to PKA-C and PKA-C binding to CREB. In addition, samples of these lysates were subsequently submitted to a western blot protocol to analyze pCREB levels.

### III.2.9. Experiment 9: Effects of PKA blockade on the intra-PFC CRH-induced executive dysfunction.

### III.2.9.1. Effects of PKA blockade on the intra-PFC CRH-induced deficits in temporal order memory

The goal of the present experiment was to clarify the effects of PKA blockade on the intra-PFC CRH-induced deficits in temporal order memory. To achieve this, 47 C57Bl6 mice were submitted to stereotaxic surgery and a guide cannula was implanted in the PFC. The animals were left undisturbed for 1 week after surgery. Afterwards, they were submitted to the habituation period of the temporal order memory test. On the 7<sup>th</sup> day, they received intra-PFC microinjections of ACSF (n=12), the PKA inhibitor Rp-cAMPS (n=12), CRH (n=11) or a combination of Rp-cAMPS + CRH (n=12), and 5.5 hours after the microinjections underwent the temporal order memory test.

### III.2.9.2. Effects of PKA blockade on the intra-PFC CRH-induced deficits in reversal learning

To further establish the role of PKA on the acute stress-induced, CRHR1-dependent, PFC dysfunction, 48 C57Bl6 mice with a cannula implanted in the PFC were used. They were submitted to the training and retention sessions of the reversal learning test. On the  $3^{rd}$  day, they received intra-PFC microinjections of ACSF (n=12), Rp-cAMPS (n=10), CRH (n=14) or a combination of Rp-cAMPS + CRH (n=12) and 6 hours later underwent the reversal session. After the experiment, the mice were sacrificed and their brains were extracted and frozen at -80°C. Coronal sections of these brains were then stained with cresyl violet to confirm the microinjection sites. Animals with microinjection points outside the PFC were discarded from the study.

#### **III.3.** Acute Social Defeat Stress Paradigm

Aggressive interactions between conspecifics can trigger the stress response and correspondingly activate the HPA axis. Therefore, the facilitation of aversive encounters constitutes a naturalistic approach that mimics threatening scenarios encountered in daily life. Hence, the acute social defeat stress paradigm was employed as a natural procedure to induce a stress reaction in rodents. It was performed as described by Wagner et al., 2013. CD1 mice were allowed to habituate to the social defeat cage for a period of 2 weeks before the experiments. Throughout this time, their latency to attack was measured every three days, by placing a novel C57Bl6 rodent in the defeat cage. Only those CD1 residents with latencies shorter than 5 seconds were selected for the experiments. During the acute social defeat stress, experimental animals were placed in the CD1 homecage and allowed to engage in agonistic confrontations with the CD1 resident for 5 minutes. The experimenter only interfered with the aggressive encounters in case of severe injury. In such cases, the procedure was stopped and the experimental animal was discarded from the study. Control animals were allowed to explore an empty novel cage similar to the defeat cage for 5 minutes.

#### **III.4.** Behavioral tests

#### **III.4.1. Temporal Order Memory Test**

The temporal order memory test constitutes a procedure designed to asses prefrontal cortex mediated episodic-like memory in mice (Barker et al., 2007). Basically, it demands recognition memory processes, requiring judgements about the previous occurrence of events through the use of recency information. Initially, in order to guarantee high exploratory rates of the different objects employed during the test, mice were submitted to a thorough habituation procedure. They were handled by the experimenter for 2 minutes during 7 consecutive days, in order to familiarize them to the experimenter and to the manipulation that takes place during the test. On the 3<sup>rd</sup> day of handling, the mice were habituated to the apparatus, consisting of a type III rodent cage 38.2 cm length X 22 cm wide X 15 cm high with a thin layer of clean sawdust. They were placed in this cage for 2 minutes during 2 consecutive days. After this, in order to decrease neophobia, a salt shaker was left overnight in their homecage. The next day, animals were familiarized to the presence of objects on the apparatus and the time schedule of the test. For this, 2 identical copies of an object, different from the one used during the test, were placed in opposite sides of the apparatus. The rodents were then submitted to 3 trials, each of 10 minutes, with an inter-trial interval of 60 minutes. During each trial, the mice were placed in the center of the open field and allowed to explore the objects for a period of 10 minutes.

Once concluded the habituation period, the animals underwent the temporal order memory test, composed by 3 different trials of 10 minutes each. The objects employed in this test correspond to the set of objects used by Knappman et al., 2010 built out of lego blocks (Figure 5A). The next day after the last habituation session, during the sample phase I, 2 identical copies of an object were placed in opposite sides of the cage. Each mouse was located in the center of the apparatus and allowed to explore the objects for 10 minutes. Then, it was removed from the cage and taken back to its home cage. After 1 hour, the sample phase II took place. For this, 2 identical copies of a different object were again placed in opposite sides of the apparatus and the animal was allowed to explore them for 10 minutes. Finished this period, the mouse was left in its home cage for another hour until the test phase. Then, a copy of the object used in sample phase I (Old) and a copy of the object used in sample phase II (Recent) were used. Both objects were located in opposite sides of the cage and the animal was allowed to explore them for 10 minutes (Figure 5B). The objects were counterbalanced between groups in order to avoid any bias caused by a

preference towards any of the objects. The time spent exploring each of the objects was scored. An animal with intact temporal order memory shows a preference for the old object, exhibiting a higher exploration time of this object when compared with the time spent exploring the recent object. The results are expressed in 2 different ways. On one hand, the percentage of exploration for each object is shown for each group of animals. In addition, another analysis is employed using a discrimination index between both objects that is calculated as follows:

DI (%) =  $100 \times \frac{\text{Time with the old object-Time with the recent object}}{\text{Total time with both objects}}$ 



#### Figure 5 Temporal Order Memory Test

A) Sample pictures of the objects employed on the temporal order memory test (Knapman et al., 2010). B) Schematic diagram depicting the different phases and time schedules that compose the temporal order memory test.

#### **III.4.2. Reversal Learning Test**

The reversal learning test constitutes a task employed to assess cognitive flexibility, defined as the ability to switch a predominant behavioral response for an opposite pattern, according to environmental feedback. This cognitive process has been shown to depend as well on the integrity of the PFC networks, and was used in the present study to determine the effects of stress, via the CRH-CRHR1 system, on PFC-related functions (Clark et al., 2004). This test was performed as described by Knappman et al., 2010. It is subdivided in 3 different sessions, distributed across 3 days. The experimental setup consists on a T-maze with 3 50cm long arms made of Plexiglass, mounted on a 50cm high table. The arms could be opened or closed individually using transparent Plexiglas pulley doors. In order to allow

the animals a clear distinction between each of the arms, their walls were covered with different color papers as follows: The start arm was covered in black paper with diagonal white stripes; one of the goal arms was covered in white paper and the opposite goal arm was covered in black. One of the goal arms was connected to an escape wire tunnel with a diameter of 5 cm. This tunnel led back to the homecage of the mouse, located on the floor to avoid any visual or olfactory cues at the center of the maze. The opposite goal arm was connected to a "dummy" tunnel, also made of chicken wire, with a dead end after 20 cm. This ensured that both arms looked identical from the center of the maze, where the mouse decides which arm to take.

On the training session, the animal was placed at the beginning of the start arm. Once the rodent arrived at the center zone, the pulley door from the start arm was closed, forcing the animal to choose one of the goal arms. After entering one of the goal arms, the corresponding pulley door was closed. If the mouse entered the correct arm, it was allowed to reach its homecage via the escape tunnel, which served as a reinforcer in itself. If the animal took the incorrect arm, once it entered the "dummy" tunnel it received a mildly aversive air-puff and was left in the tunnel for 30 sec. Afterwards, it was immediately placed back in its homecage. With this procedure, the rodents were trained to take the correct arm. The arm containing the escape tunnel was counterbalanced within groups to avoid a bias caused by a preference towards a specific arm. During each session multiple trials were performed, with an inter-trial interval of 5 min, until the mice reached 8 correct choices out of 10 consecutive trials. Once this learning criteria was achieved, the animal was left undisturbed in his homecage until the next day. If a rodent did not fulfill criteria before 30 trials, it was discarded from the study.

Given the short inter-trial interval, the rodents were retested 24 hours later to ensure a robust consolidation of the behavioral response. During this retention session, the same procedure was repeated until the mice reached criteria. On the 3<sup>rd</sup> day, the correct and incorrect arms were switched. Thus, during the reversal session, animals had to learn to take the opposite arm in order to reach their homecage (Figure 6). The same learning criteria was applied and scored. In addition, the number of perseverative errors, or mistakes made before the first correct response was also registered.



#### Figure 6 Schematic diagram of the experimental design of the reversal learning test.

The reversal learning test is subdivided into three different sessions, performed along three consecutive days: Training session, retention session and reversal session. During the training session, animals are trained to take the arm leading to their homecage. On the retention session, the same procedure is employed to ensure that the animals have consolidated the behavioral task. On the reversal session, the goal and dummy arms are exchanged and the animals must learn to take the opposite arm in order to reach their homecage (Knapman et al., 2010).

#### **III.5.** Intra-PFC microinjections

#### III.5.1. Stereotaxic Surgery

In order to perform intra-PFC microinjections according to the different experimental paradigms employed, mice were submitted to stereotaxic surgery. To begin, animals were shortly anesthesized with isoflurane. Immediately after, they were quickly placed under 2% isoflurane anaesthesia with a mask and fixated on the stereotaxic frame through the incisive and ear bars. Additionally, a heating pad was placed under the rodent to prevent a decrease in body temperature. Mice were then subcutaneously injected with 200 µl of metacam (concentration: 62.5 mg/ml) to increase analgesia. The head of the animals was trimmed and treated with iodine while the eyes were covered with ophthalmic ointment. An incision was performed on the skin above the skull using a scalpel and the subcutaneous tissue was moved aside. The surface of the skull was cleaned with oxygenated water in order to facilitate the visualization of the joints between the different bones. The coordinates of bregma and lambda were determined under the binocular. All microinjections were targeted at the PFC, encompassing Prelimbic and Infralimbic regions. The holes for unilateral cannula implantation/ bilateral AAV microinjections were drilled with a 0.6 mm drillhead using the following coordinates from bregma: anterior/posterior -1,94mm anterior to bregma and mediolateral, +0,4mm from the midline.

#### III.5.2. Intra-PFC AAV microinjection

The glass micropipettes employed for Adeno Associated Virus (AAV) microinjection were pulled from glass capillaries. The tip of the micropipette was cut off, and it was filled with 0.5 µl of the corresponding AAV (Empty or Cre). For the viral-induced CRHR1 deletion, an AAV1/2 vector from GeneDetect (New Zealand) containing CAG-HA-NLS-Crerecombinase-WPRE-BGH-polyA was employed. The same vector was used for the control groups (Empty group) containing the cassette CAG-Null/Empty-WPRE-BGH-polyA. The glass micropipette was slowly inserted in the PFC to a depth of 2.1mm from the brain surface. Once the appropriate dorsoventral coordinate was reached, the microinjection was performed slowly (8-10 minutes). After the injection, the glass micropipette remained for 5 min in order to prevent a large spread of the virus. Posteriorly, the same procedure was employed to perform the microinjection in the contralateral hemisphere. Finally, the scalp of the animals was sutured with 3 or 4 stitches, depending on the size of the incision. Animals were then placed back in their homecages and were supplied with tap water containing low doses of metacam (concentration: 2.5mg/ml) for postoperative analgesia during 1 week. After the surgery, the rodents remained for 4 weeks in the animal facility before the experiments to allow a robust infection by the virus.

#### III.5.3. Intra-PFC drug microinjection

In order to perform the different pharmacological approaches addressed in the present study, a 8mm stainless steel cannula was unilaterally implanted in the PFC during the stereotaxic surgery, according to the aforementioned antero-posterior and medio-lateral coordinates. The cannula was lowered to a depth of 1.1mm from the brain surface in order to prevent any lesion of the PFC. In addition, a second hole was drilled near the cannula and a small screw (length: 1.2 mm, diameter: 2 mm, custom-built from stainless steel, Paul Korth GmbH, Germany) was screwed to the surface of the skull to further fixate the protective helmet and the cannula. Both the screw and the cannula were fixed to the skull by the application of instant adhesive (UHU GmbH & Co. KG, Bühl, Germany) and dental cement (Paladur, Heraeus Kulzer GmbH, Germany). The dental cement covered the whole surface of the surgery, animals had a recovery period of 1 week before the corresponding experiments. To minimize suffering, they received further analgesic treatment for 5 days by diluting Metacam (concentration: 2.5mg/ml) in the drinking water.

#### III.5.4. Drugs

According to the pharmacological approach employed, animals received intra-PFC microinjections of the following drugs: CRH (0.6mM or 0.1 $\mu$ M; Ferring Arzneimittel), Astressin (1  $\mu$ M; provided by Prof. JeanE. Rivier, The Salk Institute.) or Rp-cAMPS (22mM; Sigma – Aldrich).

#### **III.6.** Analytics

#### III.6.1. In Situ Hybridization

Frozen brains of either stressed or control animals were sectioned in 18µm thick slices containing the PFC or motor and somatosensory cortex at -20°C in a cryostat, subsequently mounted on Super Frost slides, dried and stored at -80°C. *In Situ* hybridization was performed on these slices using a S UTP labeled ribonucleotide probe for the exon 12 of the CRHR1 (Nucleotides 1728-2428 of GenBank accession no. NM\_007762; Transcript size: 702 bp) as previously described (Refojo et al., 2011b). The slides were exposed to Kodak Biomax MR films (Eastman Kodak Co., Rochester, NY) and developed following 6 days of exposure. Autoradiographs were digitized, and expression was determined by optical densitometry utilizing the freely available NIH ImageJ software. The mean of two measurements of two different brain slices were calculated for each animal. The data was analyzed blindly, always subtracting the background signal of a nearby structure not expressing CRHR1 from the measurements.

#### III.6.2. CRHR1 Autoradiography

The CRHR1 autoradiography was performed according to Greetfeld et al., 2009. Glass slides containing PFC tissue sections were thawed and vacuum-dried overnight at 4°C. The next day, they were fixed in 0.1% PFA for 2 min and then incubated in 0.1% BSA for 45 min at room temperature. Two sets of PFC sections were prepared: One for CRHR1 binding and the other to detect non-specific binding. To detect CRHR1, slides were incubated in 0.5mM Antisauvagine (Sigma-Aldrich) for 60 min. Subsequently, they were incubated in 0.2 nM <sup>125</sup>I(Tyr<sup>0</sup>)Sauvagine (Perkin Elmer) for 2 hrs and then washed in a buffer containing 50mM TRIZMA- Base, 10mM MgCl<sub>2</sub> (6H<sub>2</sub>O), 2mM EGTA, 0.1mM Bacitracin, 100 KIU/ml Trasylol (Sigma-Aldrich) at 4°C, twice for 5 min. To quantify non-specific binding, a separate set of adjacent sections was incubated in 50 µM Sauvagine

(Sigma-Aldrich), 0.1%-BSA and 0.05 nm <sup>125</sup>I(Tyr<sup>0</sup>)Sauvagine for 2 hrs. Dried slices were placed on a Kodak Biomax MR Film (Eastman Kodak Co., Rochester, NY, USA) for 6 days. CRHR1 binding within the PFC was determined by optical densitometry using the freely available NIH ImageJ software. The mean of two measurements of two different brain slices were calculated for each animal. The data was analyzed blind to treatment (Empty vs Cre), always subtracting the background signal of a nearby structure not expressing CRHR1. Posteriorly, the results from CRHR1 binding were subtracted from the ones obtained in non-specific binding slides.

#### III.6.3. Western blot analysis

Protein extracts were obtained by lysing cells in lysis buffer containing 62.5 mM Tris, 2% sodium dodecyl sulfate and 10% sucrose, completed with protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma, P2714) and phosphatase inhibitor (Roche, 04906837001). After sonication and heating for 5 min at 95 °C, samples were separated by sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and blotted onto nitrocellulose membranes by electrotransfer. Membranes were blocked in Tris-buffered saline, supplemented with 0.05% Tween (Sigma, P2287) and 5% non-fat milk for 1 h at room temperature. Incubation with primary antibodies was carried over night at 4°C. Subsequently, membranes were washed and probed with respective fluorophore- or horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody for 3-5 h at room temperature. Detectable, immunoreactive bands were visualized either by excitation of respective fluorophore or by using ECL reagent (Millipore, WBKL0500). Detection and quantification of pCREB and pERK, the intensity was always referred to the signal intensity of total CREB and ERK respectively.

#### III.6.4. Co-immunoprecipitation (coIP)

Immunoprecipitations of endogenous PKA-C were performed in protein lysates of mouse PFC. The tissues were lysed in coIP buffer containing 20 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 100 mM NaCl, 1mM EDTA, 0.5% Igepal complemented with protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma, P2714), followed by incubation for 20 min at 4 °C while shaking on an overheadshaker. To clear the lysate, samples were centrifuged and protein concentration was determined. Overnight, 500 µg of lysates were incubated with 2 µg of PKA-C antibody at 4 °C. In all, 20 µL of protein G dynabeads (Invitrogen, 100-03D) were blocked with bovine serum albumin and subsequentially added to the lysate-antibody mix, followed by incubation at

4°C for 3 h. The beads were washed three times with ice-cold phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). The protein-antibody complexes were eluted with 60  $\mu$ L Laemmli loading buffer, while boiling for 5 min at 95 °C. In total, 2-5  $\mu$ L of immunoprecipitates or 15-20  $\mu$ g of tissue lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE and electro-transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes. Primary anti-CREB, anti-PKa-C and anti-PKa-RI were used for assessing protein complexes.

#### III.7. Clarity

In order to visualize the CRHR1- and CRH-containing networks within the PFC, the clarity procedure was employed. This method allows the transformation of intact tissue into a nanoporous hydrogel-hybridized form that is fully assembled but optically transparent. Mice were deeply anesthezised with Narcoren and then intracardially perfused first with 20ml of 0.1M PBS at 4°C and then with 20ml of a hydrogel solution containing 4% Acrylamide, 0.05% Bis, 0.25% VA-044 Initiator, 4% PFA and 0.1M PBS at 4°C. Immediately after, the brain was extracted and incubated in hydrogel solution at 4°C for 3 more days. Then, it was further incubated at 37°C for 3h, until the hydrogel solution had polymerized. After embedding, a 1mm thick section of the PFC was extracted using a brain matrix. Posteriorly, the tissue was submitted to a clearing process in which the sample was washed in a clearing solution containing 200mM Boric Acid and 4% Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate with a 8.5 pH for 2 days at 37°C. After another week of incubation in clearing solution at 37°C the sample was washed 2 times, of 24 hrs each, with PBST (0.1% TritonX in 0.1M PBS). Once concluded this procedure, the tissue was submitted to an immunofluorescence protocol. The tissue was incubated with the primary antibody against GFP in 0.1M PBS/0,3%TritonX for 24 hrs at 37°C followed by a 4 night incubation at 4°C. Later, the sample was washed in 0.1M PBS /0,1%TritonX for 2 days at room temperature. Images were acquired using the LaVision Light Sheet microscope to get an overview of the sample. Posteriorly, the sample was taken to an Olympus Confocal microscope in order to acquire single cell images.

#### **III.8.** Antibodies

The following primary antibodies were used: anti-CREB (1:1000, Rabbit, Cell Signaling Technology, #9197), anti-pCREB (1:1000, Rabbit, Cell Signaling Technology, #9198), anti-

pERK (1:1000, Cell Signaling Technology, #9101), anti-ERK (1:1000, Cell Signaling Technology, #9102), anti-PKa C $\alpha$  (1:1000, rabbit, Cell Signaling Technologies, #4782) and anti-PKa RI (1:1000, rabbit, Cell Signaling technologies, #5675), anti-actin (1:5000, Santa Cruz Biotechnologies, sc-1616), anti GFP (rabbit 1:50, fluorophore labeled Invitrogen #A21311). Secondary antibodies were donkey anti-goat immunoglobulin G, Alexa Flour 488 (1:7000, Life Technologies, A-11055), anti-rabbit immunoglobulin G, horseradish peroxidase-linked (1:10000, Cell Signaling Technologies, #7074) and anti-mouse immunoglobulin G, horseradish peroxidase-linked (1:10000, Cell Signaling Technologies, #7076).

#### **III.9.** Statistics

The data presented are shown as means + standard error of the mean, analyzed by the commercially available softwares GraphpadPrism 4 and SigmaStat 3.5. For within group comparisons (old vs recent object exploration; training vs retention session), a two-tailed paired *t* test was employed. To calculate differences between two independent groups (control vs stress; ACSF vs CRH), they were tested for normal distribution and when appropriately analyzed with a two-tailed unpaired *t* test was used. To analyze more complex datasets (2 x 2 design: CRHR1 allele x stress; CRH x Astressin; CRH x Rp-cAMPS), a 2-way ANOVA was performed, followed, when appropriate, by a Bonferroni *post hoc* test. As nominal level of significance p < 0.05 was accepted. Values outside the 95% confidence interval (CI) were defined as statistical outliers and excluded from the analyses.

#### IV. RESULTS

#### IV.1. Experiment 1: Effects of acute stress in PFC-mediated cognition

#### IV.1.1. Effects of acute stress in temporal order memory

Several lines of evidence have shown acute stress-induced impairments in different cognitive processes (Jakobsson and Gustavsson, 2014). However, few studies have focused on the PFC. Furthermore, the effects of acute stress on high-order memory processes remain largely unexplored. Particularly, temporal order memory encompasses recognition memory processes based on the relative familiarity of objects, using recency information. In both, humans and rodents, this cognitive process has been shown to depend on the integrity of PFC networks. In order to assess the effects of acute stress in such PFC-mediated task, the temporal order memory test was employed.

Animals were submitted to a single 5-minute episode of social defeat stress, and 5.5 hours later, underwent the sample phase I, sample phase II and test phase with an inter-phase interval of 1 hour (Figure 7A). The results obtained during the initial 2 sample phases show no significant differences on the exploration times between phase I and II for control and stressed animals, suggesting an absence of a preference towards the objects presented on each phase (Figure 7B). Additionally, there is no effect of stress on the exploration of the objects during sample phase I and II, indicating that both groups of animals explored similarly across the different stages of the test (Figure 7B). On the other hand, during the test phase, control animals exhibited a significantly increased exploration of the old object versus the recent object (paired t test,  $t_{(10)}$  = 5.402, p<0.001), whereas stressed animals showed no significant differences between the exploration of the old and recent objects, suggesting an impairment in temporal order memory. Furthermore, acute stress induced a significant reduction in the percentage of exploration of the old object (unpaired t test,  $t_{(21)}$  = 4.186, p<0.001) compared with control animals (Figure 7C). Accordingly, acute stress evoked a significant decrease in the discrimination ratio between the old and recent objects during the test phase (unpaired t test,  $t_{(21)}$  = 4.193, p<0.001), indicating an impairment in the ability to discriminate past events based on their relative recency (Figure 7D).



Figure 7 Effects of acute social defeat stress in temporal order memory.

A) Experimental design. O= Old Object; R= Recent Object. B) Exploration time of the objects presented during sample phases I and II of the temporal order memory test. C) Percentage of exploration of the old and recent objects presented during the test phase of the temporal order memory test. \*\*\* Significantly different within the same group, p<0.001; ### Significantly different from the percentage of exploration of the old object in control animals, p<0.001. D) Discrimination ratio between the old and recent objects presented during the test phase of the temporal order memory test. \*\*\* Significantly different from the control animals, p<0.001. CT= Control; ST= Stressed.

#### IV.1.2. Effects of acute stress in reversal learning

In order to further delineate the impact of acute stress in executive functions, a separate batch of animals was submitted to the training and retention sessions of the reversal learning test. On the 3<sup>rd</sup> day, rodents underwent a single episode of social defeat stress, and 6 hours later went through the reversal session of the test (Figure 8**¡Error! No se encuentra el origen de la referencia.**A). The data show a significant decrease in the trials to reach criteria between the training and retention sessions (paired *t* test,  $t_{(19)}$ = 2.923, p<0.05 ), indicating a robust consolidation of the behavioral response (Figure 8**¡Error! No se encuentra el origen de la referencia.**B). Additionally, stress has no effect in the number of perseverative errors, or mistakes made before making the first correct response, during the reversal session of the test (Figure 8**¡Error! No se encuentra el origen de la referencia.**B). However, acute stress induces a significant increase in the number of trials to reach criteria during the reversal phase (unpaired *t* test,  $t_{(18)}$ = 2.238, p<0.05), indicating

an alteration in the ability to switch a predominant behavioral pattern for an opposite one, according to environmental feedback (Figure 8D).



Figure 8 :Effects of acute social defeat stress on reversal learning.

A) Experimental design. B) Trials to reach criteria during the training and retention session. \*\* Significantly different from the training session, p<0.01. C) Number of perseverative errors during the reversal session. D) Trials to reach criteria during the reversal session. CT= Control; ST= Stressed. \* Significantly different from the control group, p<0.05.

# IV.2. Experiment 2: Visualization of the CRH- and CRHR1-containing neural circuits within the PFC networks

The robust presence of CRH-containing neurons in the PVN, together with the strong expression of CRHR1 in the anterior pituitary, have nourished a series of experiments elucidating the role played by the CRH-CRHR1 system in the fast activation of the HPA axis, leading to the initiation of the stress response (Bonfiglio et al., 2013). Furthermore, additional studies focusing on the same neurochemical system have provided evidence of several extra-hypothalamic CRH synthesis sites, including basolateral amygdala (BLA) and cortex. As well, similar approaches have clearly identified CRHR1-expressing neurons outside the HPA axis, along the entire brain, encompassing cortex, hippocampus, olfactory bulb and several other relevant regions (Reul and Holsboer, 2002). Such findings suggest that besides playing a key role in HPA axis stimulation, the CRH-CRHR1 system can

actually constitute an essential contributor to several stress-induced cognitive alterations, including PFC-mediated cognitive functions. However, in order to further address this hypothesis, it is essential to clearly identify the presence of CRH- and CRHR1-expressing neurons within the PFC networks. To achieve this goal, PFC sections of animals belonging to the CRFcre x Ai9 x R1GFP mouseline, expressing the red fluorescent protein tdTomato in CRH neurons and GFP in CRHR1-expressing neurons, were submitted to the clarity protocol (see III.7).

The results obtained show that both, CRH and CRHR1, are widely expressed across different prosencephalic cortical regions and PFC subregions, including AC, PL and IL. In this regard, the images acquired exhibit a robust expression of CRH and CRHR1 along the midline portion of these PFC-related structures. Whereas CRHR1 expression seems to be densely clustered, CRH-expressing cell bodies present a wider distribution across the medio-lateral axis, scattering towards more medial and lateral aspects of the aforementioned regions. In addition, the present findings show that despite the regional convergence of CRH and CRHR1, there is a well-defined, intra-regional spatial segregation between both cell-types. As a matter of fact, there is no overlapping between CRH and CRHR1-expressing cells, supporting the notion of CRH-CRHR1 microcircuits within PFC networks, which could be responsible for the acute stress-induced, CRHR1-mediated, executive dysfunction (Figure 9).

## IV.3. Experiment 3: Effects of acute stress on CRHR1 mRNA expression in the PFC

Acute stress-induced cognitive alterations have been shown to depend on the activity of several stress-related neurochemical systems. Thus, previous reports have established the role of the CRH system, particularly through CRHR1 signaling, in stress-induced morphological and cognitive alterations in the hippocampus (Wang et al., 2013). To establish the potential relevance of CRHR1 in the executive dysfunction observed after acute stress, animals were submitted to acute social defeat stress or control conditions and sacrificed 8 hours later (Figure 10A). Brain sections of these animals, containing either the PFC or motor and somatosensory cortex, were then submitted to an *In Situ* Hybridization protocol to detect changes in CRHR1 mRNA levels. The results obtained show significant increases in CRHR1 mRNA in the cingulate cortex (unpaired *t* test,  $t_{(22)}$ = 2.978, p<0.01),

PL (unpaired t test,  $t_{(22)}$ = 2.592, p<0.05) and IL (unpaired t test,  $t_{(22)}$ = 3.009, p<0.01) regions (Figure 10B, C and D). Moreover, no effects on CRHR1 mRNA expression were detected in the motor and somatosensory cortex (Figure 10E, F and G), suggesting that acute stress induces a region-specific CRHR1 upregulation in the PFC, and pointing to its potential involvement in the acute stress-evoked executive dysfunction.



Figure 9 Visualization of the CRH- and CRHR1-containing neural circuits within the PFC networks.

Upper part: Schematic diagram of a coronal section depicting the region of interest (mPFC) in a dashed square. Representative confocal images taken from the mPFC showing CRHR1- and CRH-immunoreactive neurons. Arrows represent CRHR1-expressing neurons whereas arrowheads show CRH-containing cell bodies. Scalebars: Left column 200µm; Right column 30µm.



Figure 10 Effects of acute social defeat stress on CRHR1 mRNA expression in the PFC.

A) Experimental design. B) CRHR1 *In Situ* Hybridization sample pictures of coronal sections belonging to stressed and control animals, containing the PFC. C) Schematic design of a coronal section depicting different mPFC subregions: Cingulate (Blue), Prelimbic (Green) and Infralimbic (Red). D) Quantification of the CRHR1 mRNA levels after acute social defeat in Cingulate (Cg), Prelimbic (PrL) and Infralimbic (IL) areas. \* Significantly different from the control group, p<0.05. \*\* Significantly different from the control group, p<0.01. E) CRHR1 In Situ Hybridization sample pictures of coronal sections belonging to stressed and control animals, containing the Somatosensory and Motor regions. F) Schematic design of a coronal section depicting the Somatosensory (Dark gray) and Motor (Light gray) areas. G) Quantification of the CRHR1 mRNA levels after acute social defeat in the Somatosentory (S1) and Motor (M1) regions.

# IV.4. Experiment 4: Effects of intra-PFC CRHR1 deletion on the acute stress-induced executive dysfunction

IV.4.1. Effects of intra-PFC CRHR1 deletion on the impact of acute stress in temporal order memory

To further establish the role played by the CRHR1 in the acute stress-induced executive dysfunction, we used a genetic approach employing an adeno-associated virus (AAV) gene transfer strategy. Summarizing, CRHR1<sup>loc/P/loc/P</sup> mice (Figure 11A) received intra-PFC microinjections of AAV containing either Cre (referred to as PFC CRHR1-CKO hereafter) or empty (referred to as WT hereafter) expression cassettes. One month after surgery, animals were submitted to a single episode of acute social defeat stress or control conditions and 5.5 hours later underwent the temporal order memory test (Figure 11B). Neither acute stress nor the PFC-specific CRHR1 knockout altered the exploratory activity of the animals during sample phase I or II. In addition, there are no significant differences in object exploration between sample phase I and II for each group of animals, indicating an equivalent exploratory activity across all groups (Figure 11C).

Concerning temporal order memory, the statistical analysis showed a significantly increased percentage of exploration of the old object vs the recent object for control WT (Paired t test,  $t_{(7)}$  = 3.451, p<0.05), control PFC CRHR1-CKO (Paired t test,  $t_{(9)}$  = 3.746, p<0.01) and stressed PFC CRHR1-CKO rodents (Paired t test,  $t_{(9)}$  = 7.572, p<0.0001). On the other hand, stressed WT mice exhibited an opposite pattern, exploring more the recent object (Paired t test,  $t_{(8)}$  = 2.339, p<0.05). Additionally, the 2-way ANOVA revealed a significant effect of stress (F<sub>3,33</sub>=9.235, p<0.01), CRHR1 (F<sub>3,33</sub>= 14.464, p<0.001) and stress x CRHR1 interaction ( $F_{3,33}$ = 12.891, p<0.01). Bonferroni *post-hoc* test showed a significant decrease in the percentage of exploration of the old object for the stressed WT compared with the control WT (p<0.001). As well, post hoc testing revealed that stressed PFC CRHR1-CKO animals explored significantly more the old object compared to stressed WT mice (p<0.001) (Figure 11D). Furthermore, the 2-way ANOVA showed an effect of stress (F<sub>3,33</sub>=9.223, p<0.01), CRHR1 (F<sub>1,33</sub>= 14.457, p<0.001) and stress x CRHR1 interaction  $(F_{3,33} = 12.906, p < 0.01)$  in the discrimination ratio between the old and recent object during the test phase of the temporal order memory test. Subsequent post hoc testing showed a significant decrease in the stressed WT compared with the control WT (p<0.001), accompanied by a significant increase in the stressed PFC CRHR1-CKO, compared with the stressed WT group (p < 0.001) (Figure 11E).



Figure 11 Effects of intra-PFC CRHR1 deletion on the impact of acute stress in temporal order memory.

A) Schematic diagram of the targeted manipulation of the CRHR1 locus. Restriction maps of the CRHR1 allele with and without endogenous flox signal peptide following Cre-mediated excision of the loxP-flanked exon 2. B) Experimental design. O= Old Object; R= Recent Object. C) Exploration times of the objects presented during the sample phases I and II of the temporal order memory test. D) Percentage of exploration of the old and recent objects presented during the test phase of the temporal order memory test. \* Significantly different within the same group, p<0.05. \*\* Significantly different within the same group, p<0.01. \*\*\* Significantly different within the same group, p<0.001. \$\$\$ Significantly different from the percentage of exploration of the old object in the CT-WT group, p<0.001. ### Significantly different from the percentage of exploration of the old and recent objects presented during the test phase of the CT-WT group, p<0.001. ### Significantly different from the percentage of exploration of the old and recent objects presented during the test phase of the CT-WT group, p<0.001. ### Significantly different from the percentage of exploration of the old and recent objects presented during the test phase of the temporal order memory test. \*\*\* Significantly different from the CT-WT group, p<0.001. E) Discrimination ratio between the old and recent objects presented during the test phase of the temporal order memory test. \*\*\* Significantly different from the CT-WT group, p<0.001. ### Significantly different from the ST-WT group, p<0.001. CT= Control; ST= Stressed; WT= Wildtype CRHR1 allele; KO= Knockout CRHR1 allele.

## IV.4.2. Effects of intra-PFC CRHR1 deletion on the impact of acute stress in reversal learning

In addition, the same genetic strategy was employed to assess the role played by the CRHR1 in the acute stress-induced deficits in reversal learning. Thus, PFC CRHR1-CKO and WT animals underwent the training and retention sessions of the reversal learning test. On the 3<sup>rd</sup> day, they were submitted either to an acute social defeat stress episode or to control conditions, and 6 hours later, were tested in the reversal session (Figure 13A). Both WT (paired *t* test,  $t_{(13)}$ = 3.478, p<0.01) and PFC CRHR1-CKO (paired *t* test,  $t_{(18)}$ =2.970, p<0.01) showed a significant reduction in the number of trials to reach criteria between the

training and retention sessions (Figure 13B). Furthermore, the 2-way ANOVA revealed a significant effect of stress (F<sub>(3,29)</sub>=19.421, p<0.001), CRHR1 (F<sub>(3,29)</sub>=12.714, p<0.01) and stress x CRHR1 interaction (F<sub>(3,29)</sub>=10.792, p<0.01) in the number of perseverative errors made during the reversal session. Subsequent post hoc testing showed a significant increase in the stressed WT compared with the control WT rodents (p<0.001), accompanied by a significant decrease in the stressed PFC CRHR1-CKO compared to stressed WT animals (p<0.001) (Figure 13C). Additionally, the 2-way ANOVA revealed a significant effect of stress (F<sub>(3,29)</sub>=9.395, p<0.01), CRHR1 (F<sub>(3,29)</sub>=7.440, p<0.05) and stress x CRHR1 interaction ( $F_{(3,29)}$ =17.291, p<0.001) in the trials to reach criteria during the reversal session. Subsequent *post hoc* testing showed a significant increase in the stressed WT compared with the control WT mice (p < 0.001) accompanied by a significant decrease in the stressed PFC CRHR1-CKO compared with the stressed WT group (p<0.001) (Figure 13D). Posteriorly, PFC coronal sections of all animals were submitted to a CRHR1 autoradiography to detect the effectiveness of the CRHR1-CKO (Figure 13E). The statistical analysis revealed a significant decrease in CRHR1 binding in the PFC of rodents that received AAV-Cre microinjections (unpaired t test,  $t_{(34)}$ =4.620, p<0.0001)(Figure 13 F).

### IV.5. Experiment 5: Effects of intra-PFC CRH microinjections in PFCmediated cognition

#### IV.5.1. Effects of intra-PFC CRH microinjections in temporal order memory

According to the present findings, the CRHR1 plays a crucial role in the PFC-dysfunction caused by acute stress. Thus, its activation by its main ligand, CRH, must also constitute a key component of the effects initiated by stress. However, little is known about the activity of CRH, and its effects upon cognition, within the PFC networks. In order to further contribute in this direction, we performed a pharmacological approach to establish the effects of intra-PFC CRH on PFC-mediated cognitive processes. Accordingly, C57Bl6 mice were submitted to stereaotaxic surgery and a guide cannula was implanted in the right PFC, encompassing PL and IL regions. One week after surgery, animals received an intra-PFC microinjection of either ACSF or CRH. 5.5 hours after microinjection, the rodents were submitted to the temporal order memory test (Figure 13A). The results obtained during the 2 sample phases show no significant differences on the exploration times between phase I and II for animals with intra-PFC ACSF and CRH microinjections, suggesting an absence



Figure 12 Effects of intra-PFC CRHR1 deletion on the impact of acute stress in reversal learning.

A) Experimental design. B) Trials to reach criteria during the training and retention session. \*\* Significantly different from the training session within the same group, p<0.01. C) Number of perseverative errors during the reversal session. D) Trials to reach criteria during the reversal session. \*\*\* Significantly different from the CT-WT group, p<0.001. ### Significantly different from the ST-WT group, p<0.001. WT= Wildtype CRHR1 allele; KO= knockout CRHR1 allele; CT= Control; ST= Stressed. E) CRHR1 autoradiography sample pictures of coronal sections belonging to CRHR1loxP/loxP animals that received intra-PFC AAV microinjections containing either Empty or Cre expression cassettes. F) Quantification of the intra-PFC CRHR1 binding detected through autoradiography. \*\*\* Significantly different from animals with intra-PFC empty-AAV microinjections, p<0.0001.

of a preference towards the objects presented on each phase (Figure 13B). Additionally, there is no effect of CRH on the exploration of the objects during sample phase I and II, indicating that both groups of rodents explored similarly across the different stages of the test (Figure 13B). On the other hand, during the test phase, mice with intra-PFC ACSF microinfusions exhibited a significantly decreased exploration of the old object versus the recent object (paired *t* test,  $t_{(9)}$ =2.792, p<0.05), whereas CRH-pretreated animals showed an opposite pattern, exhibiting a significant increase in the exploration of the recent versus the old object (paired t test,  $t_{(9)}$ =3.248, p<0.05), suggesting an impairment in temporal order memory. Furthermore, intra-PFC CRH administration induced a significant reduction in

the percentage of exploration of the old object (unpaired t test,  $t_{(18)}$ =4.177, p<0.001) compared with animals that received intra-PFC ACSF microinjections (Figure 13C). Accordingly, intra-PFC CRH microinfusions evoked a significant decrease in the discrimination ratio between the old and recent objects during the test phase (unpaired t test,  $t_{(18)}$ = 4.910, p<0.001), indicating alterations in the ability to discriminate past events based on their relative recency (Figure 13D).



Figure 13: Effects of intra-PFC CRH microinjections in temporal order memory.

A) Experimental design. O= Old Object; R= Recent Object. B) Exploration time of the objects presented during sample phases I and II of the temporal order memory test. C) Percentage of exploration of the old and recent objects presented during the test phase of the temporal order memory test. \* Significantly different from the percentage of exploration of the old object within the same group, p<0.05; ### Significantly different from the percentage of exploration of the old object in animals with intra-PFC ACSF, p<0.001. D) Discrimination ratio between the old and recent objects presented during the test phase of the temporal order memory test. \*\*\* Significantly different from rodents with intra-PFC ACSF microinfusions, p<0.001.

#### IV.5.2. Effects of intra-PFC CRH microinjections in reversal learning

Additionally, a separate batch of animals underwent stereotaxic surgery and a guide cannula was implanted in the PFC. One week later, they were submitted to the training and retention sessions of the reversal learning test. The next day, they received intra-PFC microinjections of either ACSF or CRH, and 6 hours later underwent the reversal session of the test (Figure 14A). The data show a significant decrease in the trials to reach criteria between the training and retention sessions (paired *t* test,  $t_{(20)}$ = 2.490, p<0.05), indicating a

robust consolidation of the behavioral response (Figure 14B). Furthermore, intra-PFC CRH microinfusions had no significant effect in the number of perseverative errors or mistakes made before making the first correct response, during the reversal session of the test (Figure 14C). However, CRH pretreatment induced a significant increase in the number of trials to reach criteria during the reversal phase (unpaired *t* test,  $t_{(19)}$ =2.114, p<0.05), indicating an alteration in the ability to switch a predominant behavioral pattern for an opposite one, according to environmental feedback (Figure 14D).





A) Experimental design. B) Trials to reach criteria during the training and retention session. \* Significantly different from the training session, p<0.05. C) Number of perseverative errors during the reversal session. D) Trials to reach criteria during the reversal session. \* Significantly different from the ACSF group, p<0.05.

# IV.6. Experiment 6: Effects of CRHR1 blockade on the intra-PFC CRH-induced executive dysfunction

## IV.6.1. Effects of CRHR1 blockade on the intra-PFC CRH-induced deficits in temporal order memory

In order to further delineate the role of the CRHR1 in the CRH-induced impairments in PFC-related cognitive processes, C57Bl6 rodents were submitted to stereotaxic surgery and a guide cannula was implanted in the PFC. One week after surgery, animals received intra-

PFC microinjections of ACSF, the CRHR antagonist Astressin, CRH or Astressin + CRH. After 5.5 hours, they underwent the temporal order memory test (Figure 15A). None of the microinjected drugs altered the exploratory activity of the mice during sample phase I or II. In addition, there are no significant differences in object exploration between sample phase I and II for each group of animals, indicating an equivalent exploratory activity across all groups (Figure 15B). Concerning temporal order memory, the statistical analysis showed a significantly increased percentage of exploration of the old object vs the recent object for rodents that received Astressin (Paired t test,  $t_{(7)}$  = 3.073, p<0.05) and Astressin + CRH (Paired t test,  $t_{(7)}$  = 6.774, p<0.001). On the other hand, CRH-pretreated mice exhibited an opposite pattern, exploring more the recent object (Paired t test,  $t_{(9)}$ =5.949, p<0.001). Additionally, the 2-way ANOVA revealed a significant effect of Astressin ( $F_{3,32}$ =13.415, p<0.001), and Astressin x CRH interaction ( $F_{3,32}$ =19.507, p<0.001). Bonferroni post-boc test showed a significant decrease in the percentage of exploration of the old object for the CRH-pretreated mice compared with the ACSF group (p<0.001). As well, post hoc testing revealed that animals that received intra-PFC Astressin + CRH explored significantly more the old object compared to the CRH group (p<0.001) (Figure 15C). Furthermore, the 2way ANOVA showed an effect of Astressin ( $F_{3,32}$ =13.529, p<0.001), and Astressin X CRH interaction ( $F_{3,32}$ =19.450, p<0.001) in the discrimination ratio between the old and recent object during the test phase of the temporal order memory test. Subsequent post hoc testing showed a significant decrease in the CRH pretreated rodents compared with the ACSF (p<0.001), accompanied by a significant increase in Astressin + CRH mice compared with animals that received intra-PFC CRH microinjections (p<0.001) (Figure 15D).

### IV.5.2 Effects of CRHR1 blockade on the intra-PFC CRH-induced deficits in reversal learning

In addition, the same pharmacological strategy was employed to assess the role played by the CRHR1 in the intra-PFC CRH-induced deficits in reversal learning. Thus, animals with a cannula implanted in the PFC underwent the training and retention sessions of the reversal learning test. On the 3<sup>rd</sup> day, they received intra-PFC microinjections of ACSF, Astressin, CRH or Astressin + CRH, and 6 hours later were tested in the reversal session (Figure 16A). All animals exhibited a significant reduction in the number of trials to reach criteria between the training and retention sessions (Paired *t* test,  $t_{(34)}$ =5.681, p<0.0001) (Figure 16B). Furthermore, the 2-way ANOVA revealed a significant CRH x Astressin interaction (F<sub>(3,29)</sub> = 4.218, p<0.05) in the number of perseverative errors made during the



### Figure 15: Effects of CRHR1 blockade on the intra-PFC CRH-induced deficits in temporal order memory.

A) Experimental design. O= Old Object; R= Recent Object. B) Exploration times of the objects presented during the sample phases I and II of the temporal order memory test. C) Percentage of exploration of the old and recent objects presented during the test phase of the temporal order memory test. \* Significantly different within the same group, p<0.05. \*\*\* Significantly different within the same group, p<0.05. \*\*\* Significantly different within the same group, p<0.05. \*\*\* Significantly different within the same group, p<0.001. \$\$\$ Significantly different from the percentage of exploration of the old object in the ACSF group, p<0.001. ### Significantly different from the percentage of exploration of the old object in the CRH group, p<0.001. AST= Astressin. D) Discrimination ratio between the old and recent objects presented during the test phase of the temporal order memory test. \*\*\* Significantly different from the CRH – No Ast group, p<0.001. ### Significantly different from the No CRH-No Ast group, p<0.001. Ast= Astressin.

reversal session. Subsequent *post hoc* testing showed a significant increase in the animals that received CRH compared with the ACSF group (p<0.05), accompanied by a significant decrease in the Ast + CRH compared to the CRH animals (p<0.05) (Figure 16C). Additionally, the 2-way ANOVA revealed a significant effect of Astressin ( $F_{(3,32)}$ =15.994, p<0.001), CRH ( $F_{(3,32)}$ =8.555, p<0.01) and Astressin x CRH interaction ( $F_{(3,32)}$ =17.245, p<0.001) in the trials to reach criteria during the reversal session. Subsequent *post hoc* testing showed a significant increase in the CRH-pretreated mice compared with the ACSF group (p<0.001), accompanied by a significant decrease in rodents with Astressin + CRH microinjections compared with the CRH group (p<0.001) (Figure 16D).



Figure 16: Effects of CRHR1 blockade on the intra-PFC CRH-induced deficits in reversal learning.

A) Experimental design. B) Trials to reach criteria during the training and retention session. \*\*\* Significantly different from the training session, p<0.0001. C) Number of perseverative errors during the reversal session. D) Trials to reach criteria during the reversal session. ### Significantly different from the No CRH-No Ast group, p<0.001. \*\*\* Significantly different from CRH-No Ast, p<0.001. Ast= Astressin.

# IV.7. Experiment 7: Effects of acute stress in the activity of protein kinase A

Several lines of evidence have indicated diverse molecular cascades activated by stress within the PFC, particularly mediated through PKA and PKC. The PKA constitutes a tetramer assemble composed by two regulatory subunits (PKA-R) and two catalytic subunits (PKA-C). Upon activation by cAMP, the complex dissociates and the PKA-Cs are released and translocated into the nucleus. One of PKA-C's main functions is protein synthesis, which is accomplished through the phosphorylation of the transcription factor CREB within the nucleus. To determine the signaling pathway stimulated by acute stress within the PFC networks, C57Bl6 mice were submitted to control conditions or a single episode of acute social defeat stress for 5 minutes. 15 minutes later, animals were sacrificed and their PFC was subsequently prepared and processed in order to analyze protein-protein interactions, within the PKA pathway, through CoIP (Figure 17A). The results obtained show that acute stress induces a significant decrease in the PKA-R to PK-C binding

(unpaired *t* test,  $t_{(14)}$ =2.246, p<0.05) (Figure 17B and C). In addition, stressed rodents exhibit a significant increase in the interaction between PKA-C and CREB (unpaired *t* test,  $t_{(14)}$ =2.427, p<0.05), suggesting the activation of the PKA cascade (Figure 17D). Moreover, to further confirm the effects of acute stress on PKA activity, PFC tissue of control and stressed mice was submitted to a western blot protocol to detect changes in CREB phosphorylation after stress. The data revealed a significant increase in the levels of pCREB in stressed animals (unpaired *t* test,  $t_{(14)}$ =2.368, p<0.05)( **¡Error! No se encuentra el origen de la referencia.**E and F). Interestingly, there is a lack of significant effects on the levels of pERK, another signaling pathway usually activated by stress and related to PKA (Figure 17G and H). This indicates a specific stimulation of the PKA-CREB pathway in the PFC following a single episode of stress.

# IV.8. Experiment 8: Effects of intra-PFC CRH microinjections in the activity of protein kinase A

To further determine the signaling pathway stimulated by acute stress, via CRHR1, within the PFC networks, a group of C57Bl6 mice were submitted to stereotaxic surgery and a guide cannula was implanted in the PFC. One week after surgery, they received intra-PFC microinjections of either ACSF or CRH and were sacrificed 15 minutes later. Their PFC was subsequently prepared and processed in order to analyze protein-protein interactions, within the PKA pathway, through CoIP (Figure 18A). The results obtained show that intra-PFC CRH induces a significant decrease in the PKA-R to PK-C binding (unpaired t test,  $t_{(11)}$ =2.344, p<0.05) (Figure 18B and C). In addition, CRH-pretreated rodents exhibit a significant increase in the interaction between PKA-C and CREB (unpaired t test,  $t_{(11)}$ =2.266, p<0.05), suggesting the activation of the PKA cascade (Figure 18D). Moreover, to further confirm the effects of intra-PFC CRH on PKA activity, PFC tissue of ACSF and CRH pretreated mice was submitted to a western blot protocol to detect changes in CREB phosphorylation after CRH. The data revealed a significant increase in the levels of pCREB after CRH microinjections (unpaired t test,  $t_{(11)}=2.209$ , p<0.05)(Figure 18E and F). Similarly to the results observed after acute stress, there is a lack of significant effects on the levels of pERK (Figure 18G and H). This indicates a specific stimulation of the PKA-CREB pathway in the PFC following a single CRH microinjection.





A) Experimental design. B) Sample pictures depicting the results of the co-immunoprecipitation performed to detect PKA-C to PKA-R and PKA-C to CREB binding after acute stress. C) PKA-R to PKA-C binding D) PKA-C to CREB binding. E) Sample pictures depicting the results of the western blot performed to detect changes in pCREB levels after acute stress. F) Levels of pCREB after acute stress. \* Significantly different from control animals, p<0.05. G) Sample pictures depicting the results of the western blot performed to detect changes in pCREB to detect changes in pERK levels after acute stress. H) Levels of pERK after acute stress. CT= Control; ST= Stressed.



#### Figure 18: Effects of intra-PFC CRH microinjections in the activity of protein kinase A.

A) Experimental design. B) Sample pictures depicting the results of the co-immunoprecipitation performed to detect PKA-C to PKA-R and PKA-C to CREB binding after intra-PFC CRH administration. C) PKA-R to PKA-C binding D) PKA-C to CREB binding. E) Sample pictures depicting the results of the western blot performed to detect changes in pCREB levels after intra-PFC CRH. F) Levels of pCREB after intra-PFC CRH. \* Significantly different from control animals, p<0.05. G) Sample pictures depicting the results of the western blot performed to detect changes in pERK levels after intra-PFC CRH. H) Levels of pERK after intra-PFC CRH.

### IV.9. Experiment 9: Effects of PKA blockade on the intra-PFC CRHinduced executive dysfunction.

### IV.9.1. Effects of PKA blockade on the intra-PFC CRH-induced deficits in temporal order memory

Few reports in the literature have demonstrated the involvement of PKA in stress-induced PFC disruption. Moreover, such studies still lack a causal link between stress-related neurochemical systems, PKA activity and executive dysfunction. Aiming to fill such gap, I submitted C57Bl6 mice to stereotaxic surgery and implanted a guide cannula in the PFC. One week after surgery, animals received intra-PFC infusions of ACSF, the PKA inhibitor Rp-cAMPS, CRH or CRH + Rp-cAMPS. After 5.5 hours, they underwent the sample phase I and II of the temporal order memory test (Figure 19A). None of the microinjected drugs altered the exploratory activity of the mice during sample phase I or II. In addition, there are no significant differences in object exploration between sample phase I and II for each group of animals, indicating an equivalent exploratory activity across all groups (Figure 19B). Regarding temporal order memory, the statistical analysis showed a significantly increased percentage of exploration of the old object vs the recent object for rodents that received ACSF (Paired t test,  $t_{(11)}$ =2.483, p<0.05), Rp-cAMPS (Paired t test,  $t_{(11)}$ =5.511, p < 0.001) and a combination of CRH + Rp-cAMPS (Paired t test,  $t_{(11)} = 6.535$ , p < 0.0001). On the other hand, CRH-pretreated mice exhibited an opposite pattern, exploring more the recent object (Paired t test,  $t_{(10)}$ =8.987, p<0.0001). Additionally, the 2-way ANOVA revealed a significant effect of Rp-cAMPS (F<sub>3,43</sub>=39.366, p<0.001), CRH (F<sub>3,43</sub>=13.286, p<0.001) and RpcAMPS x CRH interaction ( $F_{3,43}$ =28.128, p<0.001). Bonferroni post-hoc test showed a significant decrease in the percentage of exploration of the old object for the CRH-pretreated compared with the ACSF group (p<0.001). As well, post hoc testing revealed that animals that received intra-PFC Rp-cAMPS + CRH explored significantly more the old object compared to the CRH group (p<0.001) (Figure 19C). Furthermore, the 2-way ANOVA showed an effect of CRH ( $F_{3,43}$ =13.286, p<0.001), Rp-cAMPS  $(F_{3,43}=39.366, p<0.001)$  and Rp-cAMPS x CRH interaction  $(F_{3,43}=28.128, p<0.001)$  in the discrimination ratio between the old and recent object during the test phase of the temporal order memory test. Subsequent *post hoc* testing showed a significant decrease in the CRH pretreated rodents compared with the ACSF group (p<0.001), accompanied by a significant increase in Rp-cAMPs + CRH mice compared with animals that received intra-PFC CRH microinjections (p<0.001) (Figure 19D).



### Figure 19: Effects of PKA blockade on the intra-PFC CRH-induced deficits in temporal order memory.

A) Experimental design. O= Old Object; R= Recent Object. B) Exploration times of the objects presented during the sample phases I and II of the temporal order memory test. C) Percentage of exploration of the old and recent objects presented during the test phase of the temporal order memory test. \* Significantly different within the same group, p<0.05. \*\*\* Significantly different from the percentage of exploration of the old object within the same group, p<0.0001. ### Significantly different from the percentage of exploration of the old and recent objects presented during the test phase of the temporal order memory test. \*\* Significantly different from the ACSF group, p<0.001. D) Discrimination ratio between the old and recent objects presented during the test phase of the temporal order memory test. \*\* Significantly different from the ACSF group, p<0.001. ### Significantly different from the CRH-ACSF group, p<0.001.

### IV.9.2. Effects of PKA blockade on the intra-PFC CRH-induced deficits in reversal learning

In addition, the same strategy was used to assess the role played by the PKA in the intra-PFC CRH-induced deficits in reversal learning. Thus, animals with a cannula implanted in the PFC underwent the training and retention sessions of the reversal learning test. On the  $3^{rd}$  day, they received intra-PFC microinjections of ACSF, Rp-cAMPS, CRH or Rp-cAMPs + CRH, and 6 hours later were tested in the reversal session (Figure 20A). All animals exhibited a significant reduction in the number of trials to reach criteria between the training and retention sessions (unpaired *t* test,  $t_{(47)}$ =6.887, p<0.0001) (Figure 20B). Furthermore, the 2-way ANOVA revealed a significant effect of Rp-cAMPs ( $F_{(3,44)}$ =5.907, p<0.05), CRH ( $F_{(3,44)}$ =7.798, p<0.01) and CRH x Rp-cAMPs interaction ( $F_{(3,44)}$ =7.465, p<0.01) in the number of perseverative errors made during the reversal session.
Subsequent *post hoc* testing showed a significant increase in the animals that received CRH compared with the ACSF group (p<0.001), accompanied by a significant decrease in the Rp-cAMPs + CRH compared to the CRH animals (p<0.001) (Figure 20C). Additionally, the 2-way ANOVA revealed a significant effect of Rp-cAMPs ( $F_{(3,44)}$ = 25.798, p<0.001), CRH ( $F_{(3,44)}$ =15.054, p<0.001) and Rp-cAMPs x CRH interaction ( $F_{(3,44)}$ =6.590, p<0.05) in the trials to reach criteria during the reversal session. Subsequent *post hoc* testing showed a significant increase in the CRH-pretreated mice compared with the ACSF group (p<0.001) accompanied by a significant decrease in rodents with Rp-cAMPs + CRH microinjections compared with the CRH group (p<0.001) (Figure 20D).



Figure 20: Effects of PKA blockade on the intra-PFC CRH-induced deficits in reversal learning.

A) Experimental design. B) Trials to reach criteria during the training and retention session. \*\*\* Significantly different from the number of trials to reach criteria on day 1, p<0.0001. C) Number of perseverative errors during the reversal session. D) Trials to reach criteria during the reversal session. ### Significantly different from animals that received CRH + ACSF microinjections, p<0.001. \*\*\* Significantly different from ACSF-pretreated rodents, p<0.001.

## V. DISCUSSION

Modern society constitutes a highly dynamic scenario pervaded by cultural, social, emotional and biological events that eventually threat our lifestyle and have a clear impact in our physiology and behavior. As a result, we are exposed to different stressors, ranging from mild to robust, in a sporadic fashion during our everyday activities. In fact, several work placements combine high stress levels together with great responsibility, strongly requesting the executive control of behavior and cognition (Gunby, 1981; Jakobsson and Gustavsson, 2014; Proctor et al., 1996). Evidently, such circumstances place a great demand in our coping strategies, constantly requiring cognitive flexibility and executive functions, and trigger a set of adaptive responses that ultimately allow us to deal with these stressors in a more or less successful way. Thus, the current research project presents a robust set of data that convincingly positions the CRH-CRHR1 system as an essential player in the executive dysfunction that follows after acute stress exposure, thereby providing a molecular mechanism through which these effects take place. Therefore, it reveals a potential pharmacological target that could aid in the development of active measures to counteract the deleterious effects of stress on PFC-related processes.

#### V.1. Acute stress disrupts PFC-mediated cognition

Despite the fact that the effects of stress on cognition have been widely studied, it is still highly relevant to establish whether a single episode of stress is also able to induce such remarkable impairment. The current results elucidate the effects of a single 5-minute episode of social defeat on temporal order memory and reversal learning. Hence, whereas control animals display a higher exploration of the old object versus the recent object, stressed animals no longer exhibit such performance in the temporal order memory test. In fact, they seem to explore more the recent object. The effects of stress on temporal order memory have already been addressed in the literature, showing that early life stress experienced during the perinatal period affects temporal order memory in adulthood, through alterations in the dopaminergic system within the PFC (Lejeune et al., 2013; Proctor et al., 1996). As well, impairments in episodic-like memory have been observed after an acute stressor (Kart-Teke et al., 2006). However, such study exhibits a general impairment in which it is not possible to discern the cognitive domain in which the dysfunction lies. In this regard, the data obtained in the present project demonstrates that a

single episode of social defeat stress impairs the ability to correctly discriminate objects according to their relative recency.

The temporal order memory test constitutes a behavioral task that has been shown to depend on the integrity of the PFC networks (Barker et al., 2007). Naturally, the correct performance during the testing phase depends entirely on the exploration during acquisition phase. The effects of acute stress on the exploratory activity of rodents have been determined elsewhere in the literature (Efimenko et al., 2005). For instance, a 2 hour period of restraint stress induces decreases in locomotor activity 2 and 3 months later (Mamczarz et al., 2010). Similarly, another study showed acute stress-induced reductions in motor activity in an open field 15 minutes after the onset of the stressor (Ferretti et al., 1995). Likewise, 1 hour of immobilization leads to significant decreases in the exploration of the open field (Plaznik et al., 1993). However, it is important to stand out that the deficits cited in those studies refer mainly to locomotor activity elicited in the open field under standard illumination conditions. In the present research project, object exploration was used as a measure of exploratory activity, instead of locomotor performance. In addition, lower illumination conditions were employed (8-10 lux in the centre) and smaller open fields were used in order to promote object exploration. Furthermore, a longer time period was used between the stress session and the sample phase I. Taken together, the data obtained show no differences in object exploration between stressed and non-stressed animals. Additionally, no differences exist between sample phase I and sample phase II for each group of animals, indicating that both undergo similar exploration rates on each phase. This allows to discard any potential bias caused by a preference towards the objects presented on each phase. Altogether, the phenotype observed suggests that both groups explore similarly during the first 2 sample phases, encoding the same amount of information. Thus, it is possible to conclude that the deficit observed on the testing phase after stress reflects a temporal order memory impairment.

Besides temporal order memory, another cognitive test was employed to assess the effects of acute stress on PFC-mediated cognition. Several lines of evidence have established the role played by the PFC networks in reversal learning paradigms (Evans and Hampson, 2015; Hovens et al., 2014; McGaughy et al., 2014). The reversal learning paradigm employed in the current study is divided in three different sessions: training session, retention session and reversal session. Basically, in order to successfully assess PFCdependent cognitive flexibility during the reversal session, animals need to easily acquire and strongly retain a response pattern, in this case taking the arm of the T-maze leading to their homecage. As a matter of fact, the present results show that mice reach a stable performance in approximately 11 trials, suggesting that the task at hand does not represent a difficult challenge for them. Furthermore, a significant decrease in trials to reach criteria was observed between the training session and the retention session, with approximately 8 trials (the minimum possible) and with virtually no mistakes. Such phenotype clearly indicates a robust consolidation of the behavioral response assessed throughout the test and establishes a solid ground to assess cognitive flexibility. Posteriorly, during the reversal phase, different parameters were employed to evaluate this PFC-related function. On one hand, the number of perseverative errors, or mistakes executed before making the first correct response, constitutes a reliable measure of cognitive flexibility, as it elucidates the subjacent difficulty to switch a behavioral response for an opposite pattern despite the negative feedback received from the environment (Aizawa et al., 2012; Butts et al., 2013; Riley et al., 2011). Stressed animals display a significant increase in this measure compared with control animals, suggesting a greater difficulty to inhibit a predominant response and replace it for an opposite one. A second measure employed to assess cognitive flexibility was the number of trials to reach the cut-off criteria, a parameter that not only evaluates the ability to switch a predominant behavior, but also the stability of such behavioral change across time (Parker et al., 2012). The data obtained show that whereas control animals achieve this quite fast, stressed animals take longer to reach this criterion, indicating that the reversal learning test becomes a more challenging scenario after a single episode of social defeat. Hence, these findings strongly suggest that acute stress disrupts cognitive flexibility. The effects of acute stress in this PFC-related task have been previously explored in the literature. For instance, it has been shown that 15 minutes of mild tail-pinch stress immediately impair performance on a similar task (Butts et al., 2013). Those results, together with the present data, suggest that a single episode of stress induces deficits in cognitive flexibility that remain up to 8 hours after the onset of the stressor, suggesting the potential involvement of stress-induced genomic effects.

The effects of chronic stress on cognitive performance have been extensively addressed in the literature, together with its role in the development of psychiatric disorders such as depression, post-traumatic stress disorder and anxiety disorders, among others (Correa et al., 2014; Dieleman et al., 2015; Harris et al., 2014; Liu et al., 2015; Moench and Wellman, 2014). In this regard, chronic stress has been shown to have a strong effect upon cognitive processes including spatial memory, spatial recognition and attention (Matuszewich et al., 2014; Xu et al., 2014), functions strongly supported by hippocampal networks. Thus, such chronic stress-induced dysfunctions are usually accompanied by alterations in hippocampal structure and physiology (Joo et al., 2014; Lehner et al., 2015; MacKenzie and Maguire, 2015). Concerning PFC-related functions, the situation doesn't seem to be that clear. For instance, a recent study was able to demonstrate an absence of effects on executive functions in a population of clinical burnout patients (Oosterholt et al., 2014). On the other hand, a significant reduction in size, together with alterations in dendritic spines, have been observed in the PFC after chronic stress (Arnsten et al., 2015; Henckens et al., 2015; Moench and Wellman, 2014). Similarly, important decreases in the connectivity between the amygdala and the cingulate cortex have been reported in stressed subjects, suggesting a mechanism responsible for the emotional dysregulation observed after chronic stress (Golkar et al., 2014).

Besides such findings, additional studies have also determined the strong impact caused by a single stress episode. Relevant studies in this regard have been made and pertinent findings have been obtained. For example, humans undergoing an acute stress protocol exhibit increases in risk seeking, having a strong impact on economic decision-making (Buckert et al., 2014). Also, it has been demonstrated that acute stress triggers dynamic shifts in network balance, allowing the organism to reallocate its neural resources to a salience network, promoting fear and vigilance according to cognitive demands (Hermans et al., 2014). Furthermore, acute stress has been shown to alter the responsiveness of the reward system via cortisol (Oei et al., 2014). In addition, in-hospital acute stress is associated with a higher cognitive impairment that persists up to 12 months later (Davydow et al., 2013).

Regarding PFC-dependent cognition, the picture is far from complete. For example, ultrastructural analyses in animals have revealed an increase in the amount of docked vesicles and small excitatory synapses in the PFC after acute stress, leading to an overexcitation of the PFC networks and a potential executive dysfunction (Nava et al., 2014). Moreover, a single stress episode decreases d-serine levels in the PFC, giving rise to impairments in memory consolidation and prepulse inhibition (Guercio et al., 2014). Furthermore, it is known that a single episode of stress is able to alter PFC function leading to relevant deficits in fear inhibition in humans (Raio and Phelps, 2015). Surprisingly, a study showed an absence of effects on set-shifting accompanied by a facilitation of reversal learning after 30 minutes of restraint stress (Thai et al., 2013). Interestingly, the findings

presented in this thesis show that a single episode of social defeat stress induces a significant impairment in reversal learning 8 hours later. The differences between both outcomes can be ascribed to the stress paradigms employed and the time windows used to assess cognitive performance. Thus, whereas the restraint protocol constitutes a moderate stressor that confines the animals to a reduced space for a specific amount of time, the social defeat procedure exposes the rodent to a strongly aversive stimulus that directly threatens its own survival. Therefore, the social defeat stress comprises a more robust stressor and hence triggers a stronger stress response in the animals, leading to differential effects of those observed after restraint stress (Meerlo et al., 2001; Razzoli et al., 2010). Furthermore, the stress response exhibits a clearly dynamic deployment over time, where GCs reach a peak at about 1 hr after the stressor and remain elevated until approximately 8 hrs later (Wagner et al., 2013). Consequently, cognitive assessment performed at different time intervals after the stressor can reveal effects that rely upon divergent mechanisms (Quaedflieg et al., 2013). Accordingly, whereas effects observed immediately after stress can be caused by the release of stress-related hormones and the activation of their corresponding receptors, alterations registered 8 hours later can be triggered by effects upon genetic transcription (Wang et al., 2013).

### V.2. Acute stress-induced PFC dysfunction is mediated by the CRHR1

As previously mentioned, several reports in the literature have elucidated the deleterious effects caused by both, acute and chronic stress, upon cognition. Along this line, different receptors have been regarded as key players mediating the cognitive dysfunction that follows after stress exposure. Concerning CRHR1, different experimental approaches have addressed the effects of stress on its modulation, together with its potential role in stress-mediated cognitive dysfunction. Thus, restraint stress induces an upregulation in CRHR1 expression in early-life stressed chickens (Goerlich et al., 2012). Another study showed differential sex-dependent changes in CRHR1 levels after acute stress exposure. Hence, female rats exhibited increases in CRHR1 mRNA in the amygdala, which correlated with enhanced anxiety-like behavior two hours after being subjected to the elevated plus maze. Males, on the other hand, did not show alterations in CRHR1 expression after acute stress (Zohar and Weinstock, 2011). The results obtained in the current research project show that a single episode of acute social defeat stress leads to significant increases in CRHR1 mRNA levels in different subregions of the PFC, including AC, PL and IL of male C57Bl6

mice. The apparent discrepancy between both studies can be explained by different factors. On one hand, each study employs different time points to assess stress-induced genetic modulation of the CRHR1. Therefore, whereas the former study measured CRHR1 levels 2 hours after stress, the present data are based on measurements performed 8 hours later. Genetic transcription constitutes a complex process involving a wide array of molecular mechanisms, all of which require considerate time windows in order to be fully expressed. Furthermore, signaling cascades affecting genetic transcription need additional time periods to completely reveal their effects. Consequently, longer timeframes allow the full expression of stress-induced genomic effects. Additionally, Zohar and Weinstock show alterations exclusively in females. Other lines of evidence have elucidated sex-related differences in the stress-evoked changes in genetic transcription, demonstrating that females exhibit stronger increases in gene expression after stress, suggesting an enhanced stress-sensitivity compared to males (Bohacek et al., 2015). Thus, it is possible that males require longer time periods than females in order to display stress-mediated genomic effects. Finally, both studies also differ in the regions analyzed. Consequently, whereas the former study focused on the amygdala, the present findings were registered exclusively in the PFC. Such divergence also indicates possible differential, stress-induced, region-specific effects upon CRHR1 modulation. However, in order to fully support this hypothesis, additional studies are still necessary.

Regarding the PFC, a research report observed an absence of effects upon CRHR1 levels within the PFC 4 weeks after unavoidable stress (Raone et al., 2007). Together with the present findings, this suggests that there seem to be differences between acute and chronic stress-induced alterations in CRHR1 expression in the PFC. However, the stress paradigms employed in both studies differ from each other. Therefore, to further confirm this idea, additional experiments are still required, that could include the measurement of changes in CRHR1 mRNA in the PFC of animals submitted to a chronic social defeat stress paradigm. Furthermore, intra-PFC alterations in CRHR1 expression have been reported in mice with high anxiety-related behavior (Sotnikov et al., 2014), suggesting the potential involvement of the CRH-CRHR1 system in the PFC dysfunction observed in anxiety disorders. Additionally, acute stress-induced changes in CRHR1 expression in the PFC have been observed in adult mice submitted to maternal separation in the PFC have been induced alterations in CRHR1 in the PFC, and points out its potential relevance in the executive dysfunction caused by stress. However, the data obtained in the present project

strongly demonstrates the effects of a single stress episode in CRHR1 mRNA levels within the PFC.

As previously stated, perhaps the most studied neurochemical candidates regarding stressinduced cognitive impairment are GCs together with their corresponding GRs. As a matter of fact, it has been suggested that the slow genomic effects mediated by GR activation, in different brain regions, can affect contextual and higher cognitive aspects of behavioral performance that follow several hours after stress (Joels et al., 2013). As well, a crosstalk between GRs and other neurochemical systems has been proposed to mediate stressinduced cognitive dysfunction. Thus, it has been shown that following stress episodes, endocannabinoids interact with GCs, through GRs, on the cell surface of the BLA to promote BLA plasticity and memory consolidation, coordinating maladaptive emotional responses (Atsak et al., 2014). On the other hand, GRs have been implicated in the stressmediated regulation of memory formation and modulation. In this regard, it has been demonstrated that acute stress promotes the formation of strong long-term memories via hippocampal GR activation (Finsterwald and Alberini, 2014). Such results are somehow opposite to the data obtained in the present research project, where an acute stressor is able to induce significant impairments in temporal order memory via CRHR1 activation. However, it is important to take into consideration that the two types of memory analyzed constitute different cognitive processes. Thus, whereas long-term memories are based in the maintenance and future retrieval of information, temporal order memory is defined as the ability to accurately discriminate the temporal order in which past events took place. Therefore, it is possible that acute stress can induce an enhancement of some cognitive functions at the expense of others, prioritizing the encoding and maintenance of biologically relevant information, to enhance future survival, versus more complex cognitive processes. Furthermore, it is also very likely that each of these effects can be mediated by different neurochemical systems.

Additionally, the role played by GRs in the PFC dysfunction associated with stress has also been addressed by different studies. For instance, chronic exposure to GR agonists impairs PFC-dependent decision-making. Such deficits are also accompanied by increases in dendritic spine density in the PL that decrease with acute corticosterone (Swanson et al., 2013). On the other hand, another study has shown a significant increase of GR expression and mRNA levels within the PFC after a single episode of stress (Wen et al., 2014). Similarly, in the present study, an increase in CRHR1 mRNA was observed 8 hours after a single episode of acute social defeat stress. Taken together, these studies suggest a comparable intra-PFC upregulation of different stress-related-peptide receptors after acute stress.

Furthermore, in the current study, an intra-PFC specific deletion of the CRHR1 abolished the effects of acute stress on PFC-related cognitive functions. As a matter of fact, genetic deletion of the CRHR1 has been employed to assess the role played by this receptor in several behavioral and cognitive disorders different from executive dysfunction. For instance, it is known that CRHR1-KO rodents display lower anxiety levels compared to control animals (Chotiwat et al., 2010). Likewise, CRHR1 deficient animals show increased exploratory activity in the elevated plus maze and light-dark box, two widely used tests to assess anxiety-like behavior. However, these mice also present impairments in spatial recognition memory (Contarino et al., 1999). Even though anxiety-like behaviors were not directly assessed in the present study, the results obtained show no differences between PFC CRHR1 KO and WT in exploratory activity. In fact, both groups explored similarly across the different phases of the temporal order memory test, suggesting that the aforementioned effects of CRHR1 deletion on exploration are mediated by regions other than the PFC.

Particularly referring to the PFC, no studies addressing the effects of specific PFC deletion of the CRHR1 have been reported. As an interesting approximation, the conditional CRHR1 deletion, within the limbic forebrain, has been shown to significantly reduce remote, but not recent, associative and non-associative fear memories through impairments in the expression of GluR1-containing AMPA receptors (Thoeringer et al., 2012). Additionally, whereas the specific deletion of CRHR1 in forebrain glutamatergic circuits reduces anxiety and impairs neurotransmission in the amygdala and hippocampus, selective CRHR1 deletion in midbrain dopaminergic neurons increases anxiety-like behavior and reduces dopamine release in the PFC (Refojo et al., 2011b). These studies suggest a relevant crosstalk between the CRH-CRHR1 and other neurochemical systems within PFC networks, which could be responsible for the stress-induced cognitive and emotional alterations in PFC-mediated processes. However, they still lack region specificity. In fact, this constitutes the first study employing a PFC-restricted deletion of the CRHR1. Interestingly, the genetic strategy employed here gave rise to approximately a 50% reduction in CRHR1 expression, which is still within the lower range of the physiological levels and encourages the potential use of pharmacological tools to achieve a similar decrease in CRHR1 activity.

Despite the fact that no studies have been performed assessing the role of CRHR1 in the PFC-dependent temporal order memory, there are reports in the literature elucidating the CRHR1-mediated effects on other memory processes that are PFC-independent. For instance, chronic stress-evoked disruptions in spatial memory and hippocampal CA3 dendritic morphology have been rescued using forebrain CRHR1 deficient mice, which in addition also present reductions in the chronic stress-induced downregulation of hippocampal GRs (Wang et al., 2011). Additionally, it has been shown that repeated exposure to novelty stress activates CRHR1 and delays the progression of Alzheimer's disease-like cognitive decline, specifically concerning contextual fear memory and extinction performance (Scullion et al., 2013). Furthermore, CRHR1 deletion rescues the Alzheimer's disease-like endocrine and behavioral phenotype observed in a genetic mouse model of this neurodegenerative condition (Guo et al., 2012). Therefore, the effects of stress, via CRHR1, in the cognitive decay that characterizes the progression of neurodegenerative diseases has been somehow elucidated elsewhere in the literature. Nonetheless, there seems to be a lack of studies addressing a direct link between the PFC CRHR1 and the acute stress-induced executive dysfunction. In this regard, an interesting approach indicated an association between CRHR1 polymorphisms and age-dependent impairments in working memory, a PFC-related process (Grimm et al., 2014). Similarly, another report showed that specific CRHR1 polymorphisms determine early-life stressevoked effects on working memory performance (Fuge et al., 2014). The present findings constitute, not only stimulating evidence elucidating the role of intra-PFC CRHR1 on the acute stress-induced disruptions in other memory processes, but also novel data showing that this receptor seems to play a major contribution in the cognitive rigidity that follows after a single episode of stress. In other words, this study suggests that a single episode of social defeat stress leads to CRHR1 activation in the PFC, which eventually disrupts higher cognitive functions that allow an organism to flexibly change behavior according to external circumstances and to precisely organize temporal information. Such outcomes strongly posit the CRHR1 as a potential therapeutic target to attenuate stress-induced executive dysfunction.

Analogous strategies have been employed in the literature concerning other stress-related candidate systems in diverse brain regions (Jacobson, 2014; Jeanneteau et al., 2012b;

Vincent and Jacobson, 2014). Comparable approaches involving PFC networks have also been performed. For instance, mice lacking the MR in hippocampal-amygdala-PFC circuitry exhibit robust deficits in social discrimination and decision-making (Ter Horst et al., 2014), indicating the relevance of stress-related-peptide receptors in PFC-mediated cognitive functions. Another study using forebrain GR knockout mice, encompassing the PFC, found increases in depression-like behavior in the forced swim and sucrose preference tests (Solomon et al., 2012). Interestingly, a similar approach has been employed inducing PFC-restricted knockdown of GR. Mice that underwent this procedure exhibited an increased behavioral sensitivity to imipramine treatment in the forced swim test (Hussain and Jacobson, 2015). This indicates that different receptors of stress-related peptides seem to play a key role in the vulnerability of the PFC-networks to stress, and thus constitute attractive targets to develop novel strategies to counteract the acute stressinduced executive dysfunction. Despite the fact that several lines of evidence point to a strong involvement of GRs in the stress-induced executive dysfunction, literature addressing the contribution of the CRHR1 is still scarce.

# V.3. Intra-PFC CRH administration mimics acute stress-induced PFC dysfunction

Given the relevant role played by the stress-related peptide CRH in the fast initiation of the stress response, several lines of evidence have also explored the effects of CRH on cognition, building a link between stress and cognitive impairment. Regardless of the pertinence and importance of such findings, reports in the literature directly linking intra-PFC CRH with the executive functions exerted by the PFC networks are still scarce. In this respect, the present results clearly indicate that intra-PFC CRH micro-infusions exert a deleterious effect in temporal order memory and reversal learning 8 hours after administration. Moreover, such phenotype strongly resembles the one observed 8 hours after a single episode of acute stress. Foremost, CRHR1 blockade abolishes the intra-PFC CRH release, CRHR1 activation and cognitive impairment. In this regard, in order to unravel the role played by the CRHR1 in the CRH-induced executive dysfunction, a non-selective CRH receptor antagonist was co-infused together with CRH in the PFC. It is important to stand out that CRHR2 is basically absent from PFC networks (Reul and Holsboer, 2002), thus supporting the notion that the observed effects are conveyed by the

CRHR1 receptor. In addition, the improvement in PFC-mediated cognition after CRHR1 blockade mirrors the one observed after intra-PFC CRHR1 deletion.

Concerning the temporal order memory test employed in the current study, increases in anxiety-like behavior can easily disrupt performance and affect the final readout. Actually, the effects of intra-PFC CRH microinjections on anxiety have been widely explored in the literature. Nonetheless, there seems to be heterogeneity in the results observed that vary depending on dose and additional factors. For instance, whereas one study found no changes in anxiety-like behavior after intra-PFC CRH-administration in unstressed animals (Magalhaes et al., 2010), another showed increases using the same procedure in acutely and repeatedly stressed rodents (Jaferi and Bhatnagar, 2007). In a similar fashion, intra-PFC CRH micro-infusions at different concentrations have shown an anxiogenic-like effect in the elevated plus maze that is attenuated by CRHR1 blockade in the same region (Miguel et al., 2014). Despite the fact that the present data do not include a direct measure of anxietylike behavior after CRH microinjections and CRHR1 blockade, no differences were observed in exploratory activity during the two initial phases of the temporal order memory test. Several lines of evidence have shown the relationship existing between anxiety states and object exploration (Green et al., 2013; Vogt et al., 2014). Thus, CRH microinjections in the PFC do not seem to have an overall impact on anxiety-like behavior. In fact, this absence of effects on anxiety does not seem to depend on the concentration employed, because the two different concentrations used in our experiments exhibited comparable exploration rates. Most likely, the discrepancies between the aforementioned studies and the present findings rely on the time frame taken to assess behavior. Whereas in the former reports, exploratory activity was evaluated immediately after drug administration, the current results were obtained up to 5 hours after the pharmacological intervention (sample phase I). Notwithstanding the fact that the role of CRH on stress-related mnemonic processes has been already elucidated, there is no evidence regarding its contribution to temporal order memory processes. Furthermore, the data obtained in the present study show a significant increase in the percentage of exploration of the recent object versus the old object in the CRH-pretreated animals. It has been demonstrated that acute CRH release can enhance memory processes (Chen et al., 2012). In fact, it is possible that acute increases in CRH can actually reinforce recent memory traces, thus improving the encoding and maintenance of biologically salient information and disrupting other higher cognitive functions. Such physiological reaction could actually help to explain the observed phenotype, in which the memory trace closer in time to the CRH administration (old

object), is so strongly encoded that animals tend to explore more the object presented farther in time from the CRH microinjection (recent object), disrupting the ability to properly discriminate the temporal order in which these events took place.

In addition, the current findings also show impairments in reversal learning 8 hours after intra-PFC CRH administration. The effects of CRH microinjections in cognitive flexibility have already been explored elsewhere in the literature. However, the role played by this stress-related peptide in reversal learning is still not very clear. For instance, whereas intracerebroventricular CRH infusions compromised this cognitive function, intra-locus coeruleus microinjections had an opposite effect, facilitating cognitive flexibility (Snyder et al., 2012). Such findings, together with our current data, suggest a differential, regionspecific, effect of CRH administration on reversal learning. Thus, the present study constitutes highly relevant evidence indicating that acute CRH administration in the PFC, gives rise to important alterations in the ability to switch a behavioral response for an opposite pattern, according to environmental feedback. As well, the actual results show that a single microinjection of CRH in the PFC leads to a trend towards a significant increase in the number of perseverative errors. Likewise, such pharmacological intervention also gives rise to a significant increment in the trials to reach criteria during the reversal phase. This behavioral pattern strikingly resembles the one observed after acute social defeat stress. Furthermore, CRHR1 blockade in the same brain region surprisingly rescues CRH-induced deficits in a similar fashion to the phenotype observed after intra-PFC CRHR1 deletion. Taking this into consideration, together with the fact that all experiments employed the same time windows after the experimental procedure, we hypothesize that acute stress leads to increases in CRH release within the PFC, which eventually activates CRHR1 receptors and unleashes an executive dysfunction that affects higher-order cognitive processes.

The role played by CRH in cognitive performance has already been addressed elsewhere in the literature. For instance, it has been established that CRH is released from hippocampal axon terminals during stress, exerting time and dose dependent effects on learning and memory, through the modulation of synaptic function and plasticity. Thus, whereas physiological levels of CRH, acting over seconds to minutes, enhance memory processes, exposure to high stress-peptide levels results in spine retraction and loss of synapses (Chen et al., 2012). Furthermore, increases in hippocampal CRH together with memory dysfunctions are observed in adult rodents submitted to early life stress. In fact, blockade

of CRHR1 signaling significantly attenuated the hippocampal synaptic dysfunction and the memory deficits. In addition, such early life stress-induced memory impairments could also be mimicked by forebrain CRH overexpression (Wang et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2013). Additionally, a knockin mouse model of Alzheimer's disease exhibits increases in CRH levels along different brain regions, accompanied by elevated resting levels of corticosterone, increased anxiety-like behavior and memory impairments (Guo et al., 2012). Moreover, intra-amygdalar CRH overexpression induced after fear conditioning leads to increases in the expression of the conditioned emotional memory, thus modulating conditioned anxiety-like behaviors and contributing to the inappropriate regulation of emotional memories (Sink et al., 2013). Despite the high number of studies demonstrating the deleterious effects of CRH upon cognitive performance, few of them have focused on the PFC networks and the potential involvement of this peptide in the stress-induced executive dysfunction. In this regard, it has been shown that a single episode of restraint stress increases CRH mRNA levels in the PFC. Additionally, CRH administration in PFC neurons enhances CRHR1 expression, thus suggesting a potential involvement of the CRH-CRHR1 system in the acute stress-induced executive dysfunction (Meng et al., 2011). As well, it is known that the activation of CRH neurons in the medial PFC strongly contributes to the loss of inhibitory control that characterizes many addictive and impulsive behaviors (Zorrilla et al., 2014). In fact, a study performed in post-mortem tissue of depressed suicides, found elevated levels of CRH in the dorsolateral and ventrolateral subdivisions of the PFC, pointing out once more the relevance of this peptide in the behavioral loss of control related to PFC dysfunction (Merali et al., 2006).

Naturally, besides the CRH-CRHR1 system, there are also many other stress-related neurochemical systems whose effects upon cognition have been widely elucidated. Therefore, in order to accurately identify the neurochemical candidates responsible for the acute stress-induced cognitive impairment, it is essential to refer as well to other stress-related peptides that play a fundamental role in the initiation and maintenance of the stress response. In this regard, perhaps the most studied target has been the GC system. Hence, several lines of evidence have focused on the GCs as key mediators of the acute stress-induced cognitive deficits. Accordingly, a study performed in humans showed a strong association between higher cortisol levels released during acute stress and poorer cognitive performance on declarative memory tasks (Lasikiewicz et al., 2013). Furthermore, acute stress has been shown to induce a significant attenuation in LTP in CA1, together with relevant increases in corticosterone levels in the same region. Interestingly, hippocampal

sections exposed to corticosterone exhibit the same reduction in LTP observed after acute stress (Takeda et al., 2012). In addition, it has also been demonstrated that acute stress leads to important impairments in memory retrieval that are mimicked by the administration of GC (Schutsky et al., 2011a), suggesting once more the key involvement of GCs in the acute stress-induced cognitive dysfunction. Furthermore, it has been shown that both, intra-PFC administration of corticosterone and acute stress, give rise to increases in dopamine efflux together with impairments in working memory, indicating the relevance of stress-related peptides in the acute stress-induced executive dysfunction (Butts et al., 2011b). However, the situation is far from simple. As a matter of fact, different research reports have elucidated many acute stress-evoked cognitive dysfunctions that emerge independently of the GC system. For instance, it has been demonstrated that acute stress dynamically reduces nectin-3 levels in the hippocampus via CRHR1 signaling. This is followed by spatial memory deficits and dendritic spine loss. Interestingly, such effects are not mediated by GC receptors (Wang et al., 2013). Moreover, concerning PFC-related tasks, a study showed that a single episode of restraint stress facilitated reversal learning 30 minutes later, in a GR and MR independent fashion, suggesting the involvement of additional stress-related peptides (Thai et al., 2013). Similarly, another research report showed acute stress-induced deficits in decision-making that were not mimicked by the treatment with physiological doses of corticosterone, pointing once more to mechanisms mediated by other neurochemical candidates (Shafiei et al., 2012). The present findings, together with the aforementioned literature, point to acute stress-evoked alterations in executive functions that emerge via the activation of the CRH-CRHR1 system.

# V.4. Acute stress and CRH activate protein kinase A signaling in the PFC

Unraveling the contribution of a neurochemical system to the acute stress-induced PFC dysfunction should encompass much more than just identifying the circuits, ligands and receptors responsible for such deleterious effects. As a matter of fact, once receptors are activated by their corresponding ligands, they undergo structural modifications that are eventually translated into physiological reactions, involving either changes in membrane permeability or the stimulation of signaling cascades that recruit several molecular players, which finally affect different cellular processes. As already mentioned, according to the current findings, the CRH-CRHR1 system seems to be a key effector in the acute stress-

induced executive dysfunction. However, there is still a gap between the activation of the CRHR1 and the resulting cognitive impairment. Thus, it is highly relevant to explore the molecular mechanisms that follow CRHR1 activation in the PFC, and strongly contribute to its impairment. The present findings make an important contribution to this field, indicating that both, acute stress and CRH, activate the PKA molecular cascade within the PFC networks. Altogether, the mentioned evidence strongly suggests that the acute stress-induced activation of the PKA cascade, via CRHR1, in the PFC exerts a significant cognitive impairment.

In this regard, several lines of evidence have demonstrated that CRHR1 stimulation can actually activate different signaling cascades in a region-specific, cellular context-related and activity-dependent manner. Thus, CRH administration in hippocampal slices induces coupling of CRHR1 to G<sub>s</sub>, G<sub>o</sub>, and G<sub>i</sub>, clearly indicating the diversity of signaling pathways linked to CRHR1 stimulation in the mouse (Blank et al., 2003). Furthermore, another study showed that CRH leads to G<sub>i</sub> and G<sub>g</sub> protein activation, hence decreasing cAMP production and increasing phospholipase C-beta 3 and inositol triphosphate, with a concurrent enhancement of intracellular Ca+ (You et al., 2012). As well, CRH-mediated effects upon genetic transcription, via the CRHR1-dependent activation of phospholipase C and protein kinase C, have been observed in hippocampal cells. Surprisingly, neither adenylyl cyclase nor PKA inhibitors seem to affect CRH-induced increases in genetic transcription (Sheng et al., 2012). Interestingly, CRHR1 activation in hippocampal cells has also been shown to control the expression of the inducible serum/glucocorticoid-inducible protein kinase-1 in an adenylyl cyclase and PKA-dependent manner (Sheng et al., 2008). Additionally, it has been suggested that the CRH-mediated stimulation of CRHR1, with the concurrent activation of the PKA-CREB pathway, leads to a neuroprotective effect against the progression of Alzheimer's disease (Bayatti and Behl, 2005). Concerning the molecular pathways stimulated by stress, it has been shown that acute stress is able to induce deficits on memory retrieval via the activation of  $G_{i/o}$ -coupled  $\beta_2$  adrenergic receptors, which lead to decreases in cAMP levels. Interestingly, increases in cAMP signaling rescue such impairments (Schutsky et al., 2011b). Furthermore, another study demonstrated that acute stress can actually enhance working memory processes through increases in the surface expression of NMDA and AMPA receptors in the PFC. These effects depend on the activity of the glucocorticoid-inducible kinase and the consequent stimulation of Rab4 (Yuen et al., 2011). Similarly, hippocampal slices of rodents submitted to an acute stressor exhibit an NMDA- and PKA-dependent insertion of Ca+ permeable AMPA receptors into

synapses, suggesting a mechanism through which acute stress can actually enhance cognitive performance (Whitehead et al., 2013). Taken together, those studies suggest that the PKA signaling cascade seems to be somehow involved in the cellular effects caused by CRHR1 activation. In addition, such molecular pathway also seems to be involved in the effects of acute stress upon cognition, via GRs and other neurotransmitter systems, at least in the hippocampus. However, the effects evoked by the stimulation of this signaling cascade upon hippocampus-mediated cognition appear to subserve a beneficial function. Moreover, approaches integrating the signaling cascades activated by acute stress and the CRH-CRHR1 system in extra-hippocampal circuits are still missing. Therefore, the obtained data provide an important contribution to this topic and establish PKA as a potential molecular candidate mediating the executive dysfunction that follows after acute stress exposure.

As well, literature elucidating the effects of CRHR1 activation upon the activity of the different subunits of the PKA is still scarce. The present results constitute a relevant addition to this subject, showing that both, acute stress and a single intra-PFC CRH microinjection, induce a similar activation of the PKA signaling pathway in the PFC, indicated by a decrease in the interaction between the regulatory and catalytic subunits, accompanied by an increase in the binding between the catalytic subunits and the CREB transcription factor. Such findings present a potential molecular signature responsible for the executive dysfunction observed after acute stress, via CRH-CRHR1. The effects of CRHR1 stimulation on genetic transcription, via the activity of the PKA, have been already established in the literature using cerebellar cultures. Thus, the gene transfer of a mutated regulatory subunit of PKA, lacking cAMP binding sites, completely suppresses the CRHdependent transcription of c-fos, without affecting the increase in cAMP levels (Barthel and Loeffler, 1993). Furthermore, stress has been shown to modulate the activity of PKA via GCs. For instance, GC administration leads to a selective decrease in the levels of the regulatory subunit of PKA without altering its catalytic subunit. Such findings are accompanied by reductions in CREB phosphorylation, elucidating a link between stress, PKA activity and genetic transcription (Liu et al., 2012b; Sacai et al., 2014). Conversely, another study has demonstrated that dexamethasone can paradoxically stimulate cortisol release through a GR-mediated direct effect on the catalytic subunit of PKA (Louiset et al., 2009). In fact, there are in vivo and vitro evidences suggesting that GRs associate with the catalytic subunit of PKA, directly regulating PKA's activity (Doucas et al., 2000).

Once the regulatory and catalytic subunits of PKA are uncoupled, the catalytic subunit is translocated to the nucleus and there induces the phosphorylation of the CREB transcription factor to regulate genetic transcription. According to the current findings, a single episode of defeat stress leads to significant increases in pCREB in the PFC. Such pattern clearly contrasts with the effects observed after chronic stress, which has been shown to evoke a decrease in pCREB levels in different brain regions, including CA1, CA2, CA3, paraventricular nucleus of the thalamus, amygdala and anterior cingulate area, that return to normal levels after a recovery period (Lin et al., 2009). As well, a diminution in pCREB levels were registered in the hippocampus of rats submitted to a paradigm of chronic stress involving olfactory bulbectomy (Jindal et al., 2015; Lin et al., 2009). Similar outcomes have also been obtained employing chronic social defeat stress protocols (Fan et al., 2015). Regarding the PFC, a study reported significant decreases in the number of cells expressing pCREB within the PFC of rats submitted to chronic stress (Lin et al., 2008). These observations suggest a discrepancy in the molecular effects caused by acute and chronic stress, possibly due to compensatory mechanisms triggered during chronic stressors. However, additional studies are required to further confirm this hypothesis. Furthermore, in agreement with the current results, increases in pCREB have been observed within the dentate gyrus and CA3 after acute sleep deprivation in rats (Azogu et al., 2015). Additionally, another study has suggested an age-dependent hippocampal activation of cellular and molecular mechanisms after acute stress. Hence, while juvenile rats exhibit increases in pCREB levels in the hippocampus after restraint stress, adult rats do not display the same effect (Chen et al., 2006). The apparent divergence between this data and the present results can be explained by the different stress paradigms employed and the different regions analyzed. Concerning the role of the CRH-CRHR1 system in the stress-induced CREB phosphorylation, there is evidence showing that the stress-evoked increases in pCREB, within the lateral septum and nucleus accumbens, are abolished after pretreatment with a CRHR1 antagonist (Kreibich et al., 2009). Similarly, employing a contextual fear conditioning paradigm, the oral administration of a CRHR1 antagonist leads to relevant decreases in contextual freezing, accompanied by reductions in pCREB levels in the lateral and basolateral amygdala (Hubbard et al., 2007). This phenotype also offers an interesting link between stress, CRHR1 activation, CREB phosphorylation and behavioral output, emphasizing the relationship between the CRH-CRHR1 system, the PKA signaling cascade, gene transcription and behavior. The present findings demonstrate that both, acute stress and CRH, exert deleterious effects upon PFC-mediated cognition

and activate the PKA molecular pathway culminating in CREB phosphorylation, thus showing agreement with the aforementioned studies.

As explained, besides the phosphorylation of the CREB transcription factor, stress and CRH have also been shown to stimulate additional signaling cascades following the activation of PKA. In fact, perhaps one the most studied molecular candidates also mediating many of the cellular and cognitive effects caused by stress, is ERK. Interestingly, the increase in PKA activity was followed by increases in CREB phosphorylation, which were not accompanied by increases in pERK levels. This suggests a selective triggering of molecular candidates leading to executive dysfunction. In this regard, decreases in the levels of ERK phosphorylation in the PFC have been observed after 5 weeks of chronic unpredictable stress, accompanied by impairments in the Morris water maze and the novel object recognition task (Liu et al., 2014). As well, increases in pERK occur in the CA1 region during a fear conditioning/extinction protocol employing repeated extinction trials. Similar effects were registered in the PFC after extinction retrieval (Ishikawa et al., 2012). Along this line, it has been established that CRHR1 mediates genetic transcription through the ERK 1/2 pathway (Zhao et al., 2013). In addition, employing hippocampal cells, the CRH-CRHR1-mediated activation of ERK 1/2 has been shown to involve a PKA and Rap1-dependent stimulation of cAMP and B-Raf (Bonfiglio et al., 2013). Thus, the results obtained in the present study suggest specificity in the molecular pathways activated by acute stress, via CRHR1, in the PFC. However, additional studies addressing different signaling cascades and time windows are still necessary in order to fully support this hypothesis.

#### V.5. CRH-induced PFC dysfunction is mediated by PKA

To further close the gap between acute stress, the CRH-CRHR1 system, PKA activity and executive dysfunction, we investigated whether PKA stimulation is really involved in the PFC impairments observed after acute defeat. The results obtained show that PKA blockade abolishes the intra-PFC CRH-induced executive dysfunction. PKA has also been demonstrated to be critically implicated in the cognitive impairments that characterize several psychiatric and neurological conditions. Accordingly, PKA activation is highly involved in anxiety, social interaction, aggression and learning. Thus, decreases in PKA activity in the amygdala lead to loss of excitatory synapses and severe neurobehavioral disabilities that are rescued by in vivo infusion of cAMP analogues (Jayachandran et al.,

2014). On the other hand, excessive PKA stimulation seems to underlie the deficits in working memory and hippocampal long-term depression that are exhibited by rats with juvenile-onset diabetes miellitus (Sacai et al., 2014). Additionally, the excessive activation of the PKA signaling pathway induced by stress, has also been implicated in the accompanying cognitive dysfunction in learning and memory, which is abolished by the genetic ablation of a PKA's substrate phosphorylation site (Liu et al., 2012a; Sacai et al., 2014). Summarizing, increases in PKA activity seem to significantly disrupt the physiological activity of neural circuits, leading to important cognitive and behavioral alterations. Furthermore, the imbalance of additional signaling pathways has also been demonstrated to induce deleterious effects upon cognition, and thus contribute to pathological responses. Hence, several isoforms of PKC have been implicated as fundamental players in the maintenance and expression of the physiological processes that underlie long term memory. On the other hand, PKC disruption impairs non-associative memory in a paradigm of drug addiction, highlighting as well the role played by PKC in addiction-related memory, particularly in the transition from casual to pathological drug use (Howell et al., 2014). Furthermore, increases in the phosphorylation of the Ca+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CaMKII) coincide with a recovery of the motor deficits and cognitive impairment observed in an animal model of Parkinson's disease (Yabuki et al., 2014a). As well, a restoration in the autophosphorylation of CaMKII, GluR1 and PKC, together with improvements in spatial reference memory and short-term memory, were observed after the pharmacological intervention of an animal model of Alzheimer's disease (Moriguchi et al., 2013). The current findings, together with the aforementioned studies, suggest that PKA constitutes a key molecular candidate mediating proper cell functioning, and thus is an important cognitive modulator. Therefore, slight changes in its delicate balance can bring deleterious consequences for the organism, which might be prevented by the restoration of its normal levels using pharmacological tools.

Moreover, PKA activity has been strongly connected with PFC-related cognitive functions. Interestingly, under normal conditions, PKA suppression has been shown to underlie accurate performance in a working memory task in rodents. Furthermore, impairments in working memory together with increases in both, basal and working memory-related, PKA activity were observed in animals submitted to traumatic brain injury. Consequently, intra-PFC infusions of the PKA blocker Rp-cAMPS in animals with traumatic brain injury, improved working memory performance 24 hours later (Kobori et al., 2015b). Such results clearly match the present findings, in which CRH- and acute stress-induced increases in

PKA activity, within the PFC, are accompanied by deficits in temporal order memory and reversal learning. Foremost, this executive dysfunction is rescued by the intra-PFC administration of the PKA blocker Rp-cAMPS, indicating the role played by excessive PKA stimulation in PFC-mediated cognition, and postulating PKA as a potential therapeutic target to ameliorate acute stress-induced executive dysfunction. Hence, intra-PFC downregulation of PKA, CREB and pCREB, has been demonstrated in rats submitted to a chronic unpredictable mild stress paradigm (Chen et al., 2013). As a matter of fact, working memory deficits and decreases in pCREB levels in the PFC have been demonstrated after 6 months of chronic alcohol consumption followed by 1 or 6 weeks of withdrawal. Enhancement of CREB activity prior to testing improves working memory performance and increases pCREB exclusively in the PFC of withdrawn mice. Remarkably, intra-PFC infusion of a PKA activator mimics these effects (Dominguez et al., 2014). Furthermore, concerning PFC-related cognitive performance, different molecular candidates have been also identified as relevant mediators contributing to the expression of the executive dysfunction that accompanies different psychiatric disorders. For instance, an excessive phosphorylation of the CaMKII has been observed in the PFC of rats exhibiting attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD)-like behaviors. Interestingly, this molecular signature is reduced after the administration of methylphenidate, a therapeutic approach widely used to treat children with ADHD (Yabuki et al., 2014b). Similarly, decreases in the autophosphorylation of the CaMKII, and its substrate GluR1, have been identified in the PFC of rats with neonatal ventral hippocampus lesions, an animal model of schizophrenia characterized by alterations in prepulse inhibition, spontaneous locomotion and social interaction (Yabuki et al., 2013). Additionally, PKC overactivity in the PFC has been detected after sleep deprivation in an animal model of bipolar disorder. This molecular hallmark is also accompanied by hyperlocomotion and increased sleep latency. Importantly, PKC inhibitors attenuated these manic-like behaviors (Abrial et al., 2014).

As previously mentioned, the temporal order memory test is based on the exploratory activity of the rodents, and consequently any potential alteration in their behavior can have a strong impact in the outcome of this test. The present data show an absence of effects in exploratory activity after PKA inhibition during the first two phases of the test. Such results agree with others presented elsewhere in the literature (Barros et al., 2000). On the other hand, it has been shown that mice with decreased PKA signaling exhibit decreased exploration in the elevated-plus maze and open field (Davis et al., 2012). However, it is

important to mention that both mentioned tests evaluate locomotor activity in big spaces under high illumination conditions, whereas the temporal order memory test analyses object exploration in a more confined area under much lower illumination. Therefore, it is hard to establish direct comparisons between both approaches. In addition, the fact that similar exploration rates were observed for both objects during the first two sample phases for all groups, suggests an absence of a preference towards any of them. Regarding memory processes, previous studies have identified memory deficits after PKA inhibition (Arnsten et al., 2005; Bollen et al., 2014), which contrast with the results obtained in the present experiments. In order to further resolve this discrepancy, it is important to consider that both approaches address different types of memory, subserved as well by different brain regions. This, together with the current findings, suggests a region-specific and activity-dependent role for PKA in memory modulation. Nonetheless, additional studies are still required to support this hypothesis. Among the different subtypes of memory processes, the temporal order memory encompasses a particular set of high-order cognitive skills, including the consolidation, maintenance, retrieval, and most importantly, temporal organization, of past events. Surprisingly, despite the fact that the role of PKA in several hippocampal and PFC-dependent memory processes has been established, studies addressing the involvement of PKA in temporal order memory are still scarce. Thus, this set of experiments constitutes stimulating evidence in this regard, demonstrating as well that PKA blockade fully reverses the CRH-induced temporal order memory dysfunction.

Besides temporal order memory, the present data exhibit the contribution exerted by PKA to the deficits caused by intra-PFC CRH microinjections in reversal learning. The present findings suggest that increases in PKA signaling, through CRH, disrupt cognitive flexibility. These effects are abolished after a specific PKA inhibition in the PFC. This agrees with additional studies addressing the role exerted by PKA in cognitive flexibility. For instance, region-specific increases in PKA-R expression have been registered in the hippocampus during different stages of a spatial learning task involving a reversal component (Havekes et al., 2007). Naturally, enhancing PKA-R levels should also increase PKA-R to PKA-C binding, and thus decrease the amount of activated PKA-C. Therefore, these effects could eventually be translated into a total decrease in PKA activity. Consequently, it is possible to ensure that reductions in PKA activity are responsible for an accurate performance in a reversal learning task. Furthermore, the current study shows that PKA blockade does not induce any effects in reversal learning. Such findings differ from other studies, in which a genetically-induced deficiency in PKA signaling disrupted reversal learning in a Morris

Water Maze task without affecting fear conditioning (Rutten et al., 2011). Nonetheless, there are discrepancies between both experiments that need to be taken into consideration. The former study employed the Morris Water Maze, a behavioral test usually employed to assess spatial memory, and therefore hippocampus-dependent cognition, whereas the present approach used a cognitive test that does not possess such strong spatial component. In addition, whereas the former study was based on a permanent PKA disruption, the present experiment employed a transient, pharmacologically-induced, decrease in PKA activity with a corresponding behavioral assessment 8 hours later. Given the short time action of the PKA-inhibitor, it is expected that by the time reversal learning was evaluated, PKA activity was already back to normal (Dostmann, 1995). Hence, the observed effects on cognitive flexibility are possibly caused by a transitory increase in PKA signaling, evoked by intra-PFC CRH, which was prevented by the co-infusion of the PKA blocker. Consequently, these data indicates that PKA constitutes an essential molecular player mediating the effects of acute stress, via the activation of the CRHR1 in the PFC, in PFC-related cognitive processes.

## VI. SUMMARY

The contemporary civilization constitutes a highly demanding environment, undergoing constant development and bringing permanent change to living conditions. Such circumstances strongly demand high levels of adaptability and flexibility, placing a great burden on the functionality of the PFC networks responsible for the executive control of cognition and behavior. Therefore, deciphering the neurochemical and molecular candidates responsible for the acute-stress induced executive dysfunction, will provide valuable tools in the development of novel strategies to improve quality of life in modern society. In this regard, the present findings established the CRH-CRHR1 system as a key mediator in the PFC-related deficits caused by acute stress. Thus, exposure to an acute stressor led to impairments in temporal order memory and cognitive flexibility, together with increases in CRHR1 mRNA levels within the PFC. In addition, deletion of the CRHR1 in the PFC ameliorated the effects of acute stress in these PFC-related tasks. Moreover, intra-PFC CRH microinjections mimicked the acute stress-induced deficits in PFC-dependent cognition. Additionally, both acute stress and intra-PFC CRH activated PKA and increased CREB phosphorylation in the PFC. Finally, intra-PFC blockade of PKA abolished the executive dysfunction caused by CRH.

Summarizing, the present findings suggest that upon an aversive situation, CRH is released in the PFC networks and binds to CRHR1 receptors, which eventually stimulate the  $G_{\alpha}$ protein and increase cAMP levels. As a result, cAMP binds to the PKA-R and induces a disassembly of the PKA tetramer complex, causing a release of the PKA-C and its translocation into the nucleus. There, it binds to the transcription factor CREB, signalizing its phosphorylation and promoting genetic transcription that ultimately has a deleterious effect on the functionality of the PFC, leading to deficits in temporal order memory and reversal learning. Naturally, there are still gaps that must be addressed to fully give support to this hypothesis. For instance, it is crucial to further determine the genes that are upregulated after the activation of this molecular cascade and play a major role in the executive dysfunction observed afterwards. Furthermore, as previously mentioned, CRHR1 activation has been shown to stimulate several signaling pathways. Consequently, despite the fact the PKA seems to have a major role in this acute stress, CRHR1-mediated, executive dysfunction, it is also necessary to explore the PKC as another potential candidate contributing to these effects. However, the current data constitutes an important and relevant contribution to the neurochemical and molecular mechanisms responsible for the acute stress-induced cognitive dysfunction that strongly impacts our modern society, and posits CRHR1 as a potentially attractive therapeutic target to ameliorate such deficits. In other words, these results point to the potential use of CRHR1 antagonists as anti-stress drugs, in order to improve quality of life and avoid the detrimental consequences of acute stress, allowing us to successfully cope with challenging scenarios in our everyday life.

## VII. REFERENCES References

- 1. Abrial E, Betourne A, Etievant A, Lucas G, Scarna H, Lambas-Senas L, Haddjeri N (2014) Protein kinase C inhibition rescues manic-like behaviors and hippocampal cell proliferation deficits in the sleep deprivation model of mania. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 18.
- 2. Adey R (1997) Jim Henry's world revisited--environmental "stress" at the psychophysiological and the molecular levels. Acta Physiol Scand Suppl 640:176-179.
- Aizawa E, Sato Y, Kochiyama T, Saito N, Izumiyama M, Morishita J, Kanazawa M, Shima K, Mushiake H, Hongo M, Fukudo S (2012) Altered cognitive function of prefrontal cortex during error feedback in patients with irritable bowel syndrome, based on FMRI and dynamic causal modeling. Gastroenterology 143:1188-1198.
- 4. Akirav I, Maroun M (2007) The role of the medial prefrontal cortex-amygdala circuit in stress effects on the extinction of fear. Neural Plast 2007:30873.
- 5. Albantakis L, Hintze A, Koch C, Adami C, Tononi G (2014) Evolution of integrated causal structures in animats exposed to environments of increasing complexity. PLoS Comput Biol 10:e1003966.
- 6. Alexander JK, Hillier A, Smith RM, Tivarus ME, Beversdorf DQ (2007) Beta-adrenergic modulation of cognitive flexibility during stress. J Cogn Neurosci 19:468-478.
- 7. Arnsten AF (2009) Stress signalling pathways that impair prefrontal cortex structure and function. Nat Rev Neurosci 10:410-422.
- 8. Arnsten AF, Goldman-Rakic PS (1985) Catecholamines and cognitive decline in aged nonhuman primates. Ann N Y Acad Sci 444:218-234.
- 9. Arnsten AF, Goldman-Rakic PS (1990) Analysis of alpha-2 adrenergic agonist effects on the delayed nonmatch-to-sample performance of aged rhesus monkeys. Neurobiol Aging 11:583-590.
- 10. Arnsten AF, Ramos BP, Birnbaum SG, Taylor JR (2005) Protein kinase A as a therapeutic target for memory disorders: rationale and challenges. Trends Mol Med 11:121-128.
- 11. Arnsten AF, Raskind MA, Taylor FB, Connor DF (2015) The Effects of Stress Exposure on Prefrontal Cortex: Translating Basic Research into Successful Treatments for Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder. Neurobiol Stress 1:89-99.
- 12. Arzt E, Holsboer F (2006) CRF signaling: molecular specificity for drug targeting in the CNS. Trends Pharmacol Sci 27:531-538.
- 13. Atsak P, Hauer D, Campolongo P, Schelling G, Fornari RV, Roozendaal B (2014) Endocannabinoid Signaling within the Basolateral Amygdala Integrates Multiple Stress Hormone Effects on Memory Consolidation. Neuropsychopharmacology.

- 14. Azogu I, de la Tremblaye PB, Dunbar M, Lebreton M, LeMarec N, Plamondon H (2015) Acute sleep deprivation enhances avoidance learning and spatial memory and induces delayed alterations in neurochemical expression of GR, TH, DRD1, pCREB and Ki67 in rats. Behav Brain Res 279:177-190.
- 15. Badre D (2008) Cognitive control, hierarchy, and the rostro-caudal organization of the frontal lobes. Trends Cogn Sci 12:193-200.
- 16. Bagshaw R, Gray NS, Snowden RJ (2014) Executive function in psychopathy: the Tower of London, Brixton Spatial Anticipation and the Hayling Sentence Completion Tests. Psychiatry Res 220:483-489.
- 17. Bale TL, Vale WW (2004) CRF and CRF receptors: role in stress responsivity and other behaviors. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 44:525-557.
- 18. Bali B, Ferenczi S, Kovacs KJ (2008) Direct inhibitory effect of glucocorticoids on corticotrophin-releasing hormone gene expression in neurones of the paraventricular nucleus in rat hypothalamic organotypic cultures. J Neuroendocrinol 20:1045-1051.
- 19. Barker GR, Bird F, Alexander V, Warburton EC (2007) Recognition memory for objects, place, and temporal order: a disconnection analysis of the role of the medial prefrontal cortex and perirhinal cortex. J Neurosci 27:2948-2957.
- 20. Barros DM, Izquierdo LA, Mello e Souza, Ardenghi PG, Pereira P, Medina JH, Izquierdo I (2000) Molecular signalling pathways in the cerebral cortex are required for retrieval of one-trial avoidance learning in rats. Behav Brain Res 114:183-192.
- 21. Barsegyan A, Mackenzie SM, Kurose BD, McGaugh JL, Roozendaal B (2010) Glucocorticoids in the prefrontal cortex enhance memory consolidation and impair working memory by a common neural mechanism. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:16655-16660.
- 22. Barthel F, Loeffler JP (1993) Characterization and genetic analysis of functional corticotropin-releasing hormone receptors in primary cerebellar cultures. J Neurochem 60:696-703.
- 23. Bayatti N, Behl C (2005) The neuroprotective actions of corticotropin releasing hormone. Ageing Res Rev 4:258-270.
- 24. Berridge CW, Waterhouse BD (2003) The locus coeruleus-noradrenergic system: modulation of behavioral state and state-dependent cognitive processes. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 42:33-84.
- 25. Birnbaum S, Gobeske KT, Auerbach J, Taylor JR, Arnsten AF (1999) A role for norepinephrine in stress-induced cognitive deficits: alpha-1-adrenoceptor mediation in the prefrontal cortex. Biol Psychiatry 46:1266-1274.
- 26. Birnbaum SG, Yuan PX, Wang M, Vijayraghavan S, Bloom AK, Davis DJ, Gobeske KT, Sweatt JD, Manji HK, Arnsten AF (2004) Protein kinase C overactivity impairs prefrontal cortical regulation of working memory. Science 306:882-884.
- 27. Blank T, Nijholt I, Grammatopoulos DK, Randeva HS, Hillhouse EW, Spiess J (2003) Corticotropin-releasing factor receptors couple to multiple G-proteins to activate

diverse intracellular signaling pathways in mouse hippocampus: role in neuronal excitability and associative learning. J Neurosci 23:700-707.

- 28. Bohacek J, Manuella F, Roszkowski M, Mansuy IM (2015) Hippocampal gene expression induced by cold swim stress depends on sex and handling. Psychoneuroendocrinology 52:1-12.
- 29. Bollen E, Puzzo D, Rutten K, Privitera L, De VJ, Vanmierlo T, Kenis G, Palmeri A, D'Hooge R, Balschun D, Steinbusch HM, Blokland A, Prickaerts J (2014) Improved long-term memory via enhancing cGMP-PKG signaling requires cAMP-PKA signaling. Neuropsychopharmacology 39:2497-2505.
- 30. Bondi CO, Rodriguez G, Gould GG, Frazer A, Morilak DA (2008) Chronic unpredictable stress induces a cognitive deficit and anxiety-like behavior in rats that is prevented by chronic antidepressant drug treatment. Neuropsychopharmacology 33:320-331.
- 31. Bonfiglio JJ, Inda C, Refojo D, Holsboer F, Arzt E, Silberstein S (2011) The corticotropinreleasing hormone network and the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis: molecular and cellular mechanisms involved. Neuroendocrinology 94:12-20.
- Bonfiglio JJ, Inda C, Senin S, Maccarrone G, Refojo D, Giacomini D, Turck CW, Holsboer F, Arzt E, Silberstein S (2013) B-Raf and CRHR1 internalization mediate biphasic ERK1/2 activation by CRH in hippocampal HT22 Cells. Mol Endocrinol 27:491-510.
- 33. Bourguignon NJ (2014) A rostro-caudal axis for language in the frontal lobe: The role of executive control in speech production. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 47C:431-444.
- 34. Braquehais MD, Picouto MD, Casas M, Sher L (2012) Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis dysfunction as a neurobiological correlate of emotion dysregulation in adolescent suicide. World J Pediatr 8:197-206.
- 35. Brar BK, Chen A, Perrin MH, Vale W (2004) Specificity and regulation of extracellularly regulated kinase1/2 phosphorylation through corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) receptors 1 and 2beta by the CRF/urocortin family of peptides. Endocrinology 145:1718-1729.
- 36. Broersen LM, Heinsbroek RP, de Bruin JP, Uylings HB, Olivier B (1995) The role of the medial prefrontal cortex of rats in short-term memory functioning: further support for involvement of cholinergic, rather than dopaminergic mechanisms. Brain Res 674:221-229.
- 37. Brown SM, Henning S, Wellman CL (2005) Mild, short-term stress alters dendritic morphology in rat medial prefrontal cortex. Cereb Cortex 15:1714-1722.
- 38. Buckert M, Schwieren C, Kudielka BM, Fiebach CJ (2014) Acute stress affects risk taking but not ambiguity aversion. Front Neurosci 8:82.
- 39. Butts KA, Floresco SB, Phillips AG (2013) Acute stress impairs set-shifting but not reversal learning. Behav Brain Res 252:222-229.
- 40. Butts KA, Weinberg J, Young AH, Phillips AG (2011a) Glucocorticoid receptors in the prefrontal cortex regulate stress-evoked dopamine efflux and aspects of executive function. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:18459-18464.

- 41. Butts KA, Weinberg J, Young AH, Phillips AG (2011b) Glucocorticoid receptors in the prefrontal cortex regulate stress-evoked dopamine efflux and aspects of executive function. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:18459-18464.
- 42. Cassaday HJ, Nelson AJ, Pezze MA (2014) From attention to memory along the dorsalventral axis of the medial prefrontal cortex: some methodological considerations. Front Syst Neurosci 8:160.
- 43. Chen C, Yang JM, Hu TT, Xu TJ, Xu WP, Wei W (2013) Elevated dopamine D2 receptor in prefrontal cortex of CUMS rats is associated with downregulated cAMP-independent signaling pathway. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 91:750-758.
- 44. Chen Y, Andres AL, Frotscher M, Baram TZ (2012) Tuning synaptic transmission in the hippocampus by stress: the CRH system. Front Cell Neurosci 6:13.
- 45. Chen Y, Brunson KL, Adelmann G, Bender RA, Frotscher M, Baram TZ (2004) Hippocampal corticotropin releasing hormone: pre- and postsynaptic location and release by stress. Neuroscience 126:533-540.
- 46. Chen Y, Fenoglio KA, Dube CM, Grigoriadis DE, Baram TZ (2006) Cellular and molecular mechanisms of hippocampal activation by acute stress are age-dependent. Mol Psychiatry 11:992-1002.
- 47. Chotiwat C, Kelso EW, Harris RB (2010) The effects of repeated restraint stress on energy balance and behavior of mice with selective deletion of CRF receptors. Stress 13:203-213.
- 48. Cibelli G, Corsi P, Diana G, Vitiello F, Thiel G (2001) Corticotropin-releasing factor triggers neurite outgrowth of a catecholaminergic immortalized neuron via cAMP and MAP kinase signalling pathways. Eur J Neurosci 13:1339-1348.
- 49. Clark L, Cools R, Robbins TW (2004) The neuropsychology of ventral prefrontal cortex: decision-making and reversal learning. Brain Cogn 55:41-53.
- Cole RL, Sawchenko PE (2002) Neurotransmitter regulation of cellular activation and neuropeptide gene expression in the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus. J Neurosci 22:959-969.
- 51. Contarino A, Dellu F, Koob GF, Smith GW, Lee KF, Vale W, Gold LH (1999) Reduced anxiety-like and cognitive performance in mice lacking the corticotropin-releasing factor receptor 1. Brain Res 835:1-9.
- 52. Cook SC, Wellman CL (2004) Chronic stress alters dendritic morphology in rat medial prefrontal cortex. J Neurobiol 60:236-248.
- 53. Correa MS, Vedovelli K, Giacobbo BL, de Souza CE, Ferrari P, de LA, II, Walz JC, Kapczinski F, Bromberg E (2014) Psychophysiological correlates of cognitive deficits in family caregivers of patients with Alzheimer Disease. Neuroscience 286C:371-382.
- 54. Dautzenberg FM, Hauger RL (2002) The CRF peptide family and their receptors: yet more partners discovered. Trends Pharmacol Sci 23:71-77.

- 55. Davis MM, Olausson P, Greengard P, Taylor JR, Nairn AC (2012) Regulator of calmodulin signaling knockout mice display anxiety-like behavior and motivational deficits. Eur J Neurosci 35:300-308.
- 56. Davydow DS, Zatzick D, Hough CL, Katon WJ (2013) In-hospital acute stress symptoms are associated with impairment in cognition 1 year after intensive care unit admission. Ann Am Thorac Soc 10:450-457.
- 57. de Bruin JP, Sanchez-Santed F, Heinsbroek RP, Donker A, Postmes P (1994) A behavioural analysis of rats with damage to the medial prefrontal cortex using the Morris water maze: evidence for behavioural flexibility, but not for impaired spatial navigation. Brain Res 652:323-333.
- 58. de Kloet ER, Joels M, Holsboer F (2005) Stress and the brain: from adaptation to disease. Nat Rev Neurosci 6:463-475.
- 59. Deadwyler SA, Berger TW, Opris I, Song D, Hampson RE (2014) Neurons and Networks Organizing and Sequencing Memories. Brain Res.
- 60. DeCoteau WE, Kesner RP, Williams JM (1997) Short-term memory for food reward magnitude: the role of the prefrontal cortex. Behav Brain Res 88:239-249.
- 61. Del RA, Besedovsky HO (2000) The cytokine-HPA axis circuit contributes to prevent or moderate autoimmune processes. Z Rheumatol 59 Suppl 2:II/31-II/35.
- 62. Deutch AY, Roth RH (1990) The determinants of stress-induced activation of the prefrontal cortical dopamine system. Prog Brain Res 85:367-402.
- 63. Di Pietro NC, Black YD, Green-Jordan K, Eichenbaum HB, Kantak KM (2004) Complementary tasks to measure working memory in distinct prefrontal cortex subregions in rats. Behav Neurosci 118:1042-1051.
- 64. Dieleman GC, Huizink AC, Tulen JH, Utens EM, Creemers HE, van der EJ, Verhulst FC (2015) Alterations in HPA-axis and autonomic nervous system functioning in childhood anxiety disorders point to a chronic stress hypothesis. Psychoneuroendocrinology 51:135-150.
- 65. Disner SG, Beevers CG, Haigh EA, Beck AT (2011) Neural mechanisms of the cognitive model of depression. Nat Rev Neurosci 12:467-477.
- 66. Dobrossy MD, Furlanetti LL, Coenen VA (2014) Electrical stimulation of the medial forebrain bundle in pre-clinical studies of psychiatric disorders. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 49C:32-42.
- 67. Dominguez G, Dagnas M, Decorte L, Vandesquille M, Belzung C, Beracochea D, Mons N (2014) Rescuing prefrontal cAMP-CREB pathway reverses working memory deficits during withdrawal from prolonged alcohol exposure. Brain Struct Funct.
- 68. Donnelly NA, Holtzman T, Rich PD, Nevado-Holgado AJ, Fernando AB, Van DG, Holzhammer T, Paul O, Ruther P, Paulsen O, Robbins TW, Dalley JW (2014) Oscillatory activity in the medial prefrontal cortex and nucleus accumbens correlates with impulsivity and reward outcome. PLoS One 9:e111300.

- 69. Dostmann WR (1995) (RP)-cAMPS inhibits the cAMP-dependent protein kinase by blocking the cAMP-induced conformational transition. FEBS Lett 375:231-234.
- Doucas V, Shi Y, Miyamoto S, West A, Verma I, Evans RM (2000) Cytoplasmic catalytic subunit of protein kinase A mediates cross-repression by NF-kappa B and the glucocorticoid receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:11893-11898.
- 71. Dranovsky A, Leonardo ED (2012) Is there a role for young hippocampal neurons in adaptation to stress? Behav Brain Res 227:371-375.
- 72. Druzin MY, Kurzina NP, Malinina EP, Kozlov AP (2000) The effects of local application of D2 selective dopaminergic drugs into the medial prefrontal cortex of rats in a delayed spatial choice task. Behav Brain Res 109:99-111.
- 73. Duman RS, Aghajanian GK (2012) Synaptic dysfunction in depression: potential therapeutic targets. Science 338:68-72.
- 74. Efimenko AY, Lachinova DR, Radzievskii SA, Kruglov SV, Golovin IM, Malyshev IY (2005) Effect of transauricular electroacupuncture on stress-induced changes in cognitive function and erosions of the gastric mucosa in rats. Bull Exp Biol Med 139:176-179.
- 75. Enthoven L, de Kloet ER, Oitzl MS (2008) Effects of maternal deprivation of CD1 mice on performance in the water maze and swim stress. Behav Brain Res 187:195-199.
- 76. Evans KL, Hampson E (2015) Sex differences on prefrontally-dependent cognitive tasks. Brain Cogn 93:42-53.
- 77. Fan Y, Chen P, Li Y, Ordway GA, Zhu MY (2015) Effects of desipramine treatment on stress-induced up-regulation of norepinephrine transporter expression in rat brains. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 232:379-390.
- 78. Fekete EM, Zorrilla EP (2007) Physiology, pharmacology, and therapeutic relevance of urocortins in mammals: ancient CRF paralogs. Front Neuroendocrinol 28:1-27.
- 79. Ferretti C, Blengio M, Gamalero SR, Ghi P (1995) Biochemical and behaviour changes induced by acute stress in a chronic variate stress model of depression: the effect of amitriptyline. Eur J Pharmacol 280:19-26.
- 80. Finlay JM, Zigmond MJ, Abercrombie ED (1995) Increased dopamine and norepinephrine release in medial prefrontal cortex induced by acute and chronic stress: effects of diazepam. Neuroscience 64:619-628.
- 81. Finsterwald C, Alberini CM (2014) Stress and glucocorticoid receptor-dependent mechanisms in long-term memory: from adaptive responses to psychopathologies. Neurobiol Learn Mem 112:17-29.
- 82. Flandreau EI, Ressler KJ, Owens MJ, Nemeroff CB (2012) Chronic overexpression of corticotropin-releasing factor from the central amygdala produces HPA axis hyperactivity and behavioral anxiety associated with gene-expression changes in the hippocampus and paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus. Psychoneuroendocrinology 37:27-38.

- 83. Friedler B, Crapser J, McCullough L (2014) One is the deadliest number: the detrimental effects of social isolation on cerebrovascular diseases and cognition. Acta Neuropathol.
- 84. Fuge P, Aust S, Fan Y, Weigand A, Gartner M, Feeser M, Bajbouj M, Grimm S (2014) Interaction of early life stress and corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor gene: effects on working memory. Biol Psychiatry 76:888-894.
- 85. Funahashi S, Bruce CJ, Goldman-Rakic PS (1989) Mnemonic coding of visual space in the monkey's dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. J Neurophysiol 61:331-349.
- 86. Gallagher JP, Orozco-Cabal LF, Liu J, Shinnick-Gallagher P (2008) Synaptic physiology of central CRH system. Eur J Pharmacol 583:215-225.
- 87. Gibbs SE, D'Esposito M (2005) A functional MRI study of the effects of bromocriptine, a dopamine receptor agonist, on component processes of working memory. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 180:644-653.
- Gibson C, Medeiros KE, Giorgini V, Mecca JT, Devenport LD, Connelly S, Mumford MD (2014) A Qualitative Analysis of Power Differentials in Ethical Situations in Academia. Ethics Behav 24:311-325.
- 89. Givalois L, Arancibia S, Tapia-Arancibia L (2000) Concomitant changes in CRH mRNA levels in rat hippocampus and hypothalamus following immobilization stress. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 75:166-171.
- 90. Goerlich VC, Natt D, Elfwing M, Macdonald B, Jensen P (2012) Transgenerational effects of early experience on behavioral, hormonal and gene expression responses to acute stress in the precocial chicken. Horm Behav 61:711-718.
- 91. Goldman-Rakic PS (1994) Working memory dysfunction in schizophrenia. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 6:348-357.
- 92. Golkar A, Johansson E, Kasahara M, Osika W, Perski A, Savic I (2014) The influence of work-related chronic stress on the regulation of emotion and on functional connectivity in the brain. PLoS One 9:e104550.
- 93. Grammatopoulos DK, Chrousos GP (2002) Functional characteristics of CRH receptors and potential clinical applications of CRH-receptor antagonists. Trends Endocrinol Metab 13:436-444.
- 94. Grammatopoulos DK, Randeva HS, Levine MA, Kanellopoulou KA, Hillhouse EW (2001) Rat cerebral cortex corticotropin-releasing hormone receptors: evidence for receptor coupling to multiple G-proteins. J Neurochem 76:509-519.
- 95. Grammatopoulos DK, Randeva HS, Levine MA, Katsanou ES, Hillhouse EW (2000) Urocortin, but not corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH), activates the mitogenactivated protein kinase signal transduction pathway in human pregnant myometrium: an effect mediated via R1alpha and R2beta CRH receptor subtypes and stimulation of Gq-proteins. Mol Endocrinol 14:2076-2091.

- 96. Green MR, Barnes B, McCormick CM (2013) Social instability stress in adolescence increases anxiety and reduces social interactions in adulthood in male Long-Evans rats. Dev Psychobiol 55:849-859.
- 97. Griffin GD, Charron D, Al-Daccak R (2014) Post-traumatic stress disorder: revisiting adrenergics, glucocorticoids, immune system effects and homeostasis. Clin Transl Immunology 3:e27.
- Grimm S, Gartner M, Fuge P, Fan Y, Weigand A, Feeser M, Aust S, Heekeren HR, Jacobs A, Heuser I, Bajbouj M (2014) Variation in the corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor 1 (CRHR1) gene modulates age effects on working memory. J Psychiatr Res.
- Groenink L, Dirks A, Verdouw PM, Schipholt M, Veening JG, Van Der Gugten J, Olivier B (2002) HPA axis dysregulation in mice overexpressing corticotropin releasing hormone. Biol Psychiatry 51:875-881.
- Guercio GD, Bevictori L, Vargas-Lopes C, Madeira C, Oliveira A, Carvalho VF, d'Avila JC, Panizzutti R (2014) D-serine prevents cognitive deficits induced by acute stress. Neuropharmacology 86:1-8.
- 101. Gunby P (1981) Air controller strike spotlights job stress. JAMA 246:1632-1633.
- 102. Guo Q, Zheng H, Justice NJ (2012) Central CRF system perturbation in an Alzheimer's disease knockin mouse model. Neurobiol Aging 33:2678-2691.
- 103. Harb F, Hidalgo MP, Martau B (2014) Lack of exposure to natural light in the workspace is associated with physiological, sleep and depressive symptoms. Chronobiol Int1-8.
- 104. Harris KD, Zahavi A (2013) The evolution of ACh and GABA as neurotransmitters: a hypothesis. Med Hypotheses 81:760-762.
- 105. Harris S, Johnson S, Duncan JW, Udemgba C, Meyer JH, Albert PR, Lomberk G, Urrutia R, Ou XM, Stockmeier CA, Wang JM (2014) Evidence Revealing Deregulation of The KLF11-Mao A Pathway in Association with Chronic Stress and Depressive Disorders. Neuropsychopharmacology.
- 106. Hartley LR, Adams RG (1974) Effect of noise on the Stroop Test. J Exp Psychol 102:62-66.
- Hauger RL, Risbrough V, Brauns O, Dautzenberg FM (2006) Corticotropin releasing factor (CRF) receptor signaling in the central nervous system: new molecular targets. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets 5:453-479.
- 108. Havekes R, Timmer M, van der Zee EA (2007) Regional differences in hippocampal PKA immunoreactivity after training and reversal training in a spatial Y-maze task. Hippocampus 17:338-348.
- 109. Helie S, Ell SW, Ashby FG (2014) Learning robust cortico-cortical associations with the basal ganglia: An integrative review. Cortex 64C:123-135.

- 110. Henckens MJ, van der MK, van der TA, Pillai AG, Fernandez G, Dijkhuizen RM, Joels M (2015) Stress-induced alterations in large-scale functional networks of the rodent brain. Neuroimage 105:312-322.
- 111. Herman JP, McKlveen JM, Solomon MB, Carvalho-Netto E, Myers B (2012) Neural regulation of the stress response: glucocorticoid feedback mechanisms. Braz J Med Biol Res 45:292-298.
- 112. Hermans EJ, Henckens MJ, Joels M, Fernandez G (2014) Dynamic adaptation of largescale brain networks in response to acute stressors. Trends Neurosci 37:304-314.
- 113. Herry C, Johansen JP (2014) Encoding of fear learning and memory in distributed neuronal circuits. Nat Neurosci 17:1644-1654.
- 114. Hill JJ, Kolluri N, Hashimoto T, Wu Q, Sampson AR, Monteggia LM, Lewis DA (2005) Analysis of pyramidal neuron morphology in an inducible knockout of brain-derived neurotrophic factor. Biol Psychiatry 57:932-934.
- 115. Hillhouse EW, Grammatopoulos DK (2006) The molecular mechanisms underlying the regulation of the biological activity of corticotropin-releasing hormone receptors: implications for physiology and pathophysiology. Endocr Rev 27:260-286.
- 116. Holmes A, Wellman CL (2009) Stress-induced prefrontal reorganization and executive dysfunction in rodents. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 33:773-783.
- 117. Holsboer F (1999) The rationale for corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor (CRH-R) antagonists to treat depression and anxiety. J Psychiatr Res 33:181-214.
- 118. Holsboer F, Ising M (2010) Stress hormone regulation: biological role and translation into therapy. Annu Rev Psychol 61:81-11.
- 119. Hovens IB, van Leeuwen BL, Nyakas C, Heineman E, van der Zee EA, Schoemaker RG (2014) Postoperative cognitive dysfunction and microglial activation in associated brain regions in old rats. Neurobiol Learn Mem 118C:74-79.
- 120. Howell KK, Monk BR, Carmack SA, Mrowczynski OD, Clark RE, Anagnostaras SG (2014) Inhibition of PKC disrupts addiction-related memory. Front Behav Neurosci 8:70.
- 121. Hsu DT, Chen FL, Takahashi LK, Kalin NH (1998) Rapid stress-induced elevations in corticotropin-releasing hormone mRNA in rat central amygdala nucleus and hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus: an in situ hybridization analysis. Brain Res 788:305-310.
- 122. Hubbard DT, Nakashima BR, Lee I, Takahashi LK (2007) Activation of basolateral amygdala corticotropin-releasing factor 1 receptors modulates the consolidation of contextual fear. Neuroscience 150:818-828.
- 123. Hussain RJ, Jacobson L (2015) Increased antidepressant sensitivity after prefrontal cortex glucocorticoid receptor gene deletion in mice. Physiol Behav 138:113-117.
- 124. Imaki T, Nahan JL, Rivier C, Sawchenko PE, Vale W (1991) Differential regulation of corticotropin-releasing factor mRNA in rat brain regions by glucocorticoids and stress. J Neurosci 11:585-599.

- 125. Ishikawa S, Saito Y, Yanagawa Y, Otani S, Hiraide S, Shimamura K, Matsumoto M, Togashi H (2012) Early postnatal stress alters extracellular signal-regulated kinase signaling in the corticolimbic system modulating emotional circuitry in adult rats. Eur J Neurosci 35:135-145.
- 126. Itoi K, Helmreich DL, Lopez-Figueroa MO, Watson SJ (1999) Differential regulation of corticotropin-releasing hormone and vasopressin gene transcription in the hypothalamus by norepinephrine. J Neurosci 19:5464-5472.
- 127. Izquierdo A, Wellman CL, Holmes A (2006) Brief uncontrollable stress causes dendritic retraction in infralimbic cortex and resistance to fear extinction in mice. J Neurosci 26:5733-5738.
- 128. Jablonka E, Ginsburg S, Dor D (2012) The co-evolution of language and emotions. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 367:2152-2159.
- 129. Jacobson L (2014) Forebrain glucocorticoid receptor gene deletion attenuates behavioral changes and antidepressant responsiveness during chronic stress. Brain Res 1583:109-121.
- 130. Jaferi A, Bhatnagar S (2007) Corticotropin-releasing hormone receptors in the medial prefrontal cortex regulate hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal activity and anxiety-related behavior regardless of prior stress experience. Brain Res 1186:212-223.
- Jakobsson K, Gustavsson P (2014) 0284 Occupational exposure and stroke A critical review of shift work, and work-related psychosocial risk factors. Occup Environ Med 71 Suppl 1:A100-A101.
- 132. Jayachandran R, Liu X, Bosedasgupta S, Muller P, Zhang CL, Moshous D, Studer V, Schneider J, Genoud C, Fossoud C, Gambino F, Khelfaoui M, Muller C, Bartholdi D, Rossez H, Stiess M, Houbaert X, Jaussi R, Frey D, Kammerer RA, Deupi X, de Villartay JP, Luthi A, Humeau Y, Pieters J (2014) Coronin 1 regulates cognition and behavior through modulation of cAMP/protein kinase A signaling. PLoS Biol 12:e1001820.
- Jeanneteau FD, Lambert WM, Ismaili N, Bath KG, Lee FS, Garabedian MJ, Chao MV (2012a) BDNF and glucocorticoids regulate corticotrophin-releasing hormone (CRH) homeostasis in the hypothalamus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109:1305-1310.
- 134. Jeanneteau FD, Lambert WM, Ismaili N, Bath KG, Lee FS, Garabedian MJ, Chao MV (2012b) BDNF and glucocorticoids regulate corticotrophin-releasing hormone (CRH) homeostasis in the hypothalamus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109:1305-1310.
- 135. Jedema HP, Grace AA (2004) Corticotropin-releasing hormone directly activates noradrenergic neurons of the locus ceruleus recorded in vitro. J Neurosci 24:9703-9713.
- 136. Jeon HA (2014) Hierarchical processing in the prefrontal cortex in a variety of cognitive domains. Front Syst Neurosci 8:223.
- 137. Jindal A, Mahesh R, Bhatt S (2015) Etazolate, a phosphodiesterase-4 enzyme inhibitor produces antidepressant-like effects by blocking the behavioral, biochemical, neurobiological deficits and histological abnormalities in hippocampus region caused by olfactory bulbectomy. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 232:623-637.

- 138. Joels M, Pasricha N, Karst H (2013) The interplay between rapid and slow corticosteroid actions in brain. Eur J Pharmacol 719:44-52.
- 139. Joo EY, Kim H, Suh S, Hong SB (2014) Hippocampal substructural vulnerability to sleep disturbance and cognitive impairment in patients with chronic primary insomnia: magnetic resonance imaging morphometry. Sleep 37:1189-1198.
- 140. Kart-Teke E, De Souza Silva MA, Huston JP, Dere E (2006) Wistar rats show episodiclike memory for unique experiences. Neurobiol Learn Mem 85:173-182.
- 141. Keen-Rhinehart E, Michopoulos V, Toufexis DJ, Martin EI, Nair H, Ressler KJ, Davis M, Owens MJ, Nemeroff CB, Wilson ME (2009) Continuous expression of corticotropinreleasing factor in the central nucleus of the amygdala emulates the dysregulation of the stress and reproductive axes. Mol Psychiatry 14:37-50.
- 142. Ketz NA, Jensen O, O'Reilly RC (2015) Thalamic pathways underlying prefrontal cortexmedial temporal lobe oscillatory interactions. Trends Neurosci 38:3-12.
- Kimura M, Muller-Preuss P, Lu A, Wiesner E, Flachskamm C, Wurst W, Holsboer F, Deussing JM (2010) Conditional corticotropin-releasing hormone overexpression in the mouse forebrain enhances rapid eye movement sleep. Mol Psychiatry 15:154-165.
- 144. Knapman A, Heinzmann JM, Holsboer F, Landgraf R, Touma C (2010) Modeling psychotic and cognitive symptoms of affective disorders: Disrupted latent inhibition and reversal learning deficits in highly stress reactive mice. Neurobiol Learn Mem 94:145-152.
- 145. Kobori N, Moore AN, Dash PK (2015a) Altered regulation of protein kinase a activity in the medial prefrontal cortex of normal and brain-injured animals actively engaged in a working memory task. J Neurotrauma 32:139-148.
- 146. Kobori N, Moore AN, Dash PK (2015b) Altered regulation of protein kinase a activity in the medial prefrontal cortex of normal and brain-injured animals actively engaged in a working memory task. J Neurotrauma 32:139-148.
- 147. Kolb B, Mychasiuk R, Muhammad A, Li Y, Frost DO, Gibb R (2012) Experience and the developing prefrontal cortex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109 Suppl 2:17186-17193.
- 148. Kolb B, Nonneman AJ, Singh RK (1974) Double dissociation of spatial impairments and perseveration following selective prefrontal lesions in rats. J Comp Physiol Psychol 87:772-780.
- 149. Kolb B, Whishaw IQ (1983) Dissociation of the contributions of the prefrontal, motor, and parietal cortex to the control of movement in the rat: an experimental review. Can J Psychol 37:211-232.
- 150. Kolber BJ, Boyle MP, Wieczorek L, Kelley CL, Onwuzurike CC, Nettles SA, Vogt SK, Muglia LJ (2010) Transient early-life forebrain corticotropin-releasing hormone elevation causes long-lasting anxiogenic and despair-like changes in mice. J Neurosci 30:2571-2581.
- 151. Korosi A, Baram TZ (2008) The central corticotropin releasing factor system during development and adulthood. Eur J Pharmacol 583:204-214.
- 152. Kovacs KJ (2013) CRH: the link between hormonal-, metabolic- and behavioral responses to stress. J Chem Neuroanat 54:25-33.
- Kovacs KJ, Foldes A, Sawchenko PE (2000) Glucocorticoid negative feedback selectively targets vasopressin transcription in parvocellular neurosecretory neurons. J Neurosci 20:3843-3852.
- 154. Kovacs KJ, Sawchenko PE (1996) Regulation of stress-induced transcriptional changes in the hypothalamic neurosecretory neurons. J Mol Neurosci 7:125-133.
- 155. Kovalovsky D, Refojo D, Liberman AC, Hochbaum D, Pereda MP, Coso OA, Stalla GK, Holsboer F, Arzt E (2002) Activation and induction of NUR77/NURR1 in corticotrophs by CRH/cAMP: involvement of calcium, protein kinase A, and MAPK pathways. Mol Endocrinol 16:1638-1651.
- 156. Kozicz T, Bittencourt JC, May PJ, Reiner A, Gamlin PD, Palkovits M, Horn AK, Toledo CA, Ryabinin AE (2011) The Edinger-Westphal nucleus: a historical, structural, and functional perspective on a dichotomous terminology. J Comp Neurol 519:1413-1434.
- 157. Kreibich AS, Briand L, Cleck JN, Ecke L, Rice KC, Blendy JA (2009) Stress-induced potentiation of cocaine reward: a role for CRF R1 and CREB. Neuropsychopharmacology 34:2609-2617.
- 158. Kubota N, Amemiya S, Motoki C, Otsuka T, Nishijima T, Kita I (2012) Corticotropinreleasing factor antagonist reduces activation of noradrenalin and serotonin neurons in the locus coeruleus and dorsal raphe in the arousal response accompanied by yawning behavior in rats. Neurosci Res 72:316-323.
- 159. Kuhn S, Gallinat J (2013) Gray matter correlates of posttraumatic stress disorder: a quantitative meta-analysis. Biol Psychiatry 73:70-74.
- 160. Lang T, Jahn R (2008) Core proteins of the secretory machinery. Handb Exp Pharmacol107-127.
- 161. Lasikiewicz N, Hendrickx H, Talbot D, Dye L (2013) Exploring stress-induced cognitive impairment in middle aged, centrally obese adults. Stress 16:44-53.
- 162. Lefkowitz RJ, Shenoy SK (2005) Transduction of receptor signals by beta-arrestins. Science 308:512-517.
- Lehner M, Wislowska-Stanek A, Skorzewska A, Plaznik A (2015) Chronic restraint increases apoptosis in the hippocampus of rats with high responsiveness to fear stimuli. Neurosci Lett 586:55-59.
- Lejeune S, Dourmap N, Martres MP, Giros B, Dauge V, Naudon L (2013) The dopamine D1 receptor agonist SKF 38393 improves temporal order memory performance in maternally deprived rats. Neurobiol Learn Mem 106:268-273.
- Li CS, Sinha R (2008) Inhibitory control and emotional stress regulation: neuroimaging evidence for frontal-limbic dysfunction in psycho-stimulant addiction. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 32:581-597.

- 166. Lin Y, Ter Horst GJ, Wichmann R, Bakker P, Liu A, Li X, Westenbroek C (2009) Sex differences in the effects of acute and chronic stress and recovery after long-term stress on stress-related brain regions of rats. Cereb Cortex 19:1978-1989.
- 167. Lin Y, Westenbroek C, Bakker P, Termeer J, Liu A, Li X, Ter Horst GJ (2008) Effects of long-term stress and recovery on the prefrontal cortex and dentate gyrus in male and female rats. Cereb Cortex 18:2762-2774.
- 168. Liu D, Zhang Q, Gu J, Wang X, Xie K, Xian X, Wang J, Jiang H, Wang Z (2014) Resveratrol prevents impaired cognition induced by chronic unpredictable mild stress in rats. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 49:21-29.
- Liu J, Yu B, Neugebauer V, Grigoriadis DE, Rivier J, Vale WW, Shinnick-Gallagher P, Gallagher JP (2004) Corticotropin-releasing factor and Urocortin I modulate excitatory glutamatergic synaptic transmission. J Neurosci 24:4020-4029.
- 170. Liu M, Li J, Dai P, Zhao F, Zheng G, Jing J, Wang J, Luo W, Chen J (2015) Microglia activation regulates GluR1 phosphorylation in chronic unpredictable stress-induced cognitive dysfunction. Stress1-11.
- 171. Liu X, Betzenhauser MJ, Reiken S, Meli AC, Xie W, Chen BX, Arancio O, Marks AR (2012a) Role of leaky neuronal ryanodine receptors in stress-induced cognitive dysfunction. Cell 150:1055-1067.
- 172. Liu Y, Su Y, Sun S, Wang T, Qiao X, Li H, Run X, Liang Z (2012b) Human tau may modify glucocorticoids-mediated regulation of cAMP-dependent kinase and phosphorylated cAMP response element binding protein. Neurochem Res 37:935-947.
- 173. Louiset E, Stratakis CA, Perraudin V, Griffin KJ, Libe R, Cabrol S, Feve B, Young J, Groussin L, Bertherat J, Lefebvre H (2009) The paradoxical increase in cortisol secretion induced by dexamethasone in primary pigmented nodular adrenocortical disease involves a glucocorticoid receptor-mediated effect of dexamethasone on protein kinase A catalytic subunits. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94:2406-2413.
- 174. Lundberg U (2005) Stress hormones in health and illness: the roles of work and gender. Psychoneuroendocrinology 30:1017-1021.
- 175. Ma XM, Camacho C, Aguilera G (2001) Regulation of corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) transcription and CRH mRNA stability by glucocorticoids. Cell Mol Neurobiol 21:465-475.
- 176. MacKenzie G, Maguire J (2015) Chronic stress shifts the GABA reversal potential in the hippocampus and increases seizure susceptibility. Epilepsy Res 109:13-27.
- 177. Magalhaes AC, Holmes KD, Dale LB, Comps-Agrar L, Lee D, Yadav PN, Drysdale L, Poulter MO, Roth BL, Pin JP, Anisman H, Ferguson SS (2010) CRF receptor 1 regulates anxiety behavior via sensitization of 5-HT2 receptor signaling. Nat Neurosci 13:622-629.
- 178. Makino S, Shibasaki T, Yamauchi N, Nishioka T, Mimoto T, Wakabayashi I, Gold PW, Hashimoto K (1999) Psychological stress increased corticotropin-releasing hormone mRNA and content in the central nucleus of the amygdala but not in the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus in the rat. Brain Res 850:136-143.

- 179. Mamczarz J, Pereira EF, Aracava Y, Adler M, Albuquerque EX (2010) An acute exposure to a sub-lethal dose of soman triggers anxiety-related behavior in guinea pigs: interactions with acute restraint. Neurotoxicology 31:77-84.
- Maroun M (2006) Stress reverses plasticity in the pathway projecting from the ventromedial prefrontal cortex to the basolateral amygdala. Eur J Neurosci 24:2917-2922.
- Maroun M, Richter-Levin G (2003) Exposure to acute stress blocks the induction of long-term potentiation of the amygdala-prefrontal cortex pathway in vivo. J Neurosci 23:4406-4409.
- 182. Marsden WN (2013) Synaptic plasticity in depression: molecular, cellular and functional correlates. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 43:168-184.
- 183. Martin F, Nunez C, Marin MT, Laorden ML, Kovacs KJ, Milanes MV (2012) Involvement of noradrenergic transmission in the PVN on CREB activation, TORC1 levels, and pituitary-adrenal axis activity during morphine withdrawal. PLoS One 7:e31119.
- Mashour GA, Alkire MT (2013) Evolution of consciousness: phylogeny, ontogeny, and emergence from general anesthesia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110 Suppl 2:10357-10364.
- 185. Mattei TA (2014) Speech as a breakthrough signaling resource in the cognitive evolution of biological complex adaptive systems. Behav Brain Sci 37:563-564.
- 186. Matuszewich L, McFadden LM, Friedman RD, Frye CA (2014) Neurochemical and behavioral effects of chronic unpredictable stress. Behav Pharmacol 25:557-566.
- 187. McGaughy JA, Amaral AC, Rushmore RJ, Mokler DJ, Morgane PJ, Rosene DL, Galler JR (2014) Prenatal malnutrition leads to deficits in attentional set shifting and decreases metabolic activity in prefrontal subregions that control executive function. Dev Neurosci 36:532-541.
- Meerlo P, Easton A, Bergmann BM, Turek FW (2001) Restraint increases prolactin and REM sleep in C57BL/6J mice but not in BALB/cJ mice. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 281:R846-R854.
- 189. Meller E, Shen C, Nikolao TA, Jensen C, Tsimberg Y, Chen J, Gruen RJ (2003) Regionspecific effects of acute and repeated restraint stress on the phosphorylation of mitogen-activated protein kinases. Brain Res 979:57-64.
- 190. Meng QY, Chen XN, Tong DL, Zhou JN (2011) Stress and glucocorticoids regulated corticotropin releasing factor in rat prefrontal cortex. Mol Cell Endocrinol 342:54-63.
- Merali Z, Kent P, Du L, Hrdina P, Palkovits M, Faludi G, Poulter MO, Bedard T, Anisman H (2006) Corticotropin-releasing hormone, arginine vasopressin, gastrin-releasing peptide, and neuromedin B alterations in stress-relevant brain regions of suicides and control subjects. Biol Psychiatry 59:594-602.
- Merchenthaler I (1984) Corticotropin releasing factor (CRF)-like immunoreactivity in the rat central nervous system. Extrahypothalamic distribution. Peptides 5 Suppl 1:53-69.

- 193. Messaoudi E, Kanhema T, Soule J, Tiron A, Dagyte G, da SB, Bramham CR (2007) Sustained Arc/Arg3.1 synthesis controls long-term potentiation consolidation through regulation of local actin polymerization in the dentate gyrus in vivo. J Neurosci 27:10445-10455.
- 194. Meyrer R, Demling J, Kornhuber J, Nowak M (2009) Effects of night shifts in bipolar disorders and extreme morningness. Bipolar Disord 11:897-899.
- 195. Michelsen KA, van den Hove DL, Schmitz C, Segers O, Prickaerts J, Steinbusch HW (2007) Prenatal stress and subsequent exposure to chronic mild stress influence dendritic spine density and morphology in the rat medial prefrontal cortex. BMC Neurosci 8:107.
- 196. Miguel TT, Gomes KS, Nunes-de-Souza RL (2014) Tonic modulation of anxiety-like behavior by corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) type 1 receptor (CRF1) within the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC) in male mice: role of protein kinase A (PKA). Horm Behav 66:247-256.
- 197. Minor TR, Jackson RL, Maier SF (1984) Effects of task-irrelevant cues and reinforcement delay on choice-escape learning following inescapable shock: evidence for a deficit in selective attention. J Exp Psychol Anim Behav Process 10:543-556.
- 198. Moench KM, Wellman CL (2014) Stress-induced alterations in prefrontal dendritic spines: Implications for post-traumatic stress disorder. Neurosci Lett.
- 199. Mohanty A, Gitelman DR, Small DM, Mesulam MM (2008) The spatial attention network interacts with limbic and monoaminergic systems to modulate motivation-induced attention shifts. Cereb Cortex 18:2604-2613.
- 200. Moriguchi S, Tanaka T, Tagashira H, Narahashi T, Fukunaga K (2013) Novel nootropic drug sunifiram improves cognitive deficits via CaM kinase II and protein kinase C activation in olfactory bulbectomized mice. Behav Brain Res 242:150-157.
- 201. Motomura Y, Mishima K (2014) [Sleep and emotion: the role of sleep in emotion regulation]. Brain Nerve 66:15-23.
- 202. Muir JL, Everitt BJ, Robbins TW (1996) The cerebral cortex of the rat and visual attentional function: dissociable effects of mediofrontal, cingulate, anterior dorsolateral, and parietal cortex lesions on a five-choice serial reaction time task. Cereb Cortex 6:470-481.
- 203. Muller MB, Zimmermann S, Sillaber I, Hagemeyer TP, Deussing JM, Timpl P, Kormann MS, Droste SK, Kuhn R, Reul JM, Holsboer F, Wurst W (2003) Limbic corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor 1 mediates anxiety-related behavior and hormonal adaptation to stress. Nat Neurosci 6:1100-1107.
- 204. Murphy BL, Arnsten AF, Jentsch JD, Roth RH (1996) Dopamine and spatial working memory in rats and monkeys: pharmacological reversal of stress-induced impairment. J Neurosci 16:7768-7775.
- 205. Musazzi L, Milanese M, Farisello P, Zappettini S, Tardito D, Barbiero VS, Bonifacino T, Mallei A, Baldelli P, Racagni G, Raiteri M, Benfenati F, Bonanno G, Popoli M (2010)

Acute stress increases depolarization-evoked glutamate release in the rat prefrontal/frontal cortex: the dampening action of antidepressants. PLoS One 5:e8566.

- Myers B, McKlveen JM, Herman JP (2014) Glucocorticoid actions on synapses, circuits, and behavior: implications for the energetics of stress. Front Neuroendocrinol 35:180-196.
- 207. Nakamae T, Sakai Y, Abe Y, Nishida S, Fukui K, Yamada K, Kubota M, Denys D, Narumoto J (2014) Altered fronto-striatal fiber topography and connectivity in obsessive-compulsive disorder. PLoS One 9:e112075.
- 208. Nava N, Treccani G, Liebenberg N, Chen F, Popoli M, Wegener G, Nyengaard JR (2014) Chronic desipramine prevents acute stress-induced reorganization of medial prefrontal cortex architecture by blocking glutamate vesicle accumulation and excitatory synapse increase. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol.
- 209. O'Malley D, Dinan TG, Cryan JF (2011) Neonatal maternal separation in the rat impacts on the stress responsivity of central corticotropin-releasing factor receptors in adulthood. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 214:221-229.
- Oei NY, Both S, van HD, van der GJ (2014) Acute stress-induced cortisol elevations mediate reward system activity during subconscious processing of sexual stimuli. Psychoneuroendocrinology 39:111-120.
- 211. Oosterholt BG, Maes JH, Van der LD, Verbraak MJ, Kompier MA (2014) Cognitive performance in both clinical and non-clinical burnout. Stress 17:400-409.
- 212. Opris I, Casanova MF (2014) Prefrontal cortical minicolumn: from executive control to disrupted cognitive processing. Brain 137:1863-1875.
- 213. Pacak K, Palkovits M, Makino S, Kopin IJ, Goldstein DS (1996) Brainstem hemisection decreases corticotropin-releasing hormone mRNA in the paraventricular nucleus but not in the central amygdaloid nucleus. J Neuroendocrinol 8:543-551.
- 214. Palkovits M, Brownstein MJ, Vale W (1985) Distribution of corticotropin-releasing factor in rat brain. Fed Proc 44:215-219.
- 215. Panagiotakopoulos L, Neigh GN (2014) Development of the HPA axis: where and when do sex differences manifest? Front Neuroendocrinol 35:285-302.
- Parker MO, Gaviria J, Haigh A, Millington ME, Brown VJ, Combe FJ, Brennan CH (2012) Discrimination reversal and attentional sets in zebrafish (Danio rerio). Behav Brain Res 232:264-268.
- 217. Perrin MH, Vale WW (1999) Corticotropin releasing factor receptors and their ligand family. Ann N Y Acad Sci 885:312-328.
- 218. Pistillo F, Clementi F, Zoli M, Gotti C (2015) Nicotinic, glutamatergic and dopaminergic synaptic transmission and plasticity in the mesocorticolimbic system: Focus on nicotine effects. Prog Neurobiol 124C:1-27.

- 219. Plaznik A, Palejko W, Stefanski R, Kostowski W (1993) Open field behavior of rats reared in different social conditions: the effects of stress and imipramine. Pol J Pharmacol 45:243-252.
- 220. Plotsky PM (1985) Hypophyseotropic regulation of adenohypophyseal adrenocorticotropin secretion. Fed Proc 44:207-213.
- 221. Pompili M, Serafini G, Innamorati M, Moller-Leimkuhler AM, Giupponi G, Girardi P, Tatarelli R, Lester D (2010) The hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis and serotonin abnormalities: a selective overview for the implications of suicide prevention. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 260:583-600.
- 222. Popoli M, Yan Z, McEwen BS, Sanacora G (2012a) The stressed synapse: the impact of stress and glucocorticoids on glutamate transmission. Nat Rev Neurosci 13:22-37.
- 223. Popoli M, Yan Z, McEwen BS, Sanacora G (2012b) The stressed synapse: the impact of stress and glucocorticoids on glutamate transmission. Nat Rev Neurosci 13:22-37.
- 224. Proctor SP, White RF, Robins TG, Echeverria D, Rocskay AZ (1996) Effect of overtime work on cognitive function in automotive workers. Scand J Work Environ Health 22:124-132.
- 225. Puig MV, Antzoulatos EG, Miller EK (2014) Prefrontal dopamine in associative learning and memory. Neuroscience 282C:217-229.
- 226. Quaedflieg CW, Schwabe L, Meyer T, Smeets T (2013) Time dependent effects of stress prior to encoding on event-related potentials and 24 h delayed retrieval. Psychoneuroendocrinology 38:3057-3069.
- 227. Radley JJ, Rocher AB, Rodriguez A, Ehlenberger DB, Dammann M, McEwen BS, Morrison JH, Wearne SL, Hof PR (2008) Repeated stress alters dendritic spine morphology in the rat medial prefrontal cortex. J Comp Neurol 507:1141-1150.
- 228. Raio CM, Phelps EA (2015) The influence of acute stress on the regulation of conditioned fear. Neurobiol Stress 1:134-146.
- 229. Ramos BP, Birnbaum SG, Lindenmayer I, Newton SS, Duman RS, Arnsten AF (2003) Dysregulation of protein kinase a signaling in the aged prefrontal cortex: new strategy for treating age-related cognitive decline. Neuron 40:835-845.
- Ramos BP, Colgan L, Nou E, Ovadia S, Wilson SR, Arnsten AF (2005) The beta-1 adrenergic antagonist, betaxolol, improves working memory performance in rats and monkeys. Biol Psychiatry 58:894-900.
- 231. Raone A, Cassanelli A, Scheggi S, Rauggi R, Danielli B, De Montis MG (2007) Hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal modifications consequent to chronic stress exposure in an experimental model of depression in rats. Neuroscience 146:1734-1742.
- 232. Razzoli M, Andreoli M, Maraia G, Di FC, Arban R (2010) Functional role of Calciumstimulated adenylyl cyclase 8 in adaptations to psychological stressors in the mouse: implications for mood disorders. Neuroscience 170:429-440.

- 233. Refojo D, Echenique C, Muller MB, Reul JM, Deussing JM, Wurst W, Sillaber I, Paez-Pereda M, Holsboer F, Arzt E (2005) Corticotropin-releasing hormone activates ERK1/2 MAPK in specific brain areas. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:6183-6188.
- 234. Refojo D, Schweizer M, Kuehne C, Ehrenberg S, Thoeringer C, Vogl AM, Dedic N, Schumacher M, von WG, Avrabos C, Touma C, Engblom D, Schutz G, Nave KA, Eder M, Wotjak CT, Sillaber I, Holsboer F, Wurst W, Deussing JM (2011a) Glutamatergic and dopaminergic neurons mediate anxiogenic and anxiolytic effects of CRHR1. Science 333:1903-1907.
- 235. Refojo D, Schweizer M, Kuehne C, Ehrenberg S, Thoeringer C, Vogl AM, Dedic N, Schumacher M, von WG, Avrabos C, Touma C, Engblom D, Schutz G, Nave KA, Eder M, Wotjak CT, Sillaber I, Holsboer F, Wurst W, Deussing JM (2011b) Glutamatergic and dopaminergic neurons mediate anxiogenic and anxiolytic effects of CRHR1. Science 333:1903-1907.
- 236. Regev L, Tsoory M, Gil S, Chen A (2012) Site-specific genetic manipulation of amygdala corticotropin-releasing factor reveals its imperative role in mediating behavioral response to challenge. Biol Psychiatry 71:317-326.
- 237. Reul JM, Holsboer F (2002) On the role of corticotropin-releasing hormone receptors in anxiety and depression. Dialogues Clin Neurosci 4:31-46.
- 238. Reznikov LR, Grillo CA, Piroli GG, Pasumarthi RK, Reagan LP, Fadel J (2007) Acute stress-mediated increases in extracellular glutamate levels in the rat amygdala: differential effects of antidepressant treatment. Eur J Neurosci 25:3109-3114.
- 239. Ries SK, Greenhouse I, Dronkers NF, Haaland KY, Knight RT (2014) Double dissociation of the roles of the left and right prefrontal cortices in anticipatory regulation of action. Neuropsychologia 63:215-225.
- 240. Riga D, Matos MR, Glas A, Smit AB, Spijker S, Van den Oever MC (2014) Optogenetic dissection of medial prefrontal cortex circuitry. Front Syst Neurosci 8:230.
- 241. Riley JD, Moore S, Cramer SC, Lin JJ (2011) Caudate atrophy and impaired frontostriatal connections are linked to executive dysfunction in temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsy Behav 21:80-87.
- 242. Rocher C, Spedding M, Munoz C, Jay TM (2004) Acute stress-induced changes in hippocampal/prefrontal circuits in rats: effects of antidepressants. Cereb Cortex 14:224-229.
- 243. Roozendaal B, McEwen BS, Chattarji S (2009) Stress, memory and the amygdala. Nat Rev Neurosci 10:423-433.
- 244. Rosenthal T, Alter A (2012) Occupational stress and hypertension. J Am Soc Hypertens 6:2-22.
- 245. Roth RH, Tam SY, Ida Y, Yang JX, Deutch AY (1988) Stress and the mesocorticolimbic dopamine systems. Ann N Y Acad Sci 537:138-147.
- 246. Runyan JD, Moore AN, Dash PK (2005) A role for prefrontal calcium-sensitive protein phosphatase and kinase activities in working memory. Learn Mem 12:103-110.

- Rutten K, Wallace TL, Works M, Prickaerts J, Blokland A, Novak TJ, Santarelli L, Misner DL (2011) Enhanced long-term depression and impaired reversal learning in phosphodiesterase 4B-knockout (PDE4B-/-) mice. Neuropharmacology 61:138-147.
- 248. Sacai H, Sasaki-Hamada S, Sugiyama A, Saitoh A, Mori K, Yamada M, Oka J (2014) The impairment in spatial learning and hippocampal LTD induced through the PKA pathway in juvenile-onset diabetes rats are rescued by modulating NMDA receptor function. Neurosci Res 81-82:55-63.
- 249. Sauvage M, Steckler T (2001) Detection of corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor 1 immunoreactivity in cholinergic, dopaminergic and noradrenergic neurons of the murine basal forebrain and brainstem nuclei--potential implication for arousal and attention. Neuroscience 104:643-652.
- 250. Sawaguchi T, Goldman-Rakic PS (1991) D1 dopamine receptors in prefrontal cortex: involvement in working memory. Science 251:947-950.
- 251. Schulkin J, Gold PW, McEwen BS (1998) Induction of corticotropin-releasing hormone gene expression by glucocorticoids: implication for understanding the states of fear and anxiety and allostatic load. Psychoneuroendocrinology 23:219-243.
- 252. Schutsky K, Ouyang M, Castelino CB, Zhang L, Thomas SA (2011a) Stress and glucocorticoids impair memory retrieval via beta2-adrenergic, Gi/o-coupled suppression of cAMP signaling. J Neurosci 31:14172-14181.
- 253. Schutsky K, Ouyang M, Castelino CB, Zhang L, Thomas SA (2011b) Stress and glucocorticoids impair memory retrieval via beta2-adrenergic, Gi/o-coupled suppression of cAMP signaling. J Neurosci 31:14172-14181.
- 254. Scullion GA, Hewitt KN, Pardon MC (2013) Corticotropin-releasing factor receptor 1 activation during exposure to novelty stress protects against Alzheimer's disease-like cognitive decline in AbetaPP/PS1 mice. J Alzheimers Dis 34:781-793.
- 255. Sebastian A, Jung P, Krause-Utz A, Lieb K, Schmahl C, Tuscher O (2014) Frontal dysfunctions of impulse control a systematic review in borderline personality disorder and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Front Hum Neurosci 8:698.
- 256. Shafiei N, Gray M, Viau V, Floresco SB (2012) Acute stress induces selective alterations in cost/benefit decision-making. Neuropsychopharmacology 37:2194-2209.
- 257. Sheng H, Sun T, Cong B, He P, Zhang Y, Yan J, Lu C, Ni X (2008) Corticotropin-releasing hormone stimulates SGK-1 kinase expression in cultured hippocampal neurons via CRH-R1. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 295:E938-E946.
- 258. Sheng H, Xu Y, Chen Y, Zhang Y, Ni X (2012) Corticotropin-releasing hormone stimulates mitotic kinesin-like protein 1 expression via a PLC/PKC-dependent signaling pathway in hippocampal neurons. Mol Cell Endocrinol 362:157-164.
- 259. Sink KS, Walker DL, Freeman SM, Flandreau EI, Ressler KJ, Davis M (2013) Effects of continuously enhanced corticotropin releasing factor expression within the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis on conditioned and unconditioned anxiety. Mol Psychiatry 18:308-319.

- Smith PL, Sewell DK, Lilburn SD (2014) From shunting inhibition to dynamic normalization: Attentional selection and decision-making in brief visual displays. Vision Res.
- 261. Smith R, Mesiano S, Chan EC, Brown S, Jaffe RB (1998) Corticotropin-releasing hormone directly and preferentially stimulates dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate secretion by human fetal adrenal cortical cells. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 83:2916-2920.
- 262. Smith SM, Vale WW (2006) The role of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in neuroendocrine responses to stress. Dialogues Clin Neurosci 8:383-395.
- 263. Snyder K, Wang WW, Han R, McFadden K, Valentino RJ (2012) Corticotropin-releasing factor in the norepinephrine nucleus, locus coeruleus, facilitates behavioral flexibility. Neuropsychopharmacology 37:520-530.
- 264. Solomon MB, Furay AR, Jones K, Packard AE, Packard BA, Wulsin AC, Herman JP (2012) Deletion of forebrain glucocorticoid receptors impairs neuroendocrine stress responses and induces depression-like behavior in males but not females. Neuroscience 203:135-143.
- 265. Sotnikov S, Wittmann A, Bunck M, Bauer S, Deussing J, Schmidt M, Touma C, Landgraf R, Czibere L (2014) Blunted HPA axis reactivity reveals glucocorticoid system dysbalance in a mouse model of high anxiety-related behavior. Psychoneuroendocrinology 48:41-51.
- 266. Spencer RC, Devilbiss DM, Berridge CW (2014) The Cognition-Enhancing Effects of Psychostimulants Involve Direct Action in the Prefrontal Cortex. Biol Psychiatry.
- 267. Steckler T, Holsboer F (1999) Corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor subtypes and emotion. Biol Psychiatry 46:1480-1508.
- 268. Stollery B, Christian L (2014) Glucose, relational memory, and the hippocampus. Psychopharmacology (Berl).
- 269. Sudhof TC, Rothman JE (2009) Membrane fusion: grappling with SNARE and SM proteins. Science 323:474-477.
- Swanson AM, Shapiro LP, Whyte AJ, Gourley SL (2013) Glucocorticoid receptor regulation of action selection and prefrontal cortical dendritic spines. Commun Integr Biol 6:e26068.
- 271. Takeda A, Suzuki M, Tamano H, Takada S, Ide K, Oku N (2012) Involvement of glucocorticoid-mediated Zn2+ signaling in attenuation of hippocampal CA1 LTP by acute stress. Neurochem Int 60:394-399.
- 272. Tanaka M, Shigihara Y, Funakura M, Kanai E, Watanabe Y (2012) Fatigue-associated alterations of cognitive function and electroencephalographic power densities. PLoS One 7:e34774.
- 273. Taylor JR, Birnbaum S, Ubriani R, Arnsten AF (1999) Activation of cAMP-dependent protein kinase A in prefrontal cortex impairs working memory performance. J Neurosci 19:RC23.

- 274. Taylor SS, Ilouz R, Zhang P, Kornev AP (2012) Assembly of allosteric macromolecular switches: lessons from PKA. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 13:646-658.
- 275. Taylor SS, Kim C, Vigil D, Haste NM, Yang J, Wu J, Anand GS (2005) Dynamics of signaling by PKA. Biochim Biophys Acta 1754:25-37.
- 276. Ter Horst JP, van der MM, Kentrop J, Arp M, van d, V, de Kloet ER, Oitzl MS (2014) Deletion of the forebrain mineralocorticoid receptor impairs social discrimination and decision-making in male, but not in female mice. Front Behav Neurosci 8:26.
- 277. Thai CA, Zhang Y, Howland JG (2013) Effects of acute restraint stress on set-shifting and reversal learning in male rats. Cogn Affect Behav Neurosci 13:164-173.
- 278. Thoeringer CK, Henes K, Eder M, Dahlhoff M, Wurst W, Holsboer F, Deussing JM, Moosmang S, Wotjak CT (2012) Consolidation of remote fear memories involves Corticotropin-Releasing Hormone (CRH) receptor type 1-mediated enhancement of AMPA receptor GluR1 signaling in the dentate gyrus. Neuropsychopharmacology 37:787-796.
- 279. Thomas GM, Huganir RL (2004) MAPK cascade signalling and synaptic plasticity. Nat Rev Neurosci 5:173-183.
- Timpl P, Spanagel R, Sillaber I, Kresse A, Reul JM, Stalla GK, Blanquet V, Steckler T, Holsboer F, Wurst W (1998) Impaired stress response and reduced anxiety in mice lacking a functional corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor 1. Nat Genet 19:162-166.
- 281. Traub B, Elepfandt A (1990) Sensory neglect in a frog: evidence for early evolution of attentional processes in vertebrates. Brain Res 530:105-107.
- 282. Tremblay S, Lepage JF, Latulipe-Loiselle A, Fregni F, Pascual-Leone A, Theoret H (2014) The Uncertain Outcome of Prefrontal tDCS. Brain Stimul 7:773-783.
- 283. Tsanov M, OMara SM (2014) Decoding signal processing in thalamo-hippocampal circuitry: implications for theories of memory and spatial processing. Brain Res.
- 284. Tse MT, Piantadosi PT, Floresco SB (2014) Prefrontal Cortical Gamma-Aminobutyric Acid Transmission and Cognitive Function: Drawing Links to Schizophrenia from Preclinical Research. Biol Psychiatry.
- 285. Tsutsui-Kimura I, Yoshida T, Ohmura Y, Izumi T, Yoshioka M (2014) Milnacipran Remediates Impulsive Deficits in Rats with Lesions of the Ventromedial Prefrontal Cortex. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol.
- 286. Uylings HB, Groenewegen HJ, Kolb B (2003) Do rats have a prefrontal cortex? Behav Brain Res 146:3-17.
- 287. Vadovicova K (2014) Affective and cognitive prefrontal cortex projections to the lateral habenula in humans. Front Hum Neurosci 8:819.
- Van Eden CG, Lamme VA, Uylings HB (1992) Heterotopic Cortical Afferents to the Medial Prefrontal Cortex in the Rat. A Combined Retrograde and Anterograde Tracer Study. Eur J Neurosci 4:77-97.

- 289. Van LQ, Isbell LA, Matsumoto J, Nguyen M, Hori E, Maior RS, Tomaz C, Tran AH, Ono T, Nishijo H (2013) Pulvinar neurons reveal neurobiological evidence of past selection for rapid detection of snakes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110:19000-19005.
- 290. Venero C, Borrell J (1999) Rapid glucocorticoid effects on excitatory amino acid levels in the hippocampus: a microdialysis study in freely moving rats. Eur J Neurosci 11:2465-2473.
- 291. Verschure PF, Pennartz CM, Pezzulo G (2014) The why, what, where, when and how of goal-directed choice: neuronal and computational principles. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 369.
- 292. Vertes RP (2002) Analysis of projections from the medial prefrontal cortex to the thalamus in the rat, with emphasis on nucleus reuniens. J Comp Neurol 442:163-187.
- 293. Vijayraghavan S, Wang M, Birnbaum SG, Williams GV, Arnsten AF (2007) Inverted-U dopamine D1 receptor actions on prefrontal neurons engaged in working memory. Nat Neurosci 10:376-384.
- 294. Vincent MY, Jacobson L (2014) Glucocorticoid receptor deletion from the dorsal raphe nucleus of mice reduces dysphoria-like behavior and impairs hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical axis feedback inhibition. Eur J Neurosci 39:1671-1681.
- 295. Vogt MA, Inta D, Luoni A, Elkin H, Pfeiffer N, Riva MA, Gass P (2014) Inducible forebrain-specific ablation of the transcription factor Creb during adulthood induces anxiety but no spatial/contextual learning deficits. Front Behav Neurosci 8:407.
- 296. Wagner KV, Hartmann J, Mangold K, Wang XD, Labermaier C, Liebl C, Wolf M, Gassen NC, Holsboer F, Rein T, Muller MB, Schmidt MV (2013) Homer1 mediates acute stressinduced cognitive deficits in the dorsal hippocampus. J Neurosci 33:3857-3864.
- 297. Wang A, Nie W, Li H, Hou Y, Yu Z, Fan Q, Sun R (2014) Epigenetic upregulation of corticotrophin-releasing hormone mediates postnatal maternal separation-induced memory deficiency. PLoS One 9:e94394.
- 298. Wang M, Ramos BP, Paspalas CD, Shu Y, Simen A, Duque A, Vijayraghavan S, Brennan A, Dudley A, Nou E, Mazer JA, McCormick DA, Arnsten AF (2007) Alpha2Aadrenoceptors strengthen working memory networks by inhibiting cAMP-HCN channel signaling in prefrontal cortex. Cell 129:397-410.
- 299. Wang XD, Chen Y, Wolf M, Wagner KV, Liebl C, Scharf SH, Harbich D, Mayer B, Wurst W, Holsboer F, Deussing JM, Baram TZ, Muller MB, Schmidt MV (2011) Forebrain CRHR1 deficiency attenuates chronic stress-induced cognitive deficits and dendritic remodeling. Neurobiol Dis 42:300-310.
- 300. Wang XD, Su YA, Wagner KV, Avrabos C, Scharf SH, Hartmann J, Wolf M, Liebl C, Kuhne C, Wurst W, Holsboer F, Eder M, Deussing JM, Muller MB, Schmidt MV (2013) Nectin-3 links CRHR1 signaling to stress-induced memory deficits and spine loss. Nat Neurosci 16:706-713.
- 301. Wasserman D, Wasserman J, Sokolowski M (2010) Genetics of HPA-axis, depression and suicidality. Eur Psychiatry 25:278-280.

- 302. Watts AG (2005) Glucocorticoid regulation of peptide genes in neuroendocrine CRH neurons: a complexity beyond negative feedback. Front Neuroendocrinol 26:109-130.
- 303. Watts AG, Sanchez-Watts G, Liu Y, Aguilera G (2011) The distribution of messenger RNAs encoding the three isoforms of the transducer of regulated cAMP responsive element binding protein activity in the rat forebrain. J Neuroendocrinol 23:754-766.
- 304. Weinberger DR, Aloia MS, Goldberg TE, Berman KF (1994) The frontal lobes and schizophrenia. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 6:419-427.
- 305. Wen L, Han F, Shi Y (2014) Changes in the Glucocorticoid Receptor and Ca/Calreticulin-Dependent Signalling Pathway in the Medial Prefrontal Cortex of Rats with Posttraumatic Stress Disorder. J Mol Neurosci.
- 306. Whishaw IQ, Karl JM (2014) The contribution of the reach and the grasp to shaping brain and behaviour. Can J Exp Psychol 68:223-235.
- 307. Whitehead G, Jo J, Hogg EL, Piers T, Kim DH, Seaton G, Seok H, Bru-Mercier G, Son GH, Regan P, Hildebrandt L, Waite E, Kim BC, Kerrigan TL, Kim K, Whitcomb DJ, Collingridge GL, Lightman SL, Cho K (2013) Acute stress causes rapid synaptic insertion of Ca2+ permeable AMPA receptors to facilitate long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. Brain 136:3753-3765.
- 308. Wikmark RG, Divac I, Weiss R (1973) Retention of spatial delayed alternation in rats with lesions in the frontal lobes. Implications for a comparative neuropsychology of the prefrontal system. Brain Behav Evol 8:329-339.
- 309. Wolff M, Alcaraz F, Marchand AR, Coutureau E (2014) Functional heterogeneity of the limbic thalamus: From hippocampal to cortical functions. Neurosci Biobehav Rev.
- 310. Xu Y, Pan J, Sun J, Ding L, Ruan L, Reed M, Yu X, Klabnik J, Lin D, Li J, Chen L, Zhang C, Zhang H, O'Donnell JM (2014) Inhibition of phosphodiesterase 2 reverses impaired cognition and neuronal remodeling caused by chronic stress. Neurobiol Aging.
- 311. Yabuki Y, Nakagawasai O, Moriguchi S, Shioda N, Onogi H, Tan-No K, Tadano T, Fukunaga K (2013) Decreased CaMKII and PKC activities in specific brain regions are associated with cognitive impairment in neonatal ventral hippocampus-lesioned rats. Neuroscience 234:103-115.
- 312. Yabuki Y, Ohizumi Y, Yokosuka A, Mimaki Y, Fukunaga K (2014a) Nobiletin treatment improves motor and cognitive deficits seen in MPTP-induced Parkinson model mice. Neuroscience 259:126-141.
- 313. Yabuki Y, Shioda N, Maeda T, Hiraide S, Togashi H, Fukunaga K (2014b) Aberrant CaMKII activity in the medial prefrontal cortex is associated with cognitive dysfunction in ADHD model rats. Brain Res 1557:90-100.
- Yang Y, Lei C, Feng H, Sui JF (2014) The neural circuitry and molecular mechanisms underlying delay and trace eyeblink conditioning in mice. Behav Brain Res 278C:307-314.

- 315. You X, Gao L, Liu J, Xu C, Liu C, Li Y, Hui N, Gu H, Ni X (2012) CRH activation of different signaling pathways results in differential calcium signaling in human pregnant myometrium before and during labor. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 97:E1851-E1861.
- 316. Yuen EY, Liu W, Karatsoreos IN, Ren Y, Feng J, McEwen BS, Yan Z (2011) Mechanisms for acute stress-induced enhancement of glutamatergic transmission and working memory. Mol Psychiatry 16:156-170.
- 317. Yuen EY, Yan Z (2009) Dopamine D4 receptors regulate AMPA receptor trafficking and glutamatergic transmission in GABAergic interneurons of prefrontal cortex. J Neurosci 29:550-562.
- 318. Zhao Y, Wang MY, Hao K, Chen XQ, Du JZ (2013) CRHR1 mediates p53 transcription induced by high altitude hypoxia through ERK 1/2 signaling in rat hepatic cells. Peptides 44:8-14.
- 319. Zohar I, Weinstock M (2011) Differential effect of prenatal stress on the expression of corticotrophin-releasing hormone and its receptors in the hypothalamus and amygdala in male and female rats. J Neuroendocrinol 23:320-328.
- 320. Zorrilla EP, Logrip ML, Koob GF (2014) Corticotropin releasing factor: a key role in the neurobiology of addiction. Front Neuroendocrinol 35:234-244.

## VIII. ABBREVIATIONS

AC	Anterior Cingulate		
ACSF	Artificial Cerebrospinal Fluid		
ACTH	Adenocorticotropic Hormone		
ADHD	Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder		
AKAP	A-Kinase Anchoring Proteins		
ATP	Adenosine Triphosphate		
AVP	Arginin Vasopressin		
BA	Broadman Area		
BLA	Basolateral Amygdala		
BNST	Bed Nucleus of the Stria Terminalis		
CaMKII	Ca+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II		
cAMP	cyclic Adenosine Monophosphate		
CeA	Central Nucleus of the Amygdala		
CoIP	Co-immunoprecipitation		
CORT	Corticosterone		
CREB	cAMP Response Element Binding Protein		
CRF	Corticotropin Releasing Factor		
CRH	Corticotropin Releasing Hormone		
CRHR1	Corticotropin Releasing Hormone Receptor 1		
CRHR2	Corticotropin Releasing Hormone Receptor 2		
DLPFC	Dorsolateral Preforntal Cortex		
ERK 1/2	Extracellular-signal Regulated Kinase 1/2		
GABA	gamma-Amino-Butyric Acid		
GC	Glucocorticoids		
GEF	Guanyl-nucleotide Exchange Factor		
GPCR	G-protein Coupled Receptors		
GR	Glucocorticoid Receptors		
HPA	Hypothalamus Pituitary Adrenal Axis		
IL	Infralimbic		
LC	Locus Coeruleus		
LTP	Long-Term Potentiation		

MAPK	Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase		
mPFC	medial Prefrontal Cortex		
MR	Mineralcorticoid Receptors		
OCD	Obsessive Compulsive Disorder		
PFC	Prefrontal Cortex		
РКА	Protein Kinase A		
РКА-С	Protein Kinase A Catalytic subunit		
PKA-R	Protein Kinase A Regulatory subunit		
РКВ	Protein Kinase B		
РКС	Protein Kinase C		
PL	Prelimbic		
POMC	Proopiomelanocortin		
PVN	Paraventricular Nucleus		
REM	Rapid-Eye Movement		
rIPFC	Right Inferior Prefrontal Cortex		
SAM	Sympathetic Adrenal Medullary Axis		
UCN	Urocortins		
VMPFC	Ventromedial Prefrontal Cortex		

### **IX. TABLE OF FIGURES**

Figure	1. PFC anatomy.	6
Figure	2. PFC Connectivity	7
Figure	3 PFC function.	9
Figure	4. PKA signaling pathway	29
Figure	5 Temporal Order Memory Test	40
Figure	6 Schematic diagram of the experimental design of the reversal learning test.	42
Figure	7 Effects of acute social defeat stress in temporal order memory.	49
Figure	8 Effects of acute social defeat stress on reversal learning.	50
Figure	9 Visualization of the CRH- and CRHR1-containing neural circuits within the PF	С
	networks.	52
Figure	10 Effects of acute social defeat stress on CRHR1 mRNA expression in the PFC.	53
Figure	11 Effects of intra-PFC CRHR1 deletion on the impact of acute stress in tempora	l
	order memory.	55
Figure	12 Effects of intra-PFC CRHR1 deletion on the impact of acute stress in reversal	
	learning.	57
Figure	13: Effects of intra-PFC CRH microinjections in temporal order memory.	58
Figure	14: Effects of intra-PFC CRH microinjections on reversal learning.	59
Figure	15: Effects of CRHR1 blockade on the intra-PFC CRH-induced deficits in tempo	ral
	order memory.	61
Figure	16: Effects of CRHR1 blockade on the intra-PFC CRH-induced deficits in reversa	al
	learning.	62
Figure	17: Effects of acute stress in the activity of protein kinase A.	64
Figure	18: Effects of intra-PFC CRH microinjections in the activity of protein kinase A.	65
Figure	19: Effects of PKA blockade on the intra-PFC CRH-induced deficits in temporal	
	order memory.	67

Figure 20: Effects of PKA blockade on the intra-PFC CRH-induced deficits in reversal

learning.

68

### X. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Not a single goal in life meets success without the support, energy and encouragement that comes from our close ones, those who share our every joy and also uphold every setback. Therefore, I would like to express my biggest gratitude to my wife, Maria Angelica, for providing the necessary love and understanding to go through every challenge, for bringing light into the dark moments and supporting every step taken along the path. Thanks for your patience, for always listening, for your amazing generosity and your willingness to help me whenever I needed to. To Sebastian, for adding the greatest value to this journey, for making it really worthy and giving me the highest satisfaction: Thanks for making me a father. To my family, for reinforcing and promoting every decision that led me to develop my PhD. For being an incredible source of motivation and optimism that boosted me through every hardship: This achievement is also yours.

The present doctoral thesis constitutes the product of years of intense experimental work combined with long hours of passionate discussions, which gave rise to its final shape and dynamically contributed to its success. Therefore, the actual value of the current findings can only be recognized through the proper acknowledgment of all those who through their valuable guidance, insightful ideas, strong support and precious collaboration helped me to led the research project to a successful end.

Accordingly, the attainment of scientific accomplishment is only possible when good ideas meet a proper and nurturing environment. In this regard, I would like to thank my supervisor PD Dr. Mathias Schmidt, who through his thoughtful and wise direction allowed the project to evolve and develop towards achievement. Thanks as well for encouraging me to propose and follow new ideas, always listening and building the necessary skills to progress properly along my scientific career. I really appreciate your enthusiasm and optimism, without which it would not have been easy to move forward upon uncertain situations. Finally, besides the academic contributions, I would like to thank you for allowing me the opportunity of living abroad and having a life-changing experience in Germany, at the Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry, which has certainly made a strong impact in me.

In addition, I want to thank Prof. Dr. Hans Straka, Prof. Dr. Jochen Heinrichs and Prof. Dr. Niels Dingemanse for their willingness to participate in my thesis committee and thus strongly contribute to the success of the current thesis. Furthermore, no work can be performed properly without having the corresponding personal and professional support that can only come from insightful, encouraging and reliable colleagues. For this reason, I would like to thank all of them in no particular order. I wonder what would have been of those long working days without having a supporting, relaxing and extremely friendly environment in the office, in which one could just sit and forget for a while about work to share a bit about life. Georgia, thanks for being there and bringing always so much of your joy to the office. It was great to have a first-hand experience of all the warmth from Canada. I will not forget our long conversations. Thanks also for the great moments abroad and for being such a great travel partner. Carine, thank you so much for bringing all the sweetness from France and for giving always a nice touch to the office by just being there. I can't tell you how much I appreciated your open attitude and your honesty, which allowed me to share both personal and professional experiences under the best and most relaxed atmosphere.

Sara, I really enjoyed all that Italian freshness and good energy that you continuously brought to our working environment. They were most needed and really made a great addition to my everyday activities! Lunches were always the perfect excuse to change scenery and get in touch with such great atmosphere. And what would have been of Milano without your 3 am pasta aglio e olio? Thanks as well for the great moments abroad!! Jakob, thanks for your relaxed and jolly attitude which brought a sense of comfort to the group. Thank you for being always available with the best of attitudes to solve any kind of question or request and for your great willingness to help with any emerging problem or doubt.

Science is by definition complex and thus requires multiple efforts and contributions in order to succeed. Therefore, I would also like to express my gratitude to Nils Gassen, for his genuine interest in science and his pure motivation towards research, which allowed us to engage in stimulating conversations and discussions that eventually gave rise to highly relevant ideas, which significantly improved the quality of the present thesis. In the same manner, I would like to thank Jan Deussing, Carsten Wotjak and Chadi Touma for their valuable inputs and important contributions to the current research project.

As well, I want to extend my appreciation to Bianca Schmid for her expertise and great disposition to assist and help with all sort of technical aspects, particularly referring to immunohistochemistry and confocal imaging. Thanks also for bringing that enthusiasm and great charisma, which made troubleshooting really easygoing! Thanks to Daniela Harbich for all her technical assistance and expertise, which always made a substantial contribution to the success of the different experimental procedures.

Moreover, I want to thank former members of the group who also added a great value to my activities. Merce, it was great having you around and being able to rely on you both personally and professionally. Thanks a lot for all your advice and support and of course for allowing me to feel a bit closer to home by bringing our beloved Spanish to the office!! Xiao-Dong Wang, for being always the key expert and reliable source, having the right answer to a broad set of topics, ranging from technical issues to theoretical questions, even long after you left the lab! Thanks also to Christiana, Chrissi, Klaus, and Sebastian for the support!

And last but not least, I would like to thank the DAAD for the financial support to fulfill this research project and for allowing me the great opportunity of coming to Germany to perform my PhD.

### XI. CURRICULUM VITAE

#### **Personal Information**

Name:	Andrés Uribe Marino				
Date of Birth:	October 17 <sup>th</sup> , 1980				
Place of Birth:	Bogotá, Colombia				
Nationality:	Colombian				
Education					
Since 01/2012 – 02/2015	Ph.D. in Biological Sciences Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry, Department of Stress Neurobiology and Neurogenetics, Munich, Germany.				
01/2009 – 10/2010	M.Sc. in Biological Sciences University of São Paulo, Faculty of Medicine of Ribeirão Preto, Department of Pharmacology, Brazil				
01/2000 - 06/2005	B.Sc. in Psychology Pontificia Universidad Javeriana, Faculty of Psychology, Bogotá, Colombia				
Fellowships, awards and he	onours				
2014	Poster Travel Award of the European College of Neuropsychopharmacology (ECNP) to attend the 27 <sup>th</sup> ECNP Congress in Berlin				
2014	Travel Award to attend the ECNP Workshop in Neuropsychopharmacology for Junior Scientists in Europe				
2011	German Academic Exchange Service (DAAD) PhD Fellowship Award				

2009	Coordination for the Improvement of Higher Education (CAPES) Fellowship				
2009	Foundation for Research Support of São Paulo (FAPESE Fellowship				
2007	Honorable Mention for Best Research Presented at the International Mind and Brain Congress. Latinoamerican Association for Neuropsychology				
2006	Order of Academic Merit Award for outstanding academic achievement. Pontificia Universidad javeriana				
2003	National Award in Basic Medical Sciences. Colombian Association for Biological Sciences				

#### Publications

Masana M., Schmitt U., Radyushkin K., Uribe-Mariño A., Müller M.B. (2015) Virusinduced gene knockdown in the CA3 and subsequent spatial relocation test to assess CA3dependent cognitive function. *Journal of Visual Experiments*. Manuscript in Press

Yang XD, Liao XM, **Uribe-Mariño A**, Liu R., Xie XM, Jia J, Su YA, Li JT, Schmidt MV, Wang XD, and Si TM (2014) Stress during a Critical Postnatal Period Induces Region-Specific Structural Abnormalities and Dysfunction of the Prefrontal Cortex via CRF1. *Neuropsychopharmacology*.

Balsevich G, **Uribe A**, Wagner KV, Hartmann J, Santarelli S, Labermaier C, Schmidt MV (2014) The interplay between diet-induced obesity and chronic stress in mice: potential role of FKBP51. *Journal of Endocrinology*, 222 (1) 15-26.

Twardowschy A., Castiblanco-Urbina M. A., **Uribe-Mariño A.**, Francisco A., Salgado-Rohner C. J., Crippa J. A. S., Coimbra N. C. (2013) The role of 5-HT1A receptors in the anti-aversive effects of cannabidiol on panic attack-like behaviors evoked in the presence of the wild snake Epicrates cenchria crassus (Reptilia, Boidae). *Journal of Psychopharmacology*. **Uribe-Mariño A.**, Francisco A., Castiblanco-Urbina M. A., Twardowschy A., Salgado-Rohner C. J., Crippa J. A. S., Hallak J. E. C., Coimbra N. C. (2011) Antiaversive Effects of Cannabidiol on Innate Fear-Induced Behaviors Evoked by an Ethological Model of Panic Attacks Based on a Prey Versus the Wild Snake Epicrates Cenchria Crassus Confrontation Paradigm. *Neuropsychopharmacology;* 1-10.

Freitas R.L., **Uribe A.**, Castiblanco-Urbina M. A., Elias-Filho D.H., Coimbra N. C. (2009) GABAA receptor blockade in dorsomedial and ventromeidal nuclei of the hypothalamus evokes panic-like elaborated defensive behavior followed by innate fear-induced antinociception. *Brain Research* 

Freitas R.L., Ferreira C.M.R., Castiblanco-Urbina M. A., **Uribe A.**, Carvalho A.D., Butera G., de Olivieira A.M., Coimbra N.C. (2009) 5-HT1A/1B, 5-HT6, and 5-HT7 serotonergic receptors recruitment in tonic-clonic seizure-induced antinociception: Role of dorsal raphe nucleus. *Experimantal Neurology* 

Castiblanco-Urbina M. A., **Uribe A.**, Mejia D.C., Mora A. Elaboración sistemática del protocolo especializado de rehabilitación e intervención ESLABON. (2007) *Revista Latinoamericana de Neuropsicologia* 

Lareo L., Oyuela R., Munoz L., Morales L., Echeverry S., **Uribe A.**, Santos O., Acuna A. Diseño y Evaluación de un péptido para incrementar el aprendizaje y la memoria en ratas. (2004) *Revista de la Asociación Colombiana de Ciencias Biológicas* 

Oyuela R., Lareo L., Munoz L., Echeverry S., **Uribe A.**, Santos O., Acuna A. Efecto en el aprendizaje y la memoria espacial de un péptido sintético en ratas: Estudio preliminar. (2004) *Psicologia desde el caribe* 

## Eidesstattliche Erklärung

Ich versichere hiermit an Eides statt, dass die vorgelegte Dissertation von mir selbständig und ohne unerlaubte Hilfe angefertigt ist.

Andrés Uribe Mariño München, den .....

(Unterschrift)

# Erklärung

Hiermit erkläre ich, \*

dass die Dissertation nicht ganz oder in wesentlichen Teilen einer anderen
Prüfungskommission vorgelegt worden ist.

dass ich mich anderweitig einer Doktorprüfung ohne Erfolg **nicht** unterzogen habe.

		dass ich mich n	nit Erfolg der	Doktorprüfung i	m Hauptfa <mark>c</mark> h	
--	--	-----------------	----------------	-----------------	----------------------------	--

und in den Nebenfächern .....

bei der Fakultät für ..... der .....

(Hochschule/Universität)

unterzogen habe.

dass ich ohne Erfolg versucht habe, eine Dissertation einzureichen oder mich der Doktorprüfung zu unterziehen.